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Medical Supply Chain, Inc. 

 
v. 

US Bancorp, NA;US Bank; Private Client Group, Corporate Trust, 
Institutional Trust And Custody, And Mutual Fund Services, LLC.;  

US Bancorp Piper Jaffray; Jerry A. Grundhofer; 
Andrew Cesere; Susan Paine; Lars Anderson; Brian Kabbes;  

and Unknown Healthcare Supplier 
 
 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the District of Kansas 

Hon. Judge Carlos Murguia 

MOTION FOR EN BANC REHEARING OF 
PANEL SUA SPONTE SANCTIONS* 

 
Law Offices of Bret D. Landrith, Esq.   Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
Apt. # G33,         on the brief 
2961 SW Central Park,  
Topeka, KS  66611 
1-785-267-4084 
1-785-876-2233 
landrithlaw@cox.net 
Attorney for Medical Supply Chain, Inc. 
 
APPELLANT 
* Jurisdictional authority for en banc review of hearing panel’s sanctions on pg.s 1-2. 
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MOTION FOR EN BANC REHEARING OF SANCTION ORDER 
 

The appellant makes this request for en banc rehearing of the appellate 

panel’s sua sponte order of double attorney’s fees (Pg. 17)  against appellant’s 

counsel for abuse of discretion. The appellate panel’s sanction order “relying on a 

materially incorrect view of the relevant law” is contrary to the standard in Cooter 

Gell v. Hartmarx Corporation, 496 U.S. 384 at 402, 110 S.Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d 

359 (1990) and therefore an abuse of discretion.  

The hearing panel made material errors in relevant antitrust law and 

conceded that it erroneously upheld the trial court’s ruling that there is no private 

right of action under USA PATRIOT Act Pub. L. No. 107-56, 115 Stat. 272 

(2001). The decision also contradicts controlling case law of this circuit regarding 

the prohibition of dismissal when there is a discoverable unknown defendant 

(Krueger v. Doe, 162 F.3d 1173 (C.A.10 (Okla.), 1993) and plurality of actors 

through expressly identified but unnamed coconspirators (Olsen v. Progressive 

Music Supply, Inc., 703 F.2d 432 at pg. 435 (C.A.10 (Utah), 1983) as described 

infra. The en banc “appellate court would be justified in concluding that, in 

making such errors, the district court [here, the hearing panel] abused its 

discretion.” Cooter Gell v. Hartmarx Corporation, 496 U.S. 384 at 402. “If the 

appeal is not frivolous under this standard, Rule 38 does not require the appellee to 

pay the appellant's attorney's fees.” I.d at 407. 

The Tenth Circuit’s local rules do not exclude the award of sanctions from 

en banc rehearing under Rule 35.7. The appellant unfortunately is prohibited from 
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seeking a denial of an earlier en banc petition (Pg. 26) for being late (even though 

it was filed within 14 days of receiving the panel judgment) under local rule 35.1 

(C). However the panel’s order of sanctions impacts the appellant counsel’s liberty 

interests in representing clients and in protected speech on the violation of antitrust 

statutes and on his client’s right to redress and therefore necessitates review. As a 

sua sponte order by an appellate hearing panel, the only opportunity for the 

appellant to appeal the basis for the sanction determination is through an en banc 

rehearing. The US Supreme Court in Rule 10 states certiorari will rarely be given 

for  “…the misapplication of a properly stated rule of law.” Conversely, the trial 

court charged with determining the considerable amount of attorney’s fees to be 

levied against Medical Supply’s counsel would not have the authority to reverse 

the superior appellate panel. Medical Supply’s appeal was neither destined for an 

obvious result in law nor wholly without merit. "An appeal is frivolous when the 

result is obvious, or the appellant's arguments of error are wholly without merit.’ 

Braley v. Campbell, 832 F.2d 1504, 1510 (10th Cir. 1987).” The en banc panel is 

the reviewing court necessitated by Braley: “Following Braley to impose 

sanctions, a court must make specific findings sufficient to…(3) identify for the 

reviewing court the reason for the sanction.” Sally Beauty Company, Inc. v. 

Beautyco, Inc., No. 03-6055 (Fed. 10th Cir. 6/21/2004) (Fed. 10th Cir., 2004). 

[emphasis added] 

Medical Supply’s counsel is being harshly sanctioned for appealing denial 

of relief based on a complaint for an urgent Temporary Restraining Order filed 
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10/22/02 and amended 11/02/02 because the defendants were repudiating a 

contract (misusing the USA PATRIOT Act shown to be a false pretext) on 

10/15/02 to provide escrow accounts required for the deposit of $350,000.00 

raised from manufacturer rep candidates by Medical Supply. The denial of the 

TRO caused all funds to be lost on 12/1/02, including the company’s last resources 

used to recruit the candidates and all funds invested in preparation of training. No 

funds have ever been available for legal representation. 

Medical Supply’s cause is controversial because it’s an action is to seek an 

injunction against breaking a contract to provide escrow accounts in furtherance of 

a boycott of US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray’s coconspirator identified in the 

complaint as Novation, a healthcare Group Purchasing Organization (“GPO”) 

competitor of Medical Supply’s in the hospital supply market identified in the 

complaint with its captive e-commerce marketplace Neoforma, Inc. competing 

with Medical Supply on the web. Pg.s 44-56  The Clerk of the Court, Patrick 

Fisher shared with counsel this court’s nonpleading based misinformation and 

resulting prejudice against Medical Supply’s cause in a July 1, 2004 conversation. 

Pg. 56 

The appellant panel is unaware that these defendants can be found to 

monopolize a market they do not directly compete in and therefore conclusorily 

rejected the appellant’s Sherman 1 and 2 claims in ¶¶6,7,8 of the sanction order in 

clear error (Pg. 23), despite this well established point of antitrust law: 
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“However, in Aquatherm the plaintiffs did not name (or even identify) the 
alleged co-conspirators who participated in the relevant market. In this 
case, SBS alleges a conspiracy between HBC, a clear market participant, 
and CC. Nothing in our case law suggests that a conspiracy must be 
limited solely to market participants so long as the conspiracy also 
involves a market participant and the non-participant has an incentive 
to join the conspiracy. Cf. Spectators' Communication Network, Inc. v. 
Colonial Country Club, 253 F.3d 215, 222 (5th Cir. 2001) ("[W]e conclude 
that there can be sufficient evidence of a combination or conspiracy 
when one conspirator lacks a direct interest in precluding competition, 
but is enticed or coerced into knowingly curtailing competition by 
another conspirator who has an anticompetitive motive."). In its brief, 
CC correctly points out that Spectators involved a group boycott with 
multiple conspirators, thereby giving the non-participant defendant the 
power to injure the plaintiff.” [emphasis added] 

 
 Spanish Broadcasting System of Florida, Inc. v. Clear Channel 

Communications, Inc., No. 03-14588 (Fed. 11th Cir. 6/30/2004) (Fed. 11th Cir., 

2004) . The amended complaint (Pg. 47) at ¶82 averred the US Bancorp Piper 

Jaffray defendants’ control over the day to day operations of companies in 

Medical Supply’s market, even to the point of placing corporate officers on the 

GPO board of directors. 

 The hospital supply market is recognized to be anticompetitive See The 

Exclusion of Competition For Hospital Sales Through Group Purchasing 

Organizations June 25, 2002 by Harvard Law Professor Einer Elhauge and The 

US General Accounting Office report Pilot Study Suggests Large Buying Groups 

Do Not  Always Offer Hospitals  Lower Prices April 30, 2002 cited in the 

Amended Complaint. 

 On 4/30/02 Elizabeth A. Weatherman, Managing Director Warburg 

Pincus, LLC and Vice Chair of the Medical Group of the National Venture Capital 
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Association testified before the Senate that “…companies subject to, or 

potentially subject to, anti-competitive practices by GPOs will not be funded 

by venture capital. As a result, many of these companies and their innovations 

will die, even if they offer a dramatic improvement over an existing solution.” 

[emphasis added] She was called back on 7/17/03 because of the Judiciary’s 

Antitrust Subcommittee concerns that GPO monopoly power and unethical 

conduct is still starving their healthcare technology competitors of capitalization.  

The complaint pleads the fact that US Bancorp Piper Jaffray was fined for 

acts of extortion against a healthcare technology company attempting to capitalize 

itself with another investment bank (¶80, Amd. Cmplt. pg. 34 (Pg. 47)) in the 

upstream relevant market of healthcare capitalization The article cited why the 

National Association of Securities Dealers fined Piper Jaffray but the conduct is 

also a Sherman 2 monopolization violation: 

“The NASD investigation found a Piper managing director, Scott 
Beardsley, threatened to discontinue coverage of Antigenics Inc., a biotech 
firm, if it did not select Piper as a lead underwriter for a planned secondary 
stock offering.As part of a settlement with the NASD, Piper was censured 
and fined $250,000 and Beardsley was censured and fined $50,000.” 

 
Both Medical Supply appeals were described to the third Senate Judiciary 

hearing on the GPO problem because of the important public policy being 

defeated by antitrust violations against e-commerce suppliers:  

“[A] bank tied to an investment house that has seventy percent of its  
holdings in health care suppliers refused to provide the company with 
simple  escrow services through a blatant misapplication of the USA Patriot 
Act. Most recently an international conglomerate that is a founder of GHX 
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was willing to take a $15 million dollar loss on a real estate deal just to 
keep this company out of the market.”  

 
Testimony of Lynn James Everard, Hospital Group Purchasing: Has the  

Market Become More Open to Competition?, United States Senate Committee on  

the Judiciary Subcommittee on Antitrust, Competition and Business and  

Consumer Rights July 16, 2003. The committee’s counsel made the 

recommendation that Medical Supply seek the en banc rehearing denied by the 

panel.  

On 7/15/02 The NY Times reported the investigation of antitrust conduct of 

US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray’s coconspirator Novation: 

“Premier and Novation are also being investigated by the Federal 
Trade Commission and the General Accounting Office, the investigative 
arm of Congress. The F.T.C. wants to know if the groups, which last year 
negotiated contracts worth more than $30 billion, are wielding too much 
control in the market for hospital supplies.The G.A.O. has already issued a 
preliminary report that questions whether the groups actually save hospitals 
money.” 

By 8/21/04 The NY Times reported that the Justice Department had opened 

a broad criminal investigation of the medical-supply industry revealing that 

Novation is being subjected to a criminal inquiry:  

“Novation's primary business is to pool the purchasing volume of about 
2,200 hospitals, as well as thousands of nursing homes, clinics and 
physicians' practices, and to use their collective power to negotiate 
contracts with suppliers at a discount.  In many cases, the contracts offer 
special rebates to hospitals that meet certain purchasing targets. Although 
Novation is not  well known outside the industry, it wields formidable 
power because it can open, or impede, access to a vast institutional  
market for health products.”   [emphasis added] 
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The Counsel for Medical Supply responded to the panel’s show cause order 

for sanctions with an answer incorporating by reference the case record and stating 

a complete defense: that the Sherman 1 and 2 claims along with the assertion a 

private right of action exists under the USA PATRIOT Act were erroneously 

rejected by the trial court and the appellate panel. The panel’s memorandum and 

order exhibited unfamiliarity with the appellant’s brief and the record on appeal, 

(Medical Supply’s brief and pleadings were there to inform the court, see Pg.s 59, 

64-70 explaining Sherman 2 aspect of USA PATIOT Act and contradicting the 

trial court’s admonishment). Medical Supply’s counsel formulated a response to 

the panel that would decisively show Medical Supply had correctly stated a 

Sherman 1 claim, answering the single element Judge Murgia had faulted. The 

answer showed how the breach of a contract to provide escrow accounts as a result 

of an anticompetitive agreement with a market competitor stated on its own a 

Sherman 1 and 2 claim and finally listing two of the many, many express private 

rights of action in the USA PATRIOT Act. All in a deliberative attempt to adapt to 

the limited attention span a busy hearing panel could devote to a cause it had 

dismissed as entirely frivolous.  The appeal brief gave these same arguments in 

great depth. 

The panel is mistaken at ¶3 of its order (Pg. 2)  about Judge Murgia’s 

memorandum dismissing Medical Supply’s Sherman 1 claims. Of the three 

elements, the trial court found only the absence of plurality of actors or agreement, 

the first element: “the court finds plaintiff has failed to allege a contract, 
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combination, or conspiracy among two or more independent actors, and thus has 

not stated a claim under § 1.” The court in the same paragraph quotes the amended 

complaint in one passage that surprisingly stands alone as a complete Sherman1 

Group Boycott synonymous with Concerted Refusal to Deal claim sufficiently 

pled under FRCP 8(a): 

“…that defendants [ the named defendants] use “anticompetitive sole 
source contracts [ the agreements to restrain trade] between their client 
health care suppliers and health care GPOs [sic] [ the independent co-
conspirators identified in other paragraphs as Neoforma and Novation 
and the group purchasing organizations Premier and Novation] the 
defendants have developed” in order to inflate the value of equity shares [ 
to raise prices of capitalization instruments] that defendants market; that 
defendants “operate a conspiracy among their subsidiaries and parent 
companies” for the purpose of restraining commerce; that defendants 
rejected plaintiff’s application for escrow accounts in order to prevent 
plaintiff’s entry into the market; and that defendants have acted in 
furtherance of the conspiracy through a refusal to deal, denial of services, 
and boycotting or withholding of critical facilities in order to exclude 
plaintiff from the market.” [emphasis added] 

 
Trial court memorandum and order (Pg.s 74-5). This same quote states 

Sherman 2 claims for Monopoly, Concerted Refusal to Deal, Single Firm Refusal 

to Deal and even the heightened standard for Sherman 2 Attempted 

Monopolization less the two relevant markets pled in the amended complaint at 

and the geographic nature of the market ¶36 (nationwide market), ¶ 43 “This plan 

would put representatives in the field nationwide …[to] assist in the adoption of 

MSCI’s supply chain empowerment  program.”[emphasis added]. Medical 

Supply’s Amended Complaint pled agreements to raise prices in the relevant 

market of healthcare capitalization. See Amd. Cmplt. ¶81, Amd. Cmplt. pg. 34-5, 
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(Exb. 3)Amd. Cmplt. pg. 10-12, However, Judge Murgia stated “plaintiff has not 

pled the existence of a pricing agreement, or agreement of any kind, among the 

defendants in restraint of trade.” [emphasis added] 

Both courts ignored the GPO’s including Premier and Novation both of 

which are distributors of hospital supplies and competitors of Medical Supply, 

described as coconspirators in the combine ( Amd Cmplt pg. 26,28,29,33) and 

Pg.s 44-56 . Also ignored are the direct competitors of Medical Supply as a 

hospital supply electronic market place Commerce One and Medibuy averred to 

be in agreement to increase healthcare capitalization prices (shares) with the 

named defendants and exclusive dealing agreements with the GPOs. Id. The panel 

is in error sanctioning Medical Supply’s counsel because these coconspirators are 

not named as defendants yet, before any discovery that would  identify which is 

the unknown healthcare provider: 

The fact that Beacon pursues only one of the contracting parties does 
not limit its ability to obtain relief. Accordingly, I conclude that claims 1-
4, 7, 8-11, and 14 should not be dismissed for failure to allege a conspiracy 
to restrain trade or commerce between two or more actors.” [emphasis 
added] 
 

Beal Corp. Liquidating Trust v. Valleylab, Inc., 927 F.Supp. 1350 at 1363 

(Colo., 1996). The trial court and the hearing panel are mistaken about a lack of 

reasonableness in counsel’s brief argument that US Bancorp NA can be liable 

under Sherman 1 and 2 for a conspiracy including its subsidiaries and an 

independent defendant or unnamed but identified coconspirators: 
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 “…[P]arent corporations can be held directly liable for independently 
participating in the antitrust violations of their subsidiaries. Reading 
Int'l, Inc. v. Oaktree Capital Mgmt., LLC, 2003 WL 22928728 (S.D.N.Y. 
Dec. 10, 2003) (slip copy); Carl Hizel & Sons, Inc. v. Browning-Ferris 
Indus., Inc., 590 F.Supp. 1201, 1202 (D.Colo.1984).” [emphasis added] 

 
Nobody in Part. Presents v. Clear Channel Communs., 311 F.Supp.2d 1048 

at 1069-70 (D. Colo., 2004). See also Geneva Pharmaceuticals Technology Corp. 

v. Barr Laboratories Inc., No. 02-9222 (Fed. 2nd Cir. 10/18/2004) (Fed. 2nd Cir., 

2004) upholding “there was no "unity of purpose or a common design" between 

ACIC/Brantford and Barr. Copperweld, 467 U.S. at 771, 104 S.Ct. 2731” Geneva 

Pharmaceuticals Tech. v. Barr Laboratories, 201 F.Supp.2d 236 at 275 (S.D.N.Y., 

2002) and the Second Circuit reinstated the Sherman 1 and 2 claims. 

The trial court and the hearing panel are mistaken about the significance of 

US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray in concert with a hospital supplier collaboratively 

refusing to deal or in other words conducting a group boycott against Medical 

Supply’s use of escrow accounts to accept capitalization from its representative 

candidates. 

“To establish that a group boycott is per se illegal in this Circuit, "there 
must be an agreement among conspirators whose market positions are 
horizontal to each other." Westman Com'n Co. v. Hobart Intern., Inc., 796 
F.2d 1216, 1224 n. 1 (10th Cir.1986). "While the competitors need not be 
at the same market level as the plaintiff, there must be concerted 
activity between two or more competitors at same market level." Key 
Financial, 828 F.2d at 641.” [emphasis added] 

 
Beal Corp. Liquidating Trust v. Valleylab, Inc., 927 F.Supp. 1350 at 1363 

(Colo., 1996). The amended complaint pleads concerted refusal to deal or group 
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boycott between actors horizontal to each other in both relevant markets, 

healthcare company capitalization and hospital supplies. 

The panel abuses its discretion in attacking Medical Supply’s counsel with 

the most severe sanctions for reasoning that Judge Murgia has employed a 

heightened standard of pleading in dismissing Sherman Act claims. Judge Murgia 

did not grant any reasonable inference or view the amended complaint’s factual 

allegations "in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Sutton v. Utah 

State Sch. for the Deaf & Blind, 173 F.3d 1226, 1236 (10th Cir. 1999). Medical 

Supply’s brief reflected a very reasonable interpretation that the trial judge 

believed these simply stated elements were insufficient. In fact, Judge Murgia 

stated that Medical Supply’s Sherman 2 claims needed to be dismissed because 

particular words were not used: 

“Plaintiff has not stated that defendants’ alleged market power stems from 
defendants’ willful acquisition or maintenance of that power rather than 
from defendants’ development “of a superior product, business acumen, or 
historic accident.”  

 
Trial order at Pg.s 78-9, indicating a mistaken belief that formalistic 

pleading still applied to antitrust. It is beyond refute that the trial court denied 

preliminary injunctive relief twice and based its dismissal in part upon this court’s 

denial of pre hearing relief in #02-3443 all on an incorrect heightened pleading 

standard for a violation of statute, mistakenly requiring a showing of irreparable 

harm to obtain the statute’s expressly provided injunctive relief. A decision the 

plaintiff’s memorandums of 6/26/03 and 7/10/03 showed contradicted controlling 
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authority. Subsequent Tenth Circuit decisions adopted the rule observed by 

Medical Supply that a showing irreparable harm is not required for a statute 

violation. See O Centro Espirita Beneficiente Uniao Do Vegetal v. Ashcroft (10th 

Cir., 2003) and en banc rehearing. 

Leatherman v. Tarrant County, 507 U.S. 163 (1993), bars the district court 

from applying a heightened pleading standard in antitrust cases. MCM Partners v. 

Andrews-Bartlett & Assocs., 62 F.3d 967, 976 (7th Cir. 1995) see also Apani 

Southwest, Inc. v. Coca-Cola Enterprises, Inc., 2002 C05 351 (USCA5, 2002): 

“judicial attempts to apply a heightened pleading standard in antitrust cases had 

been "scotched" by the Supreme Court's decision…[ in Leatherman]…and that 

after Leatherman, an antitrust plaintiff need not include "the particulars of his 

claim" to survive a motion to dismiss. 33 F.3d at 782.” 

The hearing panel committed plain error in determining the plaintiff should 

be sanctioned for asserting an unknown healthcare supplier defendant was one 

way the complaint established a plurality of co-conspirators. Plain error is 

"obvious" or "clear under current law." United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734 

(1993). The Tenth Circuit recognizes complaints against unknown defendants, i.e. 

Gaylor v. Does, 105 F.3d 572 (C.A.10 (Colo.), 1997). “Dismissal against 

unknown defendants is proper "only when it appears that the true identity of the 

defendant cannot be learned through discovery or the court's intervention."  Munz 

v. Parr, 758 F.2d 1254, 1257 (8th Cir.1985).” Krueger v. Doe, 162 F.3d 1173 

(C.A.10 (Okla.), 1993).  
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In Olsen v. Progressive Music Supply, Inc., 703 F.2d 432, per se Sherman 1 

liability was held for concerted refusal to deal or group boycott charges against 

Progressive and unnamed defendants, just as Medical Supply claimed against the 

US Bancorp defendants, Unknown Healthcare Supplier and other companies 

identified but not named as defendants:  

 “A further complaint on behalf of Olsen was that Progressive conspired 
with certain unnamed co-conspirators, for example, George Best, CBS 
Musical Instruments (CBS) and Bobbie Herger (owner and operator of 
Herger's Music Store in Provo, Utah), in violation of Section 1 of the 
Act. Olsen asserts that Progressive conspired with Best to cause Olsen to 
lose franchises, to destroy his credit and business reputation, to take over 
his business location and terminate his corporate charter, to fix prices, and 
to cause manufacturers to boycott his business.” 

 
Olsen v. Progressive Music Supply, Inc., 703 F.2d 432 at pg. 435 (C.A.10 

(Utah), 1983).  

The U.S. Bancorp defendants were in contract with Medical Supply to 

provide escrow accounts for a $6000.00 fee. U.S. Bank broke the contract, 

Medical Supply Chain, Inc.’s complaint (written shortly after to obtain emergency 

injunctive relief and avoid the resulting irreparable harm ) alleged the breaking of 

the contract was a result of exclusive dealing agreements between the defendants 

which included Unknown Healthcare Supplier and the unnamed but identified 

coconspirators. See Amd. Cmplt ¶¶81,82,86.( Pg. s 46-50 ) “[T]he exclusive 

dealing arrangement itself satisfies the § 1 requirement of coordinated action.” 

Geneva Pharmaceuticals Technology Corp. v. Barr Laboratories Inc., No. 02-

9222 at pg. 45 (Fed. 2nd Cir. 10/18/2004) (Fed. 2nd Cir., 2004).  
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In Covad Communications, the breaking of the agreement between the 

plaintiff and the monopolist alone become adequate to state a claim.“[A]llegations 

that allege a failure to perform under an agreement that amount to a refusal 

to deal are sufficient to state a claim under the antitrust  laws.” [emphasis 

added] Covad Communications Co. v. Bellsouth Corp., at ¶63 2002 C11 260  

(USCA11, 2002), reversed on other grounds. The US Supreme Court recently 

stated this point of law, which the panel’s decision now surprisingly conflicts 

with: 

“The leading case imposing § 2 liability for refusal to deal with competitors 
is Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 U. S. 585, in 
which the Court concluded that the defendant's termination of a voluntary 
agreement with the plaintiff suggested a willingness to forsake short-term 
profits to achieve an anticompetitive end.” [emphasis added]  
 

Verizon Communications Inc. v. Law Offices of Trinko, 540 U.S. ___ (U.S. 

1/13/2004) (2004).  

Now that Medical Supply has experienced all the injury it sought to avoid, it is 

required to bring its claims for monetary damages to a federal district court, likely the 

Western District of Missouri, a notice pleading district: “...if future damages are 

unascertainable, a cause of action for such damages does not accrue until they occur. 

Zenith, 401 U.S. at  339, 91 S.Ct. at 806.” Kaw Valley Elec. Co-op. Co., Inc. v. 

Kansas Elec. Power Co-op., Inc., 872 F.2d 931 at FN4 (C.A.10 (Kan.), 1989). See 

also Barnosky Oils  Inc., v. Union Oil Co., 665 F.2d 74, 82 (6th Cir. 1981). US Bank 

was still attempting to perform the financing part of the contract after Medical Supply 

filed for its injunctive relief. If “the initial refusal is not final, each time the victim 
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seeks to deal with the violator and is rejected, a new cause of action accrues. See Pace 

Indus., 813 F.2d at 237-39;  Midwestern Waffles, Inc. v. Waffle House, Inc., 734 F.2d 

705, 714-15 (11th Cir.1984).” Kaw Valley Elec. Co-op. Co., Inc. v. Kansas  Elec. 

Power Co-op., Inc., 872 F.2d 931 at 933-4 (C.A.10 (Kan.), 1989).  

Medical Supply also now has evidence the malicious suspicious activity report 

as a sham petition was filed to further the agreement to suppress competition. See, 

e.g., Al George, Inc. v. Envirotech Corp., 939 F.2d 1271, 1274-75 (5th Cir. 1991); 

Korody-Colyer Corp. v. General Motors Corp; In re  Relafen Antitrust Litigation at 

pg. 6 (Mass., 2003). The amended pleading for now ripe monetary damages in Kansas 

District Court or a new filed action in some other federal district court would suffer 

no issue preclusion on Sherman 1 or 2 claims. Oltremari v. Kansas Social &  

Rehabilitative Service, 871 F.Supp. 1331 (Kan., 1994). The failure of either the trial 

court or the appellate panel to address the meritorious appeal that the defendant’s use 

of the USA PATRIOT Act was a sham petition is a Sherman 2 (Pg.s 59, 64-70 (Amd 

Cmplt. ¶¶ 115-118 on Pg.s 89-90). A violation not excepted by Eastern RR v. Noerr., 

365 U.S. 127, 141, 81 S.Ct. 523, 531, 5 L.Ed.2d 464 or maliciously under the USA 

PATRIOT Act private right of action (Amd Cmplt. ¶¶ 115-118 on Pg.s 89-90) 

completes the lack of preclusive effect of this panel decision. If left standing, the 

panel’s order sanctioning Medical Supply’s counsel would be impaired with no means 

to repay the sanctioned funds or prosecute the action. Neither Medical Supply’s 

counsel, president or any stakeholder have received any income since losing the TRO 

and their $350,000.00 on 12/01/ 2002. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
SAMUEL K. LIPARI    ) 

(Statutory Trustee of Dissolved  ) 
Medical Supply Chain, Inc.)  ) 

       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG 
       ) 
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY,   ) 
GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL BUSINESS ) 
  ASSET FUNDIGN CORPORATION,  ) 
GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL ) 
  SIGNALING, L.L.C.    ) 
CARPET n, MORE, and    ) 
STEWART FOSTER     ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO REMAND 
THE MATTER TO STATE COURT 

 
General Electric Company (“GE”), General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding 

Corporation (“GE Capital”), and GE Transportation Systems Global Signaling, LLC (“GE 

Transportation”) (collectively the “GE defendants”) oppose plaintiff’s attempts to remand this 

case back to state court.  Plaintiff has attempted to cast this proceeding as a case that includes 

local defendants.  However, given plaintiff’s failure to provide for the remaining local defendant 

in the Case Management Order, it is now apparent that this matter is most accurately a 

proceeding between diverse parties that should be heard by the federal court.   

BACKGROUND 

On March 22, 2006, plaintiff filed suit in Missouri state court against five defendants.  

Three of the defendants (the GE defendants) are out of state of state entities.  Two of the 

defendants are considered Missouri residents.  On April 4, plaintiff served GE, GE Capital, and 

Case 4:06-cv-00573-FJG     Document 9     Filed 08/03/2006     Page 1 of 5
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Heartland Financial.  The next day, on April 5, plaintiff served GE Transportation.  On April 27, 

at 23:59, plaintiff attempted to serve Carpets N’ More.  The summons was returned non est, 

apparently because there was no answer. 

On May 4, 2006, both the GE defendants and Heartland Financial filed motions to 

dismiss.  On May 25, the state court judge denied the GE defendants’ motion but granted 

Heartland Financial’s motion to dismiss.  Since that time, plaintiff has made no attempts to refile 

a claim against Heartland Financial.  Thus, the only remaining parties in this suit are the three 

GE defendants and the one Missouri resident defendant (Carpets N’ More).  However, plaintiff 

has set a Case Management Scheduling Order without serving Carpets N’ More.  Because 

plaintiff’s intentions were not apparent until the July 5 Case Management Order, defendants’ 

motion to remove the case on July 17 is timely. 

ARGUMENT 

Under § 1446, “a case can be removed within 30 days after receipt by the defendant 

through service or otherwise, of a copy of an amended pleading, motion, order or other paper 

from which it may first be ascertained that the case is one which is or has been removable, 

except that a case may not be removed on the basis of jurisdiction confirmed by § 1332 of this 

title more than one year after commencement of the action.”  Id. at § 1446(b).  Here, the case 

was not initially removable because plaintiff named two local defendants.  However, on May 25, 

one of the local defendants, Heartland Financial, was dismissed from the proceeding.  Thereafter, 

plaintiff proceeded to set a Case Management Scheduling Order without serving Carpets N’ 

More. 
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Courts have defined “other paper” as “the voluntary act of a plaintiff which gives the 

defendant notice of the changed circumstances which now support federal jurisdiction.”  Addo v. 

Globe Life & Accident Ins. Co., 230 F.3d 759, 762 (5th Cir. 2000).  Although there is no case 

directly on point, the Case Management Scheduling Order should constitute an “other paper” 

because it constitutes an act by plaintiff which gives the defendants notice of changed 

circumstances which now support federal jurisdiction.  Here, the Case Management Order sets 

forth a trial date, mediation date (complete by September 1, 2006), timing for filing of exhibit 

and witness lists, as well as motions in limine, jury instructions and deposition designations.  All 

these dates are set without the resident defendant Carpets N’ More’s ability to participate.  Given 

the shortness in the dates on this matter, and given plaintiff’s desire to go forward without 

Carpets N’ More, it is now clear that plaintiff no longer intends to include Carpets N’ More in 

this proceeding.   

The Court in Bertha v. Beach Aircraft Corp., 674 F. Supp. 24 (CD Ca. 1987), considered 

what constituted an “other paper.”  In Bertha, plaintiff named a number of local defendants, 

including Doe defendants.  After the Complaint was filed and before all the local defendants 

were served, plaintiff filed with the Court an “at-issue memorandum” in which plaintiff 

represented that all essential parties had been served and that no other parties would be served.  

The Court determined that the “at-issue memorandum” constituted the “other paper.”  Id. at 27.  

In so ruling, the Court also noted that in courts which utilized the trial setting conference 

procedure, the trial setting conference order could also serve as a “other paper.”  Id. at 26.  In this 

case, the Case Management Scheduling Order should serve as an “other paper” because it sets 

forth the plaintiff’s intentions to go forward in this lawsuit without Carpets N’ More. 

Case 4:06-cv-00573-FJG     Document 9     Filed 08/03/2006     Page 3 of 5


870



0915643.01 4 

Plaintiff’s Arguments Are Not Supported By The Rules. 

Plaintiff now argues that this case became diverse when he failed to serve Carpets N’ 

More within 30 days after the date of issue of this service.  Plaintiff’s argument ignores § 506.12 

and Rule 54.01.  Under Mo. R. Civ. P. 54.01(d), if a party files a request for separate or 

additional summonses or other process, the clerk shall issue the requested process.  Under 54.01, 

a plaintiff may make repeated attempts to serve a party beyond the initial 30 day window.  In 

fact, a party may attempt to continue to serve a defendant for months after the filing of the 

lawsuit.  Accordingly, plaintiff’s right to serve Carpets N’ More did not expire when the initial 

summons expired.   

CONCLUSION 

It was not until plaintiff made his assertions at the Case Management Conference and 

agreed to the Case Management Order that it became evident that Carpets N’ More was no 

longer a party to this proceeding.  Once it became evident that Carpets N’ More was no longer 

proceeding, the GE defendants had a 30 day window to remove the case to federal court.  By 

filing their removal within 12 days of the Case Management Order, the GE defendants 

successfully complied with § 1446(b). 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 2300 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
  
 ATTORNEYS FOR GENERAL ELECTRIC 

COMPANY, GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL 
BUSINESS ASSET FUNDING CORPORATION 
AND GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS 
GLOBAL SIGNALING, LLC 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and accurate copy of the foregoing 
instrument was forwarded this 3rd day of August, 2006, by first class mail, postage prepaid to: 
 

Samuel K. Lipari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee's Summit, MO 64064 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
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EAPN

  U.S. District Court
Western District of Missouri (Kansas City)

CIVIL DOCKET FOR CASE #: 4:06-cv-00573-FJG

Lipari v. General Electric Company et al
Assigned to: District Judge Fernando J. Gaitan, Jr
Demand: $450,000,000
Case in other court:  Jackson County Circuit Court, 0616-

CV07421
Cause: 28:1332 Diversity-Other Contract

Date Filed: 07/14/2006
Jury Demand: Plaintiff
Nature of Suit: 190 Contract: Other
Jurisdiction: Diversity

Plaintiff
Samuel Lipari 
Statutory Trustee of Dissolved Medical
Supply Chain, Inc.

represented by Samuel Lipari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee's Summit, MO 64064 
US 
PRO SE

V.
Defendant
General Electric Company represented by John K. Power 

Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1200 Main Street 
Suite 2300 
Kansas City, MO 64105 
(816)283-4651 
Fax: (816)421-0596 
Email: john.power@husch.com 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Defendant
General Electric Capital Business Asset
Funding Corporation

represented by John K. Power 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Defendant
GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC

represented by John K. Power 
(See above for address) 
LEAD ATTORNEY 
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ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED

Defendant
Carpet n More

Defendant
Stewart Foster

Date Filed # Docket Text

07/17/2006 1 NOTICE OF REMOVAL by General Electric Company, General Electric
Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems
Globaling Signaling, LLC, General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC from Circuit Court of Jackson County, case number 0616-
CV07421. ( Filing fee $ 350 receipt number 1305698) filed by John K. Power
on behalf of General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset
Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC,
General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding
Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC.
(Attachments: # 1 Civil Cover Sheet # 2 Exhibit A# 3 Exhibit B# 4 Exhibit C -
Petition)(Power, John) (Entered: 07/17/2006)

07/18/2006 2 Notice of EAP Neutral (Attachments: # 1 EAP General Order)(Baldwin, Joella)
(Entered: 07/18/2006)

07/19/2006 3 ORDER - joint proposed discovery plan scheduling order due by 8/21/2006.
Counsel for defendants, after consultation with plaintiff, shall take the lead in
preparing a proposed scheduling order for execution and filing with the court.
Signed by Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. on 7/19/06. (Enss, Rhonda) (Entered:
07/19/2006)

07/19/2006 4 MOTION to remand filed by Samuel Lipari Suggestions in opposition/response
due by 8/3/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court (Carr, Lori) (Entered:
07/21/2006)

07/19/2006 5 SUGGESTIONS in support re 4 MOTION to remand on behalf of Plaintiff
Samuel Lipari. (Related document(s)4) (Carr, Lori) (Entered: 07/21/2006)

07/20/2006 6 AMENDED MOTION to remand filed by Samuel Lipari. Suggestions in
opposition/response due by 8/4/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court
(Carr, Lori) (Entered: 07/24/2006)

07/20/2006 7 AMENDED SUGGESTIONS in support re 6 MOTION to remand on behalf of
Plaintiff Samuel Lipari. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit)(Related document(s)6) (Carr,
Lori) (Entered: 07/24/2006)
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07/24/2006 8 MOTION for hearing filed by Samuel Lipari. Suggestions in opposition/response
due by 8/8/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court (Attachments: # 1 Notice
of Exhibit Attachment)(Carr, Lori) (Entered: 07/24/2006)

08/03/2006 9 SUGGESTIONS in opposition re 4 MOTION to remand filed by John K. Power
on behalf of Defendants General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC. Reply suggestions due by 8/18/2006 unless otherwise directed
by the court (Related document(s)4) (Power, John) (Entered: 08/03/2006)

08/03/2006 10 RESPONSE to motion re 8 MOTION for hearing filed by John K. Power on
behalf of Defendants General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC. Reply suggestions due by 8/18/2006 unless otherwise directed
by the court (Related document(s)8) (Power, John) (Entered: 08/03/2006)

08/10/2006 11 REPLY SUGGESTIONS to motion re 4 MOTION to remand, 8 MOTION for
hearing and Plaintiff's Remand Hearing Trial Brief by Samuel Lipari.
(Attachments: # 1 Notice of Exhibit Attachment)(Related document(s)4, 8)
(Carr, Lori) (Entered: 08/11/2006)

08/29/2006 12 MOTION for extension of time to File Proposed Discovery Plan and
Scheduling Order filed by John K. Power on behalf of General Electric
Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE
Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC Suggestions in
opposition/response due by 9/13/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court
(Power, John) (Entered: 08/29/2006)

08/29/2006 13 NOTICE of Submission of Proposed Order of Remand by Samuel Lipari re 6
MOTION to remand. (Jones, Robin) (Entered: 08/29/2006)

09/05/2006 14 MOTION for order to supplement the record filed by Samuel Lipari.
Suggestions in opposition/response due by 9/20/2006 unless otherwise directed
by the court. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1&2)(Jones, Robin) (Entered:
09/05/2006)

09/05/2006 15 SUGGESTIONS in opposition re 12 MOTION for extension of time to File
Proposed Discovery Plan and Scheduling Order on behalf of Plaintiff Samuel
Lipari. Reply suggestions due by 9/20/2006 unless otherwise directed by the
court (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1# 2 Exhibit 2# 3 Exhibit 3# 4 Exhibit 4# 5
Exhibit 5)(Related document(s)12) (Jones, Robin) (Entered: 09/05/2006)

09/08/2006 16 Second MOTION for extension of time to File Proposed Discovery Plan and
Scheduling Order filed by John K. Power on behalf of General Electric
Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE
Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC Suggestions in
opposition/response due by 9/25/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court
(Power, John) (Entered: 09/08/2006)

09/14/2006 17 PROPOSED SCHEDULING ORDER and Discovery Plan by General Electric
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Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE
Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC. (Power, John) (Entered:
09/14/2006)

09/27/2006 18 ORDER denying as moot 12 defendants' motion for extension of time and
granting 16 defendants' second motion for extension of time. The Court notes
the timely filing of the proposed discovery plan and scheduling order (Doc. #17)
on September 14, 2006. Signed by Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. on 9/27/06.
(Enss, Rhonda) (Entered: 09/27/2006)

09/27/2006 19 SCHEDULING and Trial ORDER: Discovery due by 5/1/2007. Summary
judgment motions due 6/1/07. Pretrial teleconference set for 12/14/2007 at 9:30
AM in before Judge Fernando Gaitan. Jury Trial set for 1/28/2008 at 8:30 AM in
Courtroom 7C, Kansas City (FJG) before Judge Fernando Gaitan. Signed by
Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. on 9/27/06. (Enss, Rhonda) (Entered: 09/27/2006)

09/27/2006 20 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE OF INITIAL RULE 26 DISCLOSURES filed by
John K. Power on behalf of Defendants General Electric Company, General
Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation
Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC.(Power, John) (Entered: 09/27/2006)

09/28/2006 21 NOTICE of filing by General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC Opposition to Plaintiff's "Discovery Dispute" (Power, John)
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obstruct justice during ongoing state and federal actions. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI  
 

 Medical Supply CHAIN, INC.,    ) 
  Plaintiff,     ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 
NOVATION, LLC     ) Attorney Lien 
NEOFORMA, INC.     ) 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 
CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 
ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 
US BANCORP, NA     ) 
US BANK       ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE     ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 
 

Affidavit of Sam Lipari on The Unsuitability of Transfer 
 
1. My name is Samuel Lipari, I reside at 297 Bayview in Lee’s Summit Missouri. I am 

the chief executive officer of Medical Supply Chain, Inc., a company I incorporated in 

May of 2000. I chose to bring this new action in Missouri District court because I have a 

responsibility to Medical Supply’s stakeholders and to the shareholders of US Bancorp 

NA, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Neoforma, Inc. to adjudicate these claims in 

accordance with laws of the United States. I brought two earlier and related actions to 

Kansas District court based on the advice of my counsel. I witnessed first hand that no 

decision or outcome in either case including from the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals had 

any relationship to the pleadings of my company or applicable law. I make this 

determination based on my considerable personal experience as a clerk and researcher for 

a Missouri legal firm and upon discussions with what I believe are the foremost 

healthcare antitrust authorities in our nation. 
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2. I know first hand the consequences to Medical Supply and the additional liabilities 

US Bancorp NA, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Neoforma, Inc. have incurred as a 

result of the Kansas District court outcomes and the Tenth Circuit delays. I believe 

several of these defendants will no longer be viable after a judgment at law is made on 

their conduct. 

3. I received a confidential decision by Chief Judge Deanell R. Tacha dated March 23, 

2005; a complaint with extensive documented evidence including official court 

transcripts and affidavits I made to the Tenth Circuit about the conduct of the Kansas 

District Court Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the attorneys of the law firm Shughart, 

Thomson & Kilroy described in the lawsuit before this court. Chief Justice Tacha 

determined that the conduct described presented an issue about the bias of the forum 

Medical Supply suffered. Included in the complaint was evidence that the bias reached 

the Office of the Clerk for the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and the person of Patrick 

Fischer, Chief Clerk. 

4. Early in the Kansas District Court case against the US Bancorp defendants, I 

instructed my counsel to write a letter to the Chief Administrative Judge of the Kansas 

District Court inquiring as to weather the Kansas District court had the resources to 

adjudicate an antitrust matter based on a Sherman Act refusal to deal claim and if we 

should transfer the action to a different forum. The Kansas District Court never had the 

time, resources or manpower to answer my inquiry and it is my belief after observing first 

hand that the Kansas District Court does not have the resources required for me to 

prosecute my claims against these defendants.  
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5. Beyond the lack of sufficient resources, I was repeatedly struck by the bias and 

open hostility exhibited by the Kansas District Court and Tenth Circuit personnel against 

the claims of my company and how Kansas government attorneys were enlisted to 

retaliate against my counsel for bringing these actions. I believe this is the bias that Chief 

Judge Deanell R. Tacha described in her decision dated March 23, 2005. I became 

concerned and attended the trial phase of my counsel’s representation of James Bolden, 

an African American small business man who had sought out my counsel when Kansas 

government attorneys had discouraged or intimidated four of his previous attorneys, the 

last of which still has not been found. I assisted in the trial preparation for this case 

believing it would be good practice for Medical Supply’s jury trials. 

6. I have now known James Bolden for some time and believe him to be an 

extraordinarily honest god-fearing man. I also know that his work vehicle was 

firebombed while it was parked next to his home and the Topeka Police Department 

refused to even take a police report and that he feared for his life while his case was being 

litigated in the Kansas District Court. The injuries and threats made against his witnesses 

who I also know and believe are honest made affidavits of the incidents, including the 

opposing city attorney, Sherri Price’s threat to criminally prosecute the Topeka business 

owner Fred Sanders if he testified in federal court on behalf of James Bolden.  

7. The City of Topeka and the Topeka office of the US Attorney threatened and 

intimidated other witnesses I have met because of their testimony in Mr. Landrith’s cases. 

Affidavits of these incidents were filed in the various Kansas District Court cases and the 

response of the Kansas judicial branch was to increase its threats against Mr. Landrith, 

one of which was mailed the afternoon Mr. Landrith had called Mark Hunt a former US 
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Army officer and an African American to testify in a Topeka Federal courtroom. Mark 

Hunt was severely retaliated against for that testimony and Melvin Johnson, a retired US 

Postal worker client of Mr. Landrith was also retaliated against by city officials that 

night, leaving him homeless. The Topeka office of Eric Melgran the US Attorney caused 

Melvin Johnson’s key witness, Rosemary Price to be retaliated against for her 

participation in a deposition held in the Topeka federal courthouse a week later. 

8. The Kansas District court repeatedly rebuked Mr. Landrith for documenting the 

obstruction and deliberate interference of justice that seems to be commonplace in the 

Kansas legal culture. Magistrate James P. O’Hara issued a very harsh report against Mr. 

Landrith in the Bolden case that seems to be more about Medical Supply’s case and what 

has happened to Shughart, Thomson and Kilroy. The Kansas Disciplinary Administrator 

Stanton Hazlett used the report to justify his investigation and prosecution of Mr. 

Landrith. 

9. I advised Mr. Landrith to file in Kansas District Court to stop the state disciplinary 

administrator from prosecuting him for representing an African American and his 

American Indian witness. Affidavits in both cases revealed that Kansas state officials 

repeatedly obstructed justice and that the opposing counsel Sherri Price had threatened 

minority business men with criminal prosecution if they testified in Kansas District court 

against the City of Topeka. I knew that since none of this testimony was ever disputed the 

District of Kansas would certainly prevent the state from retaliating against Mr. Landrith 

for his protected speech on behalf of an African American and his American Indian 

witness. Surprisingly, however the District of Kansas judges recused themselves and the 
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Tenth Circuit assigned the Chief Judge Dee Benson of the District of Utah who made no 

findings of fact or law and dismissed the case with prejudice. 

10. I attended the pre trial order conference of the Kansas Disciplinary Administrator 

before a three-attorney panel consisting of Sally H. Harris, Michael K. Schmitt and 

presided over by Randall D. Grisell. Stanton Hazlett admitted to the panel that the secret 

probable cause hearing had excluded official court records and evidence including a reply 

brief in the adoption appeal that matched court transcripts refuting each evidentiary point 

raised by the adoption attorney seeking to terminate Mr. Price’s parental rights. Stanton 

Hazlett admitted he had secured the probable cause to prosecute Mr. Landrith by stating 

there was no evidence behind the appeal. 

11. Randall D. Grisell and the panel ruled that Mr. Landrith would not be able to 

present any evidence or witnesses related to the discriminatory prosecution of himself 

while the felony threats to obstruct justice documented in the case and including 

opposing counsel were being ignored. Strangely, the panel also ordered the exclusion of 

any evidence or witnesses supporting the truth of the underlying litigations. Randall D. 

Grisell also ruled that the substantial family interest of Stanton Hazlett in the private 

adoption industry and that the chief complaining witness, Kansas state Judge G. Joeseph 

Pierron, Jr. held a position on the board of directors of a private $40 million dollar 

commercial adoption contractor with the State of Kansas, Kansas Children’s Service 

League, Inc. did not require the dismissal and reinvestigation of the complaint. Judge G. 

Joeseph Pierron, Jr. had refused to disqualify himself when Mr. Price’s appeal raised 

questions about widespread Kansas adoption law violations and the failure of the Kansas 
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Social and Rehabilitation Services to ensure compliance with laws designed to prevent 

interstate child trafficking. 

12. A few days after Mr. Landrith asked to call Frank D. Williams as a witness to 

Stanton Hazlett’s pattern and practice of not reading or familiarizing himself with the case 

before seeking to prosecute an individual, Kansas state officials in the judicial branch 

attempted to seize $50,000.00 in Southwestern Bell stock owned by Frank D. Williams 

on a ten year old judgment that had expired without being renewed or served on Mr. 

Williams. I believe this was an effort by state officials in the Kansas legal community to 

retaliate against witnesses and to threaten and harass witnesses with their misconduct. 

Since the Medical Supply complaint addresses misconduct related to influencing the 

Kansas District court, I believe that similar efforts will be made against Medical Supply’s 

witnesses if the case is tried in a Kansas forum.   

13. I witnessed the stress mount on Mr. Landrith leading up to the pretrial conference 

for the ethics prosecution. It was a dark holiday season as he had to spend an enormous 

amount of time preparing evidence for the ethics trial in January. I offered to clerk for Mr. 

Landrith during the trial and sat with him during its entirety at the counsel table.  

14. On January 19th 2005 Stanton Hazlett sent another disciplinary complaint letter to 

Mr. Landrith. I saw that the ethics trial was not going well for Stanton Hazlett who 

seemed entirely unfamiliar with the evidence and exhibited shock and surprise when the 

testimony of Hazlett’s own witnesses revealed that court records had been withheld from 

Mr. Landrith violating the due process and Sixth Amendment rights of his clients and that 

actions had been taken to deceive the court in the underlying cases. 
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15. Even though the bad faith basis for the prosecution had become overwhelmingly 

clear, Stanton Hazlett argued (looking to Andrew DeMarea’s complaint for the 

inspiration that an appeal could be frivolous even though the ruling contradicts both 

statue and controlling case law and in the face of documented trial court misconduct) that 

Mr. Landrith should never have accepted the appeal of the indigent David Price when his 

appointed attorney had withdrawn before the conclusion of the trial court case and the 

trial court had refused to hear any of Mr. Price’s pro se motions or allow him access to 

records required for post trial representation. This struck me as a living nightmare that the 

State of Kansas was so far removed from lawfulness and the constitution that I was 

thankful I don’t live there.  

16. At the conclusion of Mr. Landrith’s ethics trial, Sally H. Harris, Michael K. Schmitt 

and Randall D. Grisell stated that they had found Mr. Landrith guilty of something but 

were not sure yet what it was. Stanton Hazlett then argued that the only possible 

punishment was disbarment. 

17. Following the hearing I observed Magistrate O’Hara lagging behind in an effort to 

communicate with Stanton Hazlet and the three judge panel. Throughout this hearing 

there were several occasions were Stanton Hazlet and the three-judge panel had what 

appeared to be private off the record conversations.  

18. Mr. Landrith asked me to accompany him to a meeting with John Ambrosio, a 

Topeka attorney Stanton Hazlett had directed to investigate the complaint made by 

Andrew DeMarea of Shughart Thomson and Kilroy who was representing counsel for the 

defendant US Bank in the Medical Supply case. Mr. Landrith had told me he had 
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answered the complaint and sent additional documents, but John Ambrosio had sent 

several letters threatening disbarment if Mr. Landrith did not attend a meeting. 

19. Bret Landrith also arranged for Mr. Dennis Hawver to accompany us to the meeting 

since Mr. Hawver was investigating filing a legislative claim on behalf of Mr. Landrith 

for the enormous burden the repeated bad faith prosecutions by Stanton Hazlett in 

retaliation for Mr. Landrith’s representing minority Kansans who were injured by state 

officials violating Kansas law. When we got there John Ambrosio’s wife Kathleen 

Ambrosio who Janice King, a voluntary process server for Mr. Landrith told me had been 

assigned by the Kansas Judicial branch to assist a divorce attorney opposing her claims 

for child support in the Tenth Circuit stood around listening to our conversations. Then 

we were taken to John Ambrosio’s office. 

20. John Ambrosio was introduced to me and did not recognize my name even though 

he had insisted Mr. Landrith attend this meeting to be questioned about the Medical 

Supply case. I heard Mr. Landrith call his attention to the fact that he had been threatened 

several times by John Ambrosio if he did not make himself available for questioning 

about the case yet Ambrosio had clearly made no preparations and was unfamiliar with 

the complaint or the documents furnished by Stanton Hazlett. Furthermore Mr. Landrith 

complained that Stanton Hazlett had been prosecuting him for over two years, making it 

impossible to earn a living and that he had been told he would be disbarred on the earlier 

claims. 

21. John Ambrosio insisted I leave and that I not witness the meeting but Mr. Hawver 

could stay. Mr. Landrith declined to be interviewed without my presence and I heard 

John Ambrosio threaten Mr. Landrith again with disbarment stating that if Mr. Landrith 
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didn’t cooperate he would respond to Stanton Hazlett stating that everything Andrew 

DeMarea had alleged would be reported as true since Mr. Landrith was unwilling to 

refute it. 

22. At that moment I knew the meeting had been arranged solely to harass Mr. Landrith 

for representing me. Despite being paid by the State of Kansas to do an ethics 

investigation, John Ambrosio had not even bothered to read Andrew DeMarea’s 

complaint. Like Sherri Price, the City of Topeka attorney relaying Magistrate James 

O’Hara’s order, Andrew DeMarea was smart enough to sign his name only to the cover 

page relaying without subjective comment a ruling designed to injure Mr. Landrith for his 

representation, neither alleged any wrongdoing against Mr. Landrith. I could see that 

despite John Ambrosio’s visible intent to severely frighten Mr. Landrith if he did not 

meet without a witness, John Ambrosio had not bothered to review the case. 

23. When the defendants realized they had to answer my action in Missouri, I 

experienced the intensified presence of law enforcement officials. Including uniformed 

and plain-clothes surveillance. I believe two plain clothes officers arranged to meet and 

question me. I was questioned extensively about GPO practices and how I was able to 

finance my litigation. I believe the justification for this investigation was the USA 

PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report filed against my company and me over two 

years ago.   

24. I know the suspicious activity reports were filed because my father has my same 

name and the secret reports disrupted the financial operations of my father’s trucking 

company at the time causing him significant loses in income and stress arising from the 

decreased income and the threats of foreclosure on the home he and my stepmother 
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shared. The stress aggravated their physical health and my stepmother died from a stroke 

later that year. 

25. I believe the impetuous for the investigation however was the requests made by the 

defendants to government officials in Missouri starting once the Missouri action was 

filed. I went to the FBI office in Kansas City, Missouri with supporting documentation 

and the information described in the complaint about the defendants actions to retaliate 

against my attorney Mr. Landrith in their plan to impede the administration of justice.  

26. No action was taken on my complaint and the law enforcement officials did not 

start surveillance of my home until the defendants requested it. I believe the surveillance 

was unproductive in that it did not serve the goals of the government officials who had 

attempted to accommodate the defendants. I believe this resulted in my fiancé who I lived 

with for four years and whose daughter we were arraigning for me to adopt as father was  

being targeted.  When she was pressured repeatedly to find something unlawful I was 

doing, it led to our relationship being canceled and I lost my home.  

27. I moved in with my father and live in his basement. I believe that this residence and 

my office in it has been searched while we were out, again under the justification of the 

USA PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report filed against my company and me over 

two year ago but for the purpose of finding something that could be used to stop my 

litigation. 

28. I continue to experience Internet research interruption and email delays even though 

I believe the Missouri officials are satisfied as to Medical Supply’s claims and the 

lawfulness of our litigation against the defendants. I am hopeful they will enforce the law 

and protect the witnesses of every party. The events that appeared to have occurred in 
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Texas, California and Kansas when persons have challenged the defendants’ monopoly 

make this action’s location in Missouri necessary for all the safety of all involved. 

29. Unfortunately, I am experiencing the fallout from law enforcement officials on the 

Missouri side discovering that Medical Supply’s claims were justified and that nothing 

unlawful is being done in my litigation against the defendants. Kansas state officials in 

the judicial branch, including Stanton Hazlett have contacted persons in the last two 

weeks to relay their intentions to me. This is on its face unlawful because Stanton Hazlett 

is required to keep that information confidential until the complaint is filed. One such 

person who had a conversation with Stanton Hazlett has made it clear that Mr. Landrith 

will be disbarred regardless of the law or evidence in the record. While this threat 

imperils Medical Supply’s chance for justice in this litigation, the threat accompanied 

offers to “save” Medical Supply. This involves replacing Medical Supply’s counsel with 

a Kansas attorney as lead counsel I feel Stanton Hazlett believes he and Magistrate 

O’Hara can control. I was offered the $300,000.00 US Bancorp deprived Medical Supply 

of to capitalize my company’s entry to market if I would agree to this arrangement. While 

this is being suggested to me repeatedly to the point that it is becoming a pressure, the 

suggested attorneys have no antitrust experience or familiarity with the present actions. 

30. I believe Stanton Hazlett and Magistrate O’Hara are acting in the interests of the 

defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy to use their control over the enforcement of 

Kansas Attorney Ethics rules to change counsel so that evidence of Shughart Thomson & 

Kilroy’s actions in furtherance of the defendant’s conspiracy will not be subjected to 

discovery, accomplishing the conspiracy’s short term objective of concealing what was 

done to influence the Kansas District Court and the defendant conspiracy’s long term 
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objective of eliminating liability for their conduct. Because the conspiracy so overtly 

seeks to control and prevent the presentation of evidence regarding the occurrences in 

Kansas District court and the motivations for what was done to Mr. Landrith while 

suppressing evidence of misconduct including felony obstruction of justice, witness 

intimidation and harassment related to Mr. Bolden and Mr. Price’s entirely unrelated 

cases. 

31. Chief Judge Deanell R. Tacha’s confidential decision clearly casts the Sherman 

Antitrust Act and 18 U.S.C.§ 241 as “frivolous” laws. This also comports with the Tenth 

Circuit’s formal opinions regarding Medical Supply’s antitrust claims. Since my 

company cannot enter the market unless the conspirators exerting monopolistic control 

over the market are enjoined from further planned actions to exclude competition and 

discouraged from the belief that US antitrust law will not be enforced in the ecommerce 

delivery of hospital supplies, I must bring my company’s claims to a jurisdiction that will 

follow US Antitrust law. I believe that excludes the Kansas District court and its 

appellate circuit. 

32. At the time my counsel has twelve days to answer about 20 motions seeking the 

dismissal and transfer of this case, Stanton Hazlett is misleading the Tenth Circuit into 

dismissing the motion to enjoin further disbarment proceedings during the pendancy of 

Mr. Landrith’s civil rights cases (he still has to represent Mr. James Bolden) based on 

Stanton Hazlett’s misrepresentations that the appeal is moot because Mr. Landrith is not 

being disciplined, then, Stanton Hazlett filed a recommendation of disbarment against 

Mr. Landrith in the Kansas Supreme Court on April 14, 2005 without retracting his Tenth 

Circuit Motion to dismiss.  
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33. The defendants seek to transfer Medical Supply’s case to Kansas. I have feared for 

my life during parts of this litigation especially after calling the Ft. Worth, TX office of 

the US Attorney to ask to speak to the attorney that issued the criminal subpoenas against 

my cases defendants and being told she was dead and then finding out that the FCA 

attorney had died shortly before her. It is my belief that I would be putting witnesses in 

jeopardy if this action were conducted in Kansas and that would principally be a result of 

the hostility the Kansas District court has for victims of witness intimidation and 

harassment and the obvious willingness of the Kansas judicial branch to assist in the 

harassment and intimidation. Certainly, it would be unlikely that law enforcement 

officials could bring anyone to justice in that environment.  

34. I do believe the State of Missouri will uphold the laws against witness and victim 

harassment and secure the protection of all parties. In Missouri, law enforcement officials 

appear to have already looked into this litigation at the request of the defendants and I 

also have my up most confidence in them 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
SAMUEL K. LIPARI    ) 

(Statutory Trustee of Dissolved  ) 
Medical Supply Chain, Inc.)  ) 

       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG 
       ) 
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY,   ) 
GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL BUSINESS ) 
  ASSET FUNDIGN CORPORATION,  ) 
GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL ) 
  SIGNALING, L.L.C.    ) 
CARPET n, MORE, and    ) 
STEWART FOSTER     ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR EMERGENCY HEARING 
ON PLAINTIFF’S REMAND MOTION 

 

General Electric Company (“GE”), General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding 

Corporation (“GE Capital”), and GE Transportation Systems Global Signaling, LLC (“GE 

Transportation”) (collectively the “GE defendants”) respond to plaintiff’s Motion for Emergency 

Hearing on its Motion for Remand.  Contemporaneously with this Response, the GE defendants 

have filed their Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Remand.   

This case began in Missouri state court on March 22, 2006.  The named defendants were 

both local and non-local residents.  Since the filing of the lawsuit, one of the local defendants, 

Heartland Financial, has been dismissed from this proceeding.  Thereafter, the plaintiff has failed 

to serve the other local defendant and has since entered into a Case Management Order without 

the input from the local defendant.   

Case 4:06-cv-00573-FJG     Document 10     Filed 08/03/2006     Page 1 of 3


893 WOME 26



0915671.01 2 

The GE defendants contend that entering the Case Management Order constitutes an 

“other paper” as set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).  The GE defendants have moved for the 

removal within 30 days of the entering of the Case Management Order, thereby complying with 

§ 1446.   

Plaintiff contends that GE defendants did not submit the full docket sheet when it 

removed the case.  However, the docket sheet presented by the GE defendants in their Motion to 

Remove includes the Case Management Order.  It is the Case Management Order that provides 

the basis for GE defendants’ removal.  Plaintiffs’ Motion for Remand is based on an inaccurate 

reading of Rule 54.21.  Plaintiff has more than thirty days to serve a party and plaintiff’s failure 

to do so did not cause a dismissal of Carpets N’ More at that time.  Accordingly, plaintiff’s 

Motion for Remand is not well taken and should be dismissed by this Court. 

Paragraphs 8 through 13 are without any basis and, quite frankly, the GE defendants 

cannot even discern what it is that plaintiff is asserting in these paragraphs so as to formulate an 

appropriate response.  The GE defendants do acknowledge, that Medical Supply Chain has sued 

the GE defendants in two separate federal court actions.  Both actions have been dismissed.  In 

one of those actions, the court has deemed that Medical Supply Chain’s conduct was 

sanctionable.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the GE defendants are not opposed to having a hearing on 

plaintiff’s Motion for Remand on an expedited basis. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 2300 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
  
 ATTORNEYS FOR GENERAL ELECTRIC 

COMPANY, GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL 
BUSINESS ASSET FUNDING CORPORATION 
AND GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS 
GLOBAL SIGNALING, LLC 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and accurate copy of the foregoing 
instrument was forwarded this 3rd day of August, 2006, by first class mail, postage prepaid to: 
 

Samuel K. Lipari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee's Summit, MO 64064 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS DIVISION 
 
        
       ) 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.   ) 
       )  Civil Action No. 03-2324-CM 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
vs.       ) 
       )  MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT  
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY,  )  OF DEFENDANTS’ MOTION  
       )  TO DISMISS 
GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL BUSINESS )    
ASSET FUNDING CORPORATION, AND  )   
       ) 
GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL ) 
SIGNALING, L.L.C.     ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
       ) 
 
 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
 
 
 
 

John K. Power KS Fed. #70448 
HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 
Kansas City, Missouri 64105 
Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 

Jonathan I. Gleklen 
Ryan Z. Watts 
ARNOLD & PORTER 
555 12th Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20004 
Telephone: (202) 942-5000 
Facsimile: (202) 942-5999 

 
 
 
 
 
Dated August 21, 2003 
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INTRODUCTION 

 Plaintiff Medical Supply Chain (“MSC”) filed this action only two days after this Court 

dismissed MSC’s similar claims against US Bancorp.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US 

Bancorp, NA, No. 02-2539-CM, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. June 16, 2003) (the “US Bancorp 

Action’).  Unable as a matter of law to blame US Bancorp for its purported travails, MSC now 

alleges that General Electric, GE Capital, GE Transportation Systems, and GE CEO Jeffrey 

Immelt have violated the antitrust laws and Missouri common law by refusing to sublease a 

building or provide financing to MSC.  But MSC’s claims against the Defendants in this action 

fare no better than its claims against US Bancorp.  Even if MSC’s outlandish factual allegations 

are accepted as true, it is clear from the face of the Amended Complaint that MSC has not stated 

a claim for antitrust violations or for breach of contract, fraud, breach of the duty of fair dealing, 

or bad faith under Missouri state law. 

 MSC’s claims are based on GE Capital’s denial of MSC’s application for financing that 

MSC itself claims would have been “unusual.”  MSC’s Amended Complaint must be dismissed 

because MSC does not and cannot honestly plead the required elements of the various alleged 

antitrust violations.  Indeed, MSC does not even allege that it competes with the Defendants.   

 On an even more fundamental level, moreover, MSC’s Amended Complaint fails to state 

a claim because MSC’s own allegations establish that MSC cannot show injury cognizable under 

the antitrust laws.  MSC admits that Defendants’ conduct was not the but-for cause of its injury, 

and MSC certainly was not injured in a way that affected its ability to compete – the requisite 

injury to support an antitrust claim. 

 It is similarly plain from the face of the Amended Complaint that MSC’s state law claims 

must also be dismissed.  MSC again fails to allege the most fundamental elements of its claims.  
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It does not, nor can it, demonstrate the performance of conditions precedent and, therefore, it 

cannot properly allege a breach of contract or breach of a duty of fair dealing.  MSC does not 

even attempt to allege any of the elements necessary for a fraud claim.  And MSC’s “bad faith” 

cause of action in tort has never been accepted in Missouri and was rejected in California, where 

the precedent upon which MSC relies has been overruled.   

 In its dismissal of the US Bancorp Action, this Court reminded Bret Landrith, MSC’s 

counsel in both that action and this case, of the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(2).  The 

Court specifically admonished MSC’s counsel “to take greater care in ensuring that the claims he 

brings on his clients’ behalf are supported by the law and the facts.”  2003 WL 21479192, at *6.  

MSC’s Amended Complaint in this case shows that its counsel has thumbed its nose at both this 

Court’s warning and warnings from Counsel for the Defendants that MSC’s claims were not well 

grounded in law.1  Indeed, MSC’s claims against Defendants must be dismissed on many of the 

very same grounds upon which the US Bancorp Action was dismissed.  Although MSC has also 

asserted several new claims not raised in the US Bancorp Action, those too suffer fatal defects.  

MSC’s legal theories are at war with clearly established precedent, and not a single count of 

MSC’s 14-count Amended Complaint states a claim for which relief may be granted.  MSC’s 

Amended Complaint should be dismissed. 

                                                 
1 When MSC’s counsel initially threated litigation against Defendants, Defendants’ counsel 
warned that it would seek sanctions if MSC pursued the claims it has now asserted in this case. 
Defendants are preparing a motion under Rule 11 and will file the motion after serving it on 
MSC and waiting the twenty-one days required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c)(1)(A). 
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LEGAL STANDARD FOR A MOTION TO DISMISS 

 The court will dismiss a cause of action for failure to state a claim when it appears 

beyond a doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of the theory of recovery 

that would entitle him or her to relief, Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957); Maher v. 

Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d 1302, 1305 (10th Cir. 1998), or when an issue of law is 

dispositive.  Neitzke v. Williams, 490 U.S. 319, 326 (1989).  The court must accept as true all 

well-pleaded facts, as distinguished from conclusory allegations, Maher, 144 F.3d at 1305, and 

all reasonable inferences from those facts are viewed in favor of the plaintiff.  Swanson v. Bixler, 

750 F.2d 810, 813 (10th Cir. 1984). 

 Courts may, however, take judicial notice of matters outside the complaint without 

converting a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment.  City of Philadelphia v. 

Fleming Companies, Inc., 264 F.3d 1245, 1251 n.4 (10th Cir. 2001); Chambers v. Time Warner, 

Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 153 (2d Cir. 2002).  Of particular relevance here, a court may take judicial 

notice of “its own records and files, and facts which are part of its public records,” and such 

notice “is particularly applicable to the court’s own records of prior litigation closely related to 

the case before it.”  St. Louis Baptist Temple, Inc. v. Federal Deposit Ins. Corp., 605 F.2d 1169, 

1172 (10th Cir. 1979).  See also City of Philadelphia, 264 F.3d at 1251 n.4 (10th Cir. 2001) 

(taking judicial notice of filings in state court litigation); Abdelsamed v. United States, Civ. A. 

01-N-1774 (CBS), 2002 W.L. 31409521, at *17-18 (D. Colo. Sept. 17, 2002) (taking judicial 

notice of complaint filed by plaintiff in another action). 

 In an antitrust case, “[a] district court must retain the power to insist upon some 

specificity in pleading before allowing a potentially massive factual controversy to proceed.”  
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Associated Gen. Contractors of California, Inc. v. California State Council of Carpenters, 459 

U.S. 519, 528 n.17 (1983).  As the Seventh Circuit has stated: 

When the requisite elements are lacking, the costs of modern federal antitrust 
litigation and the increasing case load of the federal courts counsel against 
sending the parties into discovery when there is no reasonable likelihood that the 
plaintiffs can construct a claim from the events related in the complaint. 

Car Carriers, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101, 1106 (7th Cir. 1984).  Simply put, antitrust 

litigation is “‘too expensive a process to waste time on fanciful claims.’”  Aquatherm Indus., Inc. 

v. Florida Power & Light Co., 971 F. Supp. 1419, 1424 (M.D. Fla. 1997) (quoting 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania v. PepsiCo, 836 F.2d 173, 182 (3d Cir. 1988)), aff’d, 145 F.3d 

1258 (11th Cir. 1998) (affirming Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal).  Thus, “a plaintiff must do more than 

cite relevant antitrust language to state a claim for relief.”  Rather, it “must allege sufficient facts 

to support a cause of action under the antitrust laws.”  TV Communications Network, Inc. v. 

Turner Network Television, Inc., 964 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th Cir. 1992). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 This factual background is based on the allegations of the Amended Complaint, which 

Defendants accept as true for purposes of this motion only, and upon facts alleged by MSC in the 

US Bancorp Action, of which Defendants respectfully request the Court take judicial notice.2 

                                                 
2 MSC’s Amended Complaint includes three exhibits – an unsigned, unsworn “affidavit” from 
Lynn James Everhard attaching his resume, various press clippings, and a “brief” he submitted to 
various government agencies; an MSC business plan; and an unexecuted form contract utilized 
by Novation and Neoforma (neither of which is a party to this action).  These exhibits are 
improper.  See, e.g., Chiaramonte v. Fashion Bed Group, Inc., 129 F.3d 391, 400 (7th Cir. 1997) 
(unsigned and unsworn affidavit is “not part of the record”); Schmitz v. Mars, Inc., 261 
F.Supp.2d 1226, 1229 (D. Or. 2003) (striking exhibits to complaint as improper and refusing to 
consider them in deciding motion to dismiss).  Nevertheless, to avoid burdening this Court with 
additional paper, Defendants are not moving to strike these exhibits at this time because nothing 
in these exhibits saves MSC’s Amended Complaint from dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6). 
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 The Parties.  Plaintiff MSC is a Missouri Corporation.  MSC spent ten years developing 

technology and has spent the last three years completing the research and development for 

commercialization of an Internet-based service to “manage strategic data and provide direct 

support to buyers and sellers that make up the healthcare supply chain.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 3.  This 

service is designed to permit MSC to compete to provide “hospital supplies through e-

commerce.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 33.  Plaintiff has not yet begun providing this service and admittedly 

has no revenue.  Am. Compl. ¶¶ 4, 35. 

 Defendant General Electric Company (“GE”), in addition to other lines of business, 

manufactures medical equipment and parts.  Am. Compl. ¶ 15.  GE is not alleged to provide any 

service (Internet-based or otherwise) relating to the healthcare supply chain or to compete in the 

business of selling “hospital supplies through e-commerce.”  But GE is a shareholder of Global 

Healthcare Exchange (“GHX”), an “electronic marketplace promising online distribution at 

lower prices to hospitals” that competes in the “hospital supplies through e-commerce” business.  

Am. Compl. ¶ 15.  GE’s share of the ownership of GHX is not alleged.   

 Defendant Jeffrey R. Immelt is currently the Chief Executive Officer of GE.  Am. Compl. 

¶ 10.  Previously, as President of GE Medical Systems, Mr. Immelt oversaw GE’s capitalization 

of GHX in 2000.  Am. Compl. ¶ 7.  Mr. Immelt is not alleged to have any knowledge of, let 

alone any personal role in, Defendants’ refusal to sublease an office building or provide a 

mortgage to MSC.   

 Defendant GE Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation (“GE Capital”) is a GE 

subsidiary “performing GE’s commercial lending operations.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 17.  GE Capital is 

not alleged to provide hospital supply chain services or compete in “hospital supplies through e-

commerce.” 
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 Defendant GE Transportation Systems Global Business Signaling (“GETS”), a GE 

subsidiary, is a global supplier of ground transportation products.  Am. Compl. ¶ 18.  GETS 

assumed a lease on a building at 1600 N.E. Coronado Drive, Blue Springs, Missouri (the “Blue 

Springs Building”) when it bought Harmon Industries, Inc., a railroad signal company.  Am. 

Compl. ¶ 18.  Like GE and GE Capital, GETS is not alleged to provide hospital supply chain 

services or compete in “hospital supplies through e-commerce.” 

 MSC’s Dispute with US Bancorp.  In March of 2002, MSC sought to establish a 

banking relationship with US Bancorp, but US Bancorp, citing “know your customer” 

requirements of the USA Patriot Act, refused to establish the escrow accounts requested by 

MSC.  Pl.’s Am. Compl. ¶ 53, Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp NA, No. 02-2539-CM 

(D. Kan. filed Nov. 12, 2002) (hereinafter “US Bancorp Am. Compl.”) (Attached as Ex. 1).  

MSC claimed in that litigation that US Bancorp’s conduct “prevented [MSC] from entering the 

healthcare supplier/distribution market by refusing to act as a supplier of financial services and 

facilities in the form of escrow accounts . . . .”  US Bancorp Am. Compl. ¶ 103.  In an affidavit 

attached to its complaint in the US Bancorp Action, MSC’s chairman, Samuel Lipari, stated that 

US Bancorp’s conduct had been “devastating to [MSC’s] ability to enter the market.”  MSC 

similarly alleges in its Amended Complaint in this case that US Bancorp’s conduct “prevented it 

from beginning its operations.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 4.   

 On December 18, 2002 this Court denied MSC’s request to enjoin US Bancorp’s conduct 

and on June 16, 2003 this Court dismissed MSC’s Complaint, characterizing some of MSC’s 

allegations as “completely divorced from rational thought.”  2003 WL 21479192, at *8.  MSC 

nowhere alleges that it has been able to recover from the harm allegedly inflicted by US Bancorp 
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or that it would be able to enter the market given this Court’s refusal to enjoin US Bancorp’s 

conduct. 

 MSC’s Dispute with the Defendants.  MSC’s interaction with the Defendants began 

with MSC looking to sublease a portion of the Blue Springs Building.  Am. Compl. ¶ 19.  GETS 

leased the entire building as a result of its acquisition of Harmon Industries, but had vacated the 

building.  Am. Compl. ¶ 20.  When GE’s leasing agent for the building was unwilling to sub-

lease only a part of the building, MSC obtained from the owner of the building a letter of intent 

to sell the entire building to MSC for $5.4 million.  Am. Compl. ¶ 21.  In the case of such a sale, 

GE would remain as a lessee of the Blue Springs Building. 

 As a result of US Bancorp’s conduct, MSC was unable to obtain financing to purchase 

the building from a national bank.  Am. Compl. ¶ 23.  On or about May 15, 2003, Bret Landrith, 

MSC’s counsel, wrote to George Fricke, a property manager at GE, offering to release GE from 

its remaining lease obligations on the building.  Am. Compl. ¶ 25.  The offer contained a number 

of express conditions, however.  Specifically, the offer was “contingent on . . . the City of Blue 

Springs’ approval of Medical Supply Chain’s purchase and occupation of the building,” and 

“contingent upon GE Capital securing a twenty year mortgage on the property with a first year 

moratorium.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 25.  In closing the letter, MSC sought the name of a contact person 

at GE Capital.  Am. Compl. ¶ 25. 

 On May 15th, Mr. Fricke left a voice mail message stating that “we will accept that 

transaction,” and on the same day he followed up with an e-mail stating that “GE will accept 

your proposal to terminate the existing lease.”  Am. Compl. ¶¶ 26-27.  MSC does not allege that 

Mr. Fricke purported to accept MSC’s mortgage proposal on behalf of GE Capital or that Mr. 

Fricke was even authorized to act on behalf of GE Capital.  Nor does MSC allege that anyone 
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from GE Capital accepted MSC’s mortgage proposal orally or in writing either before or after 

GE Capital’s review of MSC’s loan application. 

 After reviewing MSC’s financial information, GE Capital did not finance MSC’s 

purchase of the building on the “unusual” terms MSC required.  Am. Compl. ¶ 30.  As a 

consequence, Medical Supply Chain filed this suit for damages under the Federal antitrust laws 

and state common law.  On August 15, before Defendants answered or otherwise moved in 

response to the Complaint, MSC filed an Amended Complaint. 

ARGUMENT 

I. MSC HAS NOT ALLEGED INJURY COGNIZABLE UNDER THE ANTITRUST 
LAWS. 

 It is basic that in order to sustain a claim under the antitrust laws, a plaintiff must show 

both but-for causation and “antitrust injury, which is to say injury of the type the antitrust laws 

were intended to prevent and that flows from that which makes defendants’ acts unlawful.”  

Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977).  MSC does not and 

cannot allege either type of injury here. 

A. MSC Has Not Alleged That Defendants Are The But-For Cause Of Its 
Alleged Injury. 

 In order to sustain an antitrust claim, a plaintiff must show “there is a causal connection 

between an antitrust violation and an injury sufficient to establish the violation as a substantial 

factor in the occurrence of damage . . . .”  Sharp v. United Airlines, Inc., 967 F.2d 404, 407 (10th 

Cir. 1992) (quoting Reibert v. Atl. Richfield Co., 471 F.2d 727, 731 (10th Cir. 1973)).  Therefore, 

the first question that must be asked in any antitrust case is whether “‘but for’ the violation, the 

injury would not have occurred.”  Greater Rockford Energy & Tech. Corp. v. Shell Oil, 998 F.2d 

391, 395 (7th Cir. 1993).  As the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit has held, “lack of 
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causation in fact is fatal to the merits of any antitrust claim.  Consequently, an essential element 

in plaintiffs’ claim is that the injuries alleged would not have occurred but for [the defendant’s] 

antitrust violation.”  Argus, Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 801 F.2d 38, 41 (2d Cir. 1986) (internal 

citation omitted).  MSC’s Amended Complaint must be dismissed because it failed to allege that 

GE or its subsidiaries are the cause in fact of MSC’s inability to compete.  Indeed, according to 

MSC’s own allegations, Defendants’ decisions not to extend financing or lease a building to 

MSC is not the but-for cause of MSC’s injury. 

 In its Amended Complaint filed against US Bancorp, Plaintiff claimed US Bancorp had 

“prevented [MSC] from entering the healthcare supplier/distribution market by refusing to act as 

a supplier of financial services and facilities in the form of escrow accounts . . . .”  US Bancorp 

Am. Compl. ¶ 103.  In addition, MSC claimed it has been “severely injured and is in danger of 

further injury resulting from [US Bancorp’s] actions in restraint of trade through their combining 

or conspiring with any other persons, to monopolize or attempt to monopolize any part of the 

trade or commerce.”  US Bancorp Am. Comp. ¶ 99.  Furthermore, in its Amended Complaint 

against GE, Plaintiff notes that US Bancorp had threatened MSC “with a malicious USA 

PATRIOT Act report to keep Medical Supply from entering the hospital supply market.”  Am. 

Compl. ¶ 23. Plaintiff has repeatedly asserted that the actions of US Bancorp were the cause of 

Plaintiff’s inability to compete.  MSC nowhere alleges that – notwithstanding US Bancorp’s 

conduct – it would have been able to compete in the relevant market but-for Defendants’ 

conduct.  This break in the chain of causation is fatal to US Bancorp’s claims because courts do 

not permit antitrust claims where plaintiff’s injuries do not flow “from that which makes 

defendants’ acts unlawful.”  Greater Rockford Energy and Tech. Corp. v. Shell Oil Co., 998 F.2d 

391, 401 (7th Cir. 1993) (quoting Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 489); see Federal Prescription Serv., 
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Inc. v. Am. Pharmaceutical Ass’n, 663 F.2d 253, 268-72 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (holding that mail-

order prescription service would have incurred the same costs regardless of defendant’s alleged 

anticompetitive conduct); Hodges v. WSM, Inc., 26 F.3d 36, 39 (6th Cir. 1994) (finding no 

antitrust injury where plaintiff suffered due to defendant’s rightful exercise of property rights, 

not defendant’s alleged anticompetitive behavior). 

B. MSC’S Inability To Obtain Financing Is Not Antitrust Injury Absent An 
Allegation That Consumers Were Harmed By Defendants’ Conduct. 

 At the time of its initial contact with the Defendants, MSC was seeking only to sublease a 

part of a building.  Am. Compl. ¶¶ 19-21.  Plaintiff nowhere alleges that it was even looking for 

financing (from GE Capital or anyone else) before it hatched its plan to turn a property lease into 

a financing vehicle.  MSC does not and cannot allege that its inability to lease a particular office 

building in Missouri has harmed its ability to compete or – more importantly – that it harmed 

consumers.  MSC’s Amended Complaint does not say what MSC would have done with the 

financing, or explain how MSC’s inability to secure financing from GE Capital impaired its 

ability to compete.  Plaintiff similarly fails to allege that consumers have been harmed by GE 

Capital’s decision to reject MSC’s financing application. 

 These failures doom MSC’s Complaint, because an antitrust complaint must be dismissed 

“absent allegations that [the defendant’s] conduct hampered [the plaintiff’s] ability to compete.”  

Classic Communications, Inc. v. Rural Tel. Serv. Co., Inc., 995 F. Supp. 1185, 1187 (D. Kan. 

1998).  MSC might have liked to have financing from GE Capital, but unless GE Capital’s 

failure to provide financing impaired MSC’s ability to compete in the relevant market, 

Defendants cannot have violated the antitrust laws.  See, e.g., GAF Corp. v. Circle Floor Co., 
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463 F.2d 752, 759 (2d Cir. 1972) (affirming dismissal of complaint where “the anticompetitive 

acts alleged in the complaint have not lessened [the plaintiff’s] ability to compete.”). 

II. MSC FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM UNDER SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN 
ACT. 

 Counts 1-4 of MSC’s Amended Complaint are based on Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1.  In addition to the fatal defects described above relevant to all of MSC’s antitrust 

claims, these claims fail because MSC has not alleged an actionable conspiracy and because 

even if it had, MSC has not alleged the existence of an agreement that unreasonably restrains 

trade. 

A. Plaintiff’s “Bare Bones” Allegations of Concerted Action Do Not Meet The 
Pleading Requirements Under Section 1. 

 A plaintiff must allege an agreement between two separate entities in order to withstand a 

motion to dismiss a Section 1 claim.  Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 

752, 767-68 (1984).  MSC’s barebones allegation that Defendants violated Section 1 by 

“refusing to deal or boycotting Medical Supply pursuant to their involvement in a cartel with 

other suppliers and electronic marketplaces in contract and conspiracy,”  Am. Compl. ¶ 36, is 

legally insufficient to survive a motion to dismiss. 

1. Counts 1 and 4 fail to state a claim because MSC does not identify the 
parties to the alleged conspiracy. 

 In Counts 1 and 4, Plaintiff alludes to an agreement between Defendants and “other 

healthcare suppliers” and agreements with “other suppliers and electronic marketplaces.”  Am. 

Compl. ¶¶ 33, 36.  These cursory statements do not sufficiently notify the Defendants of the 

nature of the agreements alleged and therefore fail to state a claim.  See Mountain View 

Pharmacy v. Abbott Labs., 630 F.2d 1383, 1387-88 (10th Cir. 1980).  In Mountain View 
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Pharmacy, the Plaintiff alleged twenty-eight defendants had engaged in tying arrangements and 

price fixing in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, but did not specify which defendants 

were the conspiring parties.  Despite the fact that the conspiracy allegation was limited to the 

named parties in the suit, the court affirmed dismissal, holding that ‘[a] blanket statement that 

twenty-eight defendants have conspired to fix prices . . . to thirteen plaintiffs does not provide 

adequate notice for responsive pleading.”  Id. at 1388.  Indeed, in this case, unlike Mountain 

View Pharmacy, the plaintiff has not even identified the universe of alleged co-conspirators by 

naming them as defendants in the Amended Complaint. 

 In addition to identifying the alleged conspirators, Mountain View Pharmacy, supra, the 

complaint must “provide, whenever possible, some details of the time, place and alleged effect of 

the conspiracy; it is not enough merely to state that a conspiracy has taken place.”  Estate Constr. 

Co. v. Miller & Smith Holding Co., 14 F.3d 213, 221 (4th Cir. 1994).  MSC’s Amended 

Complaint fails this test.  MSC does not – and cannot consistent with Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 – allege 

that the Defendants agreed with any third party to deny MSC financing or the sublease of an 

office building. 

 MSC’s Amended Complaint never elaborates on the alleged conspiracy other than to 

simply assert that such an agreement exists.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 33-36.  Because of Medical 

Supply Chain’s failure to allege any of the required particulars, “[d]ismissal of [this] ‘bare 

bones’ allegation of antitrust conspiracy without any supporting facts is appropriate.”  Estate 

Constr. Co., 14 F.3d at 221; TV Communications Network, Inc. v. Turner Network Television, 

Inc., 964 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th Cir. 1992) (“Conclusory allegations that the defendant violated 

[the antitrust] laws are insufficient.”).  Because MSC has failed to plead the particulars of the 

alleged conspiracy, Counts 1 and 4 must be dismissed. 
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2. Counts 2 and 3 fail to state a claim because the Defendants are legally 
incapable of conspiring with each other. 

 Counts 2 and 3 of the Amended Complaint identify only the Defendants as members of 

the alleged conspiracy.  See Am. Compl. ¶ 34 (“The Defendants have through their repudiation 

of their agreement to buy out their lease and provide financing, furthered their monopoly . . . .”); 

Am. Compl. ¶ 35 (“The defendants’ repudiation of the financing cut off access to a facility 

necessary to enable Medical Supply to capitalize its entry into the North American hospital 

supply e-commerce market . . . .”).  As Plaintiff acknowledges in the first sentence of the 

Amended Complaint, GE Capital and GE Transportation Systems are subsidiaries of General 

Electric Corporation.  Furthermore, Plaintiff notes that Mr. Immelt is an officer of GE.  Am. 

Compl. ¶ 10.  Under Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., a parent corporation, its 

subsidiaries, officers, directors and employees are incapable as a matter of law of conspiring with 

each other.  467 U.S. at 771 (“[T]he coordinated activity of a parent and its wholly-owned 

subsidiary must be viewed as that of a single enterprise for purposes of § 1 of the Sherman 

Act.”); id. at 769 (“The officers of a single firm are not separate economic actors . . . .”); Medical 

Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192, at *3; see also In re Ind. Serv. Orgs. 

Antitrust Litig., 85 F. Supp. 2d 1130, 1149 (D. Kan. 2000).  Therefore, in accordance with the 

Supreme Court’s holding in Copperweld, Counts 2 and 3 must be dismissed for failing to state a 

claim for which relief may be granted. 

B. MSC Lacks Standing To Challenge The Cartel Alleged In Count 4. 

 Count 4 fails, as described above, because MSC has not sufficiently alleged a conspiracy.  

(It also fails, as described in Part I of this brief, because MSC cannot show injury.)  To the extent 

that Count 4 alleges that Defendants have formed a cartel and agreed to “maintain their inflated 

price structure” resulting in overcharges to hospitals, Am. Compl. ¶ 36, that Count also fails 
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because MSC lacks standing.  MSC does not allege that it is a hospital, so it is not directly 

injured by the alleged conspiracy to charge high prices.  Indeed, as a competitor of the alleged 

cartel, MSC would benefit by any agreement to charge high prices, because MSC could either 

undercut the price to win business or profit from the cartel’s pricing “umbrella.”  The case law is 

thus unequivocal that MSC lacks standing to complain of the Defendants’ conduct.  Atlantic 

Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328, 339-40 (1990) (holding that a firm has not 

suffered antitrust injury where competitors have agreed to fix prices); Matsushita Elec. Indus. 

Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 582-83 (1986) (same); Anesthesia Advantage, Inc. v. 

Metz Group, 759 F. Supp. 638, 645-46 (D. Colo. 1991) (holding that plaintiffs had “no standing 

to assert [against its competitors] the price fixing claim independently or as a larger conspiracy, 

even assuming that the defendants were price fixing.”). 

C. Even If The Amended Complaint Adequately Alleged A Conspiracy Between 
the Defendants and GHX, The Facts Do Not Allege An Agreement That 
Would Be Unlawful. 

 Although the Amended Complaint never explicitly alleges that any Defendant agreed 

with GHX to deny MSC access to financing or the sublease of an office building, even if such an 

agreement were adequately alleged, it would not violate the antitrust laws. 

1. Any agreement between Defendants and Global Healthcare Exchange 
would be a vertical agreement to be analyzed under the antitrust 
“rule of reason.” 

 MSC claims that the Defendants’ refusal to deal is per se unlawful restraint of trade under 

Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  Am. Compl. ¶ 34.  But there is no allegation that any Defendant 

agreed with any firm that competes with that Defendant to disadvantage MSC.  Specifically, 

there is – and could be – no allegation that GE or GETS agreed with any competing supplier of 

office space to deny office space to MSC or that GE Capital agreed with any competing supplier 
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of financing to deny financing to MSC.  There is no allegation that Mr. Immelt had any 

involvement whatsoever in the deciding whether MSC would get a mortgage or office space, let 

alone that he agreed with any competitor of any GE business.  Even if the Amended Complaint 

adequately alleged an agreement between a Defendant and GHX, it would be a vertical 

agreement because no Defendant is alleged to compete with GHX.  See Bus. Elecs. Corp. v. 

Sharp Elecs. Corp., 485 U.S. 717, 730 (1988) (“Restraints imposed by agreement between 

competitors have traditionally been denominated as horizontal restraints, and those imposed by 

agreement between firms at different levels of distribution as vertical restraints.”). 

 Vertical agreements (except for vertical price fixing, which is not alleged here) are 

analyzed under the antitrust “rule of reason.”  Bus. Elecs., 485 U.S. at 730-31. 

2. An exclusive dealing arrangement between Defendants and GHX 
would be lawful under the rule of reason. 

 A vertical agreement in which firms agree that they will deal only with each other (or not 

deal with each others’ competitors) is an “exclusive dealing arrangement.”  Town Sound & 

Custom Tops, Inc. v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 959 F.2d 468, 473 n.2 (3d Cir. 1992).  Exclusive 

dealing arrangements, like other non-price vertical restraints, are analyzed under the rule of 

reason.  Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 44-45 (1984) (O’Connor, J., 

concurring); Bus. Elecs., supra. 

 Application of the rule of reason means that the exclusive dealing arrangement is 

unlawful only if the Defendants have market power, which is defined as “the power to control 

prices or the power to exclude competition.”  Westman Comm’n Co. v. Hobart Int’l, Inc., 796 

F.2d 1216, 1225 n.3 (10th Cir. 1986).  See SCFC ILC, Inc. v. VISA U.S.A., Inc., 36 F.3d 958, 965 
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(10th Cir. 1994) (proof of market power “is a critical first step, or ‘screen,’ or ‘filter,’ which is 

often dispositive of the case”). 

 MSC does not allege that GE or GETS has market power in the market for commercial 

real estate leasing or that GE Capital has market power in the financing market.  Mr. Immelt 

plainly does not have market power in any antitrust market.  This dooms MSC’s exclusive 

dealing claims, for an exclusive dealing arrangement is unlawful “only when a significant 

fraction of buyers or sellers are frozen out of a market by the exclusive deal.”  Jefferson Parish, 

466 U.S. at 45 (O’Connor, J., concurring).  In Jefferson Parish an exclusive dealing arrangement 

that foreclosed competitors from 30% of the available market was found lawful, id., and other 

cases refused to find liability where as much as 40% of the available market was foreclosed to 

competitors.3  There are many other suppliers of office space leases and financing (even if banks 

are excluded), and neither GETS nor GE Capital could have a 40% share in any plausible 

market.  Because MSC does not and cannot allege that Defendants have market power, any 

agreement with GHX not to deal with MSC – if it existed – would be lawful.  There is no 

conceivable set of facts that MSC could allege that would support an exclusive dealing claim, 

and MSC’s Section 1 claims should be dismissed with prejudice. 

III. MSC FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM UNDER SECTION 2 OF THE SHERMAN 
ACT. 

 Counts 5 through 9 allege violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2.  In 

addition to the fatal defects described in Part I relevant to all of MSC’s antitrust claims, these 

                                                 
3 See Omega Envtl., Inc. v. Gilbarco, Inc., 127 F.3d 1157, 1162-65 (9th Cir. 1997) (granting 
summary judgment notwithstanding foreclosure levels of 38%); Sewell Plastics, Inc. v. Coca-
Cola, 720 F. Supp. 1196, 1212-14 (W.D.N.C. 1989) (34-40% insufficient to sustain exclusive 
dealing claim), aff’d mem., 912 F.2d 463 (4th Cir. 1990); Kuck v. Benson, 647 F. Supp. 743, 746 
(D. Me. 1986) (37% insufficient). 
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counts fail because MSC has failed to allege a proper relevant market, failed to allege that the 

Defendants have monopoly power or a dangerous probability of obtaining such power, and failed 

to allege actionable anticompetitive conduct. 

A. MSC’s Section 2 Claims Must Be Dismissed Because MSC Has Failed To 
Define A Proper Relevant Market. 

 A plaintiff is required to establish a relevant market to prevail on a monopolization or 

attempted monopolization claim under Section 2 of the Sherman Act.  Lantec, Inc. v. Novell, 

Inc., 306 F.3d 1003, 1024 (10th Cir. 2002).  See generally Walker Process Equip., Inc. v. Food 

Mach. & Chem. Corp., 382 U.S. 172, 177 (1965) (“Without a definition of that market there is 

no way to measure [a defendant’s] ability to lessen or destroy competition.”).  A proper relevant 

market consists of all products or services that are reasonably interchangeable.  United States v. 

E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 395 (1956).  In this case, MSC alleges that the 

relevant market is “hospital supplies delivered through e-commerce in North America.”  Am. 

Compl. ¶ 37.  This market definition fails as a matter of law, mandating the dismissal of counts 

5, 6, 7, 8 and 9. 

 A market definition must be plausible to survive a motion to dismiss.  See TV 

Communications Network, 964 F.2d at 1028 (affirming dismissal because the plaintiff “did not 

allege a relevant product market which [the defendant] was capable of monopolizing, attempting 

to, or conspiring to monopolize in violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act.”); Adidas Am., Inc. 

v. NCAA, 64 F. Supp. 2d 1097, 1102 (D. Kan. 1999) (to survive a motion to dismiss, the plaintiff 

“must allege a relevant market that includes all [products or services] that are reasonably 

interchangeable”).  In Adidas America, Judge Van Bebber dismissed a complaint alleging 

monopolization of a market for “NCAA promotional rights” where the plaintiff “failed to explain 
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or even address why other similar forms of advertising . . . are not reasonably interchangeable.”  

64 F. Supp. 2d at 1102.  MSC’s Amended Complaint suffers from the same defect – it fails to 

explain why “hospital supplies through e-commerce” is a proper market. 

 The market cannot be limited to “hospital supplies through e-commerce” simply because 

that is the only way that MSC plans to sell hospital supplies.  “[A]n antitrust plaintiff may not 

define a market so as to cover only the practice complained of, this would be circular or at least 

result-oriented reasoning.”  Adidas Am., 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1102.  Rather, the market alleged in a 

complaint must be justified through application of the relevant legal principles for market 

definition.  As Judge Van Bebber noted:  

‘Where [an antitrust] plaintiff fails to define its proposed relevant market with 
reference to the rule of reasonable interchangeability and cross-elasticity of 
demand, or alleges a proposed relevant market that clearly does not encompass all 
interchangeable substitute products even when all factual inferences are granted in 
plaintiff’s favor, the relevant market is legally insufficient and a motion to dismiss 
may be granted.’ 

Adidas Am., 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1102 (quoting Queen City Pizza, Inc. v. Domino’s Pizza, Inc., 124 

F.3d 430, 436-37 (3d Cir. 1997) and collecting cases). 

 MSC’s relevant market fails as a matter of law because it is both too broad and too 

narrow.  MSC’s “hospital supplies through e-commerce” market is too broad because MSC fails 

to address how the market could be broad enough to include all hospital supplies, from bandages 

to CT scanners.  A bandage is obviously not “reasonably interchangeable” with a CT scanner.  

MSC’s market is too narrow because the Amended Complaint fails to explain why the market 

may be limited to “hospital supplies through e-commerce.”  Just as the complaint in Adidas 

America was dismissed because the plaintiff failed to explain why other forms of advertising 

were not substitutes, MSC’s Amended Complaint must be dismissed because it fails to explain 
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why other ways of selling hospital supplies (such as selling through telemarketing, catalogs or a 

direct sales force) are not reasonable substitutes.  Indeed, MSC’s Amended Complaint 

recognizes that “hospital supplies through e-commerce” competes with traditional ways of 

buying supplies.  See, e.g., Am. Compl. ¶ 3 (describing how the use of e-commerce can replace 

the tradition hospital supply chain). 

B. Even If “Hospital Supplies Through E-Commerce” Were A Market, 
Defendants Cannot Monopolize Or Attempt To Monopolize A Market In 
Which They Do Not Compete. 

 Even if “hospital supplies through e-commerce” were a proper market, MSC’s Amended 

Complaint is fundamentally flawed because none of the Defendants are alleged to compete in the 

“hospital supplies through e-commerce market.”  A plaintiff claiming monopolization must 

allege that the defendant possesses “monopoly power in the relevant market,” and a plaintiff 

claiming attempted monopolization must allege that the defendant has a “dangerous probability 

of success in monopolizing the relevant market.”  Full Draw Productions v. Easton Sports, Inc., 

182 F.3d 745, 756 (10th Cir. 1999).  The defendant’s market share is a key factor in determining 

whether it has either monopoly power or a dangerous probability of obtaining such power.  Id.  

Monopolization generally requires a share of 70% or more, Colorado Interstate Gas v. Natural 

Gas Pipeline, 885 F.2d 683, 694 n.18 (10th Cir. 1989), while establishing an attempt to 

monopolize generally requires a share of at least 30%, and shares less than 50% rarely support a 

claim for attempted monopolization.  See, e.g., Rebel Oil Co. v. Atl. Richfield Co., 51 F.3d 1421, 

1438 (9th Cir. 1995) (“a market share of 30 percent is presumptively insufficient to establish the 

power to control price”); US Anchor Mfg. Co. v. Rule Indus., 7 F.3d 986, 1001 (11th Cir. 1993) 

(“[B]ecause [defendant] possessed less than 50% of the market at the time the alleged predation 
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began and throughout the time when it was alleged to have continued, there was no dangerous 

probability of success as a matter of law.”). 

 Because none of the Defendants are alleged to compete in the purported “hospital 

supplies through e-commerce market,” their market share is zero.  It is plain that a defendant 

cannot be guilty of monopolizing or attempting to monopolize a market in which it does not 

compete.  See, e.g., Aquatherm v. Florida Power & Light, 145 F.3d 1258, 1261 (11th Cir. 1998) 

(affirming district court’s dismissal of a Section 2 claim because electric power company did not 

compete in the relevant market); Pastore v. Bell Tel. Co., 24 F.3d 508, 513 (3d Cir. 1994) 

(“Without any share in the relevant market as described by plaintiffs, there can be no inference 

that defendants hold sufficient economic power in that market to create a dangerous probability 

of monopoly.”). 

 MSC does allege that GHX (in which GE is an investor) and Neoforma, another “hospital 

supplies through e-commerce” competitor, have a combined share of 80%.  But this does not 

save MSC’s Amended Complaint.  First, the combined share of GHX and Neoforma is irrelevant 

to any Section 2 analysis.  “[I]n order to sustain a charge of monopolization or attempted 

monopolization, a plaintiff must allege the necessary market domination of a particular 

defendant.”  H.L. Hayden Co. of New York, Inc. v. Siemens Med. Sys., Inc., 879 F.2d 1005, 1018 

(2d Cir. 1989) (rejecting attempt to show dangerous probability of success by aggregating shares 

of two defendants).  More fundamentally, however, the shares of GHX and Neoforma are 

irrelevant to this action; only the shares of the individual Defendants can be used to establish a 

violation of Section 2.  The share of GHX and Neoforma can no more be attributed to the 

Defendants than can they be attributed to each other. 

Case 2:03-cv-02324-CM-JPO     Document 9-1     Filed 08/21/2003     Page 28 of 43


923



 

- 21 - 

 The fact that GE owns an interest in GHX does not make GE (let alone the other 

defendants) a competitor in the market in which GHX allegedly competes.  For example, in 

Spanish Broadcast System, Inc. v. Clear Channel Communications, Inc., 242 F. Supp. 2d 1350 

(S.D. Fla. 2003), the defendant did not compete in the alleged relevant market, but did own 26% 

of a firm that did compete.  The court dismissed the plaintiff’s Section 2 claims, holding that this 

ownership interest did not convert the defendant into a competitor in the relevant market.  Id. at 

1363.  Accord Invamed, Inc. v. Barr Labs., Inc., 22 F. Supp. 2d 210, 219 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (“that 

the [Defendants] possess market power through their alleged ownership interests in [a market 

participant], standing alone, does not satisfy the pleading requirements of a monopolization or 

attempted monopolization claim.”). 

 In an attempt to mend this fatal deficiency, Plaintiff appears to argue in Count 7 that the 

Supreme Court’s holding in Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp. imputes the market 

in which Global Healthcare Exchange competes to GE and its subsidiaries.  Am. Compl. ¶ 39.  In 

Copperweld the Supreme Court held that a corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries are 

incapable of conspiring to restrain trade under Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  467 U.S. 752, 771 

(1984).  Copperweld does not mean that the Defendants compete in every market in which their 

affiliates compete.  Invamed, 22 F. Supp. 2d at 219 & n.2 (characterizing invocation of 

Copperweld as “curious[]” and noting that “the Court did not hold that members of a corporate 

group thus should be treated as a single enterprise under section 2.”). 

C. MSC Does Not Allege Actionable Anticompetitive Conduct. 

 Even if MSC alleged a relevant market and properly alleged that the Defendants had 

monopoly power or a dangerous probability of obtaining such power, MSC’s claims would still 

fail because it has not alleged that Defendants have acted anticompetitively to obtain or maintain 
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such power.  Section 2 is violated only “when monopoly power is gained or held by conduct 

constituting an abnormal response to market opportunities.”  Instructional Sys. Dev. Corp. v. 

Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co., 817 F.2d 639, 649 (10th Cir. 1987).  GE Capital’s refusal to extend 

credit on terms that MSC itself alleges to be “unusual” is not an “abnormal response to market 

opportunities.”  And though MSC trots out antitrust jargon like “essential facilities” and “change 

of pattern,” it fails to allege facts necessary to prevail under those theories.  “The use of antitrust 

‘buzz words’ does not supply the factual circumstances necessary to support [a plaintiff’s] 

conclusory allegations.”  TV Communications, 964 F.2d at 1026. 

1. MSC does not allege an unlawful refusal to deal or denial of an 
essential facility. 

 Count 7 and Count 9 allege that Defendants violated Section 2 through a “unilateral 

refusal to deal” or “denial of an essential facility.”4  Because an essential facilities claim is 

merely a subspecies of a refusal to deal claim, these two counts are indistinguishable.  Both fail 

for the same reason – it is not unlawful for a firm without monopoly power to refuse to deal. 

 MSC alleges two refusals to deal:  GE and GETS refused to sublease a building, and GE 

Capital refused to provide financing.  (Mr. Immelt is not alleged to have refused to deal at all.)  

These claims fail because neither GE, GETS, nor GE Capital is alleged to have a dangerous 

probability of obtaining monopoly power (let alone monopoly power itself).  As discussed 

above, no Defendant has a dangerous probability of obtaining monopoly power in the alleged 

“hospital supplies through e-commerce” market because none even competes in that market.  GE 

and GETS are nowhere alleged to have a dangerous probability of obtaining market power in any 

                                                 
4 These counts allege only unilateral conduct.  MSC’s allegations of a conspiracy to refuse to 
deal are found in Counts 1 and 3 and addressed in Part II, supra. 
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real estate market and GE Capital is not alleged to have a dangerous probability of obtaining 

market power in any market for financing.  The refusals to deal of GE, GETS and GE Capital are 

therefore necessarily lawful, for as the Supreme Court has recognized, “[i]n the absence of any 

purpose to create or maintain a monopoly, the [Sherman Act] does not restrict the long 

recognized right of trader or manufacturer engaged in an entirely private business, freely to 

exercise his own independent discretion as to parties with whom he will deal.”  United States v. 

Colgate & Co., 250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919). 

 Characterizing the refusal to deal as denial of an “essential facility” does not save MSC’s 

claims.  In order to establish liability under the essential facility doctrine, MSC must allege:  “(1) 

control of the essential facility by a monopolist; (2) a competitor’s inability practically or 

reasonably to duplicate the essential facility; (3) the denial of the use of the facility to a 

competitor; and (4) the feasibility of providing the facility.”  MCI Communications Corp. v. 

AT&T, 708 F.2d 1081, 1132-33 (7th Cir. 1983).  MSC fails to state an essential facilities claim 

because neither GE, GETS, nor GE Capital is alleged to be a monopolist and because none is 

alleged to compete with MSC.  See MCI, 708 F.2d at 1132 (monopolist must control facility); 

Interface Group, Inc. v. Massachusetts Port Auth., 816 F.2d 9, 12 (1st Cir. 1987) (rejecting 

essential facilities claim because “it is difficult to see how denying a facility to one who, like [the 

plaintiff], is not an actual or potential competitor could enhance or reinforce the monopolist’s 

market power.”). 

2. Count 8’s “change of pattern” claim does not state an antitrust 
violation. 

 In Count 8 (Am. Compl. ¶ 40), MSC alleges that GE “interrupted [its] pattern of 

distribution of property by denying the validity of an electronic contract . . .” and that this 
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somehow violated the antitrust laws, citing Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 

472 U.S. 585 (1985).  Liability was imposed in that case where “the monopolist elected to make 

an important change in a pattern of distribution that had originated in a competitive market and 

had persisted for several years.”  Id. at 603.  Because neither GETS nor GE Capital is alleged to 

be a monopolist in any relevant market, MSC’s Amended Complaint does not state a claim under 

Aspen Skiing. 

IV. MSC FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM UNDER SECTION 2(e) OF THE ROBINSON-
PATMAN ACT. 

 In Count 10 of the Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants have violated 

Section 2(e) of the Robinson-Patman Act.  Am. Compl. ¶ 42.  Section 2(e) makes it unlawful for 

a seller to: 

Discriminate in favor of one purchaser against another purchaser or purchasers of 
a commodity bought for resale . . . by . . . furnishing . . . any services or facilities 
connected with the processing, handling, sale, or offering for sale of such 
commodity so purchased upon terms not accorded to all purchasers on 
proportionally equal terms. 

15 U.S.C. § 13(e) (emphasis added). 

 As a threshold matter, the Robinson-Patman Act only bars price discrimination in the sale 

of commodities.  See, e.g., FTC v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 390 U.S. 341, 355-57 (1968).  MSC 

complains that Defendants have discriminated in the supply of a real estate lease or financing, 

Am. Compl. ¶ 40, but neither is a “commodity” within the ambit of Section 2(e).  See Bouldis v. 

U.S. Suzuki Motor Corp., 711 F.2d 1319, 1328 (6th Cir. 1983) (“[D]iscriminatory practices in the 

extension of credit . . . are beyond the scope of either § 2(d) or § 2(e)) (citing Murphy Oil Corp., 

674 F.2d at 1119 & n.7; Skinner v. United States Steel Corp., 233 F.2d 762, 765 (5th Cir. 1956)); 

Export Liquor Sales, Inc. v. Ammex Warehouse Co., 426 F.2d 251, 252 (6th Cir. 1970) (lease is 
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not a commodity); Valerio v. Boise Cascade Corp., 80 F.R.D. 626, 652 (C.D. Cal. 1978) (“It 

suffices to say that real estate and intangibles are not commodities within the meaning of the 

Act.”). 

 More fundamentally, MSC has not alleged a violation of the Robinson-Patman Act 

because it has not actually alleged “discrimination,” namely “two sales made by the same seller 

to at least two different purchasers at two different prices.”  DeLong Equip. Co. v. Washington 

Mills Electro Minerals Corp., 990 F.2d 1186, 1202 (11th Cir. 1993).  MSC’s claims fail because 

MSC does not – and cannot – identify any firm that obtained a lease or financing from a 

Defendant on more favorable terms. 

V. MSC’S STATE LAW CLAIMS FAIL AS A MATTER OF LAW. 

 In addition to the Sherman and Clayton Act claims, Medical Supply has also brought four 

state law claims against the Defendants:  (1) breach of contract; (2) fraudulent misrepresentation; 

(3) breach of duty of care and fair dealing; and (4) bad faith.  The Court has jurisdiction over 

these claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).5  If the Court dismisses the federal claims, the 

most logical response with regard to the state law claims would be to dismiss those claims as 

well.  United States v. Botefuhr, 309 F.3d 1263, 1273 (10th Cir. 2002). 

 Notwithstanding the jurisdictional issue pertaining to Medical Supply’s state law claims, 

the claims must be dismissed because Medical Supply has not properly pled cognizable causes of 

action under Missouri law, which applies to this case because Missouri has the most significant 

relationship to the cause of action and the parties.  Plaintiff is a Missouri corporation, 

                                                 
5 MSC appears to assert that there is diversity of citizenship, Am. Compl. ¶ 2, but fails to allege 
the state of incorporation or principal place of business of any of the Defendants. 
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Defendants’ alleged misconduct took place in Missouri, and the allegations in the Amended 

Complaint concern real property in Missouri.  Dorman v. Emerson Elec. Co., 23 F.3d 1354, 1358 

(8th Cir. 1994) (citing Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 145).  See also Commercial 

Union Assurance Co. v. Hartford Ins. Co., 86 F. Supp. 2d 921, 923-24 (E.D. Mo. 2000) (citing 

Restatement (Second) Conflicts of Laws § 188).6 

A. All State Law Claims Against Mr. Immelt Should Be Dismissed. 

MSC’s state law claims are asserted against all Defendants, apparently including Mr. 

Immelt, GE’s CEO.  As described in detail below, all of the state law claims suffer from fatal 

defects with regard to the corporate defendants.  Those same failings are equally applicable to 

the claims against Mr. Immelt.  At an even more basic level, however, Mr. Immelt is not alleged 

to have had any personal involvement in any of the conduct that forms the basis of MSC’s state 

law claims.  He certainly is not alleged to personally be a party to any contract with MSC, to 

have made fraudulent misrepresentations to MSC, to have owed or breached a duty of good faith 

to MSC, or to have acted in bad faith.  

B. Count 11 (Breach of Contract) Should Be Dismissed Because MSC Does Not 
Allege Satisfaction Of Two Conditions Precedent. 

1. Contract claim against GE. 

 The basis for MSC’s breach of contract claim is that the May 15, 2003 letter from its 

corporate counsel, Bret Landrith, to GE Commercial Properties (George Fricke) and Fricke’s 

voice mail and e-mail of the same day responding to Landrith’s proposal constitute a written 

agreement.  Am. Compl. ¶¶ 26, 27, 43.  However, pursuant to Landrith’s proposal, the “offer is 

                                                 
6 MSC appears to agree that Missouri law applies to its claims.  See, e.g., Am. Compl. ¶ 48 
(citing “Missouri case law”). 
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contingent on . . . the City of Blue Springs’ approval of Medical Supply Chain’s purchase and 

occupation of the building and is contingent upon GE Capital securing a twenty year mortgage 

on the building and the property with a first year moratorium.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 25.  Thus, under 

the terms of MSC’s offer, there were at least two express conditions precedent to the formation 

of any contract:  (1) the approval of the City of Blue Springs; and (2) the agreement by GE 

Capital to provide a twenty year mortgage on the terms stated.   

 The satisfaction of a condition precedent must either be alleged in the complaint or MSC 

must state a reason for its non-performance.  Lowery v. Air Support Int’l., Inc., 982 S.W.2d 326, 

330 (Mo. App. 1998) (citing Globe Am. Corp. v. Miller Hatcheries, Inc., 110 S.W.2d 393, 396 

(Mo. App. 1937)).  MSC’s breach of contract claim must be dismissed because it does not and 

cannot allege satisfaction of either condition. 

 At most, MSC alleges that it introduced itself to the City of Blue Springs Economic 

Development Committee.  Am. Compl. ¶ 44.  MSC is conspicuously silent, however, regarding 

whether the City of Blue Springs approved Medical Supply’s purchase and occupation of the 

building at 1600 N.E. Coronado Drive, and it is silent as to any reason or excuse as to why the 

City did not provide the necessary approval.  MSC’s silence regarding this condition precedent is 

fatal and its breach of contract claim against GE must fail.  Lowery, 982 S.W.2d at 330. 

 The Amended Complaint also fails to allege satisfaction of the other condition precedent, 

acceptance by GE Capital of a mortgage on the terms required by MSC.  To the extent the 

Amended Complaint suggests that this condition precedent was satisfied by Fricke’s acceptance 

of Landrith’s contingent offer, the facts alleged in the Amended Complaint make clear that 

Fricke – who is alleged to work for GE and not for GE Capital or GETS (Am. Compl. ¶ 43) – 

was speaking on behalf of GE and no other GE entity (and certainly not on behalf of Mr. 
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Immelt).  Even if Fricke accepted the contract on behalf of GE, GE’s acceptance of the 

contingent contract for the buyout of a lease would not bind GE Capital to extend a mortgage to 

MSC.  In a breach of contract action, “two separate corporations are to be regarded as distinct 

legal entities, even if the stock of one is owned partly or wholly by the other.”  Mid-Missouri Tel. 

Co. v. Alma Tel. Co., 18 S.W.3d 578, 582 (Mo. App. 2000) (finding no breach of contract signed 

by an affiliate).   

 The Amended Complaint alleges only that George Fricke told MSC that he “was the 

authority for the building at 1600 NE Coronado Dr.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 43.  The Amended 

Complaint does not allege that GE Capital told MSC that Fricke could accept a contract on its 

behalf or even that Fricke suggested he had such authority.  Cf. Essco Geometric v. Harvard 

Indus., 46 F.3d 718, 726 (8th Cir. 1995) (“Under Missouri law, apparent authority is created by 

the conduct of the principal which causes a third person reasonably to believe that the purported 

agent has the authority to act for the principal, and to reasonably and in good faith rely on the 

authority held out by the principal.”).   

 Indeed, MSC plainly understood that Fricke was not acting for GE Capital because in its 

May 15 proposal to GE Commercial Properties, MSC requested that Fricke provide it with “a 

contact person for GE Capital or its mortgage agent.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 25.  MSC’s conduct is 

consistent with its recognition that Fricke had not accepted MSC’s mortgage terms in his May 15 

voice mail or e-mail, because on May 22 MSC provided GE Capital with a “loan package that 

included its financials.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 29.  One does not make a loan application after the loan 

has been approved.   

 Because Fricke had neither actual nor apparent authority to act for GE Capital, GE 

Capital never accepted MSC’s offer of a mortgage, meaning that the second condition precedent 
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was not satisfied.  As neither of the two conditions precedent to the existence of a binding 

contract was satisfied, there was no contract between GE and MSC and could thus be no breach.  

MSC’s breach of contract claim against GE must therefore be dismissed. 

2. Contract claims against GE Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt. 

 Although it is unclear from MSC’s Amended Complaint, it appears that MSC has also 

asserted breach of contract claims against GE Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt.  Any contract 

between MSC and GE Capital, GETS, or Mr. Immelt would have to be “in writing and signed by 

the party to be charged therewith” to be enforceable under Missouri’s Statute of Frauds, Mo. 

Rev. Stat. § 432.010, given that MSC offer was for a contract that was not capable of 

performance within a year.  MSC’s allegations as to GE Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt must 

fail because there is no allegation of any agreement between MSC and these three Defendants, 

let alone a written contract signed by any of these Defendants  as required under the Statute of 

Frauds. 

 As discussed above, George Fricke did not and could not accept an offer on behalf of GE 

Capital, GETS, or Mr. Immelt.  See Mid-Missouri Tel. Co., 18 S.W.3d at 582.  Because GE 

Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt were not parties to the purported contract, they cannot be bound 

by the terms and obligations of the contract.  Cont’l Cas. Co. v. Campbell Design Group, Inc., 

914 S.W.2d 43, 44 (Mo. App. 1996) (A “basic legal premise [is] that a contract generally binds 

no one but the parties thereto, and it cannot impose any contractual obligations or liability on one 

not a party to it.”).  Accordingly, MSC has no claim for breach of contract against GE Capital, 

GETS, or Mr. Immelt. 
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C. Count 12 (Fraudulent Misrepresentation) Should Be Dismissed. 

 Count 12 of MSC’s Amended Complaint alleges that “Defendants” have 

gained the opportunity to destroy Medical Supply and prevent it from entering the 
hospital supply market by communicating by telephone and in written signed 
communication that they have accepted the Plaintiff’s offer and in overt actions 
demonstrating that they are in a binding agreement, including partial performance, 
when in fact they had no intention of being bound by the agreement once they 
discovered Medical Supply as an electronic marketplace would compete with 
GHX, LLC and go against their agreement with Neoforma to exclude 
competitors. 

Am. Compl. ¶ 48.  MSC’s claim is entirely deficient under Missouri law. 

1. Fraud claim Against GE. 

 Under Missouri law, there are nine elements of a fraudulent misrepresentation claim.  

MSC must show: 

1. representation; 

2. its falsity; 

3. its materiality; 

4. Defendant’s knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth; 

5. Defendant’s intent that the representation should be acted upon by Plaintiff in the manner 

reasonably contemplated; 

6. Plaintiff’s ignorance of falsity of representation; 

7. Plaintiff’s reliance on representation being true; 

8. Plaintiff’s right to rely thereon; and 

9. Plaintiff’s consequent and proximate injury. 

Joel Bianco Kawasaki Plus v. Merrimac Valley Bank, 81 S.W.3d 528, 536 (Mo. 2002). 
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 Furthermore, MSC’s claim for fraud must be plead with particularity.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

Rule 9(b).  See also City of Wellston v. Jackson, 965 S.W.2d 867, 870 (Mo. App. 1998) (“Every 

essential element of fraud must be plead, and failure to plead any element renders claim 

defective and subject to dismissal.”).  Here, MSC fails to allege all nine elements of a fraud 

claim.  MSC makes no allegation regarding materiality, its own ignorance, reliance, right to 

reliance or damages.  MSC’s failure to plead these essential elements renders its claim defective. 

 Moreover, the allegations MSC does set forth demonstrate there was no fraud.  In order 

for MSC to successfully plead a fraud claim, it must allege that GE knew that its statement that it 

would perform the proposed transaction with MSC was false at the time it agreed to enter into 

the transaction or that GE was ignorant as to the truth of whether it could perform the agreement 

with MSC.  See City of Warrensburg v. RCI Corp., 571 F. Supp. 743, 754 (W.D.Mo. 1983) 

(“The action for misrepresentation of an intention to perform an agreement is a recognized 

exception to the general rule under Missouri law that ‘[T]he giving of . . . a promise, even though 

breached the next day, is not such a fraudulent misstatement of fact as will support an action for 

tortious fraud.  The misrepresentation must be of existing fact.’”  (citations omitted)).  See also 

Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 530.   

 MSC’s fraud claim fails because the Amended Complaint fails to assert that the 

Defendants had no intention of performing their alleged agreements at the time that they 

allegedly accepted MSC’s offer.  In fact, MSC’s Amended Complaint alleges exactly the 

opposite.  In Paragraph 48, MSC alleges that Defendants had “no intention of being bound by the 

agreement once they discovered Medical Supply’s electronic marketplace would compete with 

GHX, LLC . . . .”  (emphasis added).  Thus, according to MSC’s own allegations, Defendants’ 

decision to not be bound by the agreement occurred after they allegedly entered into the 
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agreement.  MSC therefore cannot allege the fourth element of a fraudulent misrepresentation 

claim because MSC cannot show a misrepresentation of an existing fact.  As such, MSC does 

not, and cannot, state a claim of action for fraudulent misrepresentation.  See City of 

Warrensburg, 571 F.2d at 754. 

2. Fraud claims against GE Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt. 

 MSC does not allege that GE Capital, GETS, or Mr. Immelt made any representations to 

Medical Supply, let alone that such representations were false or material or that the speaker had 

knowledge of the falsity or was ignorant of the truth of the statement at the time the statement 

was made.  In short, MSC does not allege any of the nine elements necessary against GE Capital, 

GETS, or Mr. Immelt.  As such, MSC’s claim for fraudulent misrepresentation as to these three 

Defendants must fail. 

 Even if MSC’s Amended Complaint was construed so as to include a claim of fraudulent 

misrepresentation against GE Capital, GETS, or Mr. Immelt, the claim should fail for the same 

reason that the MSC’s claim of fraudulent misrepresentation should fail against GE.  MSC has 

not alleged that GE Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt had the intent of not complying with the 

agreement at the time the agreement was entered into.  Because of this failure, MSC’s fraudulent 

misrepresentation claims against GE Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt must be dismissed. 

D. Count 13 (Breach Of Duty Of Care And Fair Dealing) Should Be Dismissed. 

 In Count 13, MSC asserts a breach of good faith and fair dealing claim based on 

Defendants’ failure to perform the alleged contract and subsequent statements.  Under Missouri 

law, a breach of good faith and fair dealing is a breach of contract theory.  See Magruder Quarry 

& Co. v. Briscoe, 83 S.W.3d 647, 651 (Mo. App. 2002).  In order for MSC to successfully state 

the cause of action for breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing, it must first state a claim for 
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breach of contract.  As set forth above, MSC’s allegations of a contract are insufficient to state a 

claim and, as such, its breach of good faith and fair dealing claim also fails. 

E. Count 14 (Bad Faith) Should Be Dismissed. 

 Count 14 of MSC’s Amended Complaint alleges that the Defendants have acted in bad 

faith.  Missouri law does not recognize an independent cause of action for bad faith outside the 

unique context of disputes between insurance companies and their insureds regarding the 

settlement of claims.  See generally Quick v. Nat’l Auto Credit, 65 F.3d 741, 745 (8th Cir. 1995) 

(discussing basis of doctrine).  MSC cites Commercial Cotton Co. v. United Cal. Bank, 163 Cal. 

App. 3d 511, 516 (1985), for the existence of such a duty in the lending context, but Commercial 

Cotton has been overruled.  See Copesky v. Superior Court, 229 Cal. App. 3d 678 (1991).  Thus, 

even the California courts “have unanimously refused to sanction tort remedies outside the 

context of an insurance policy.”  Cates Constr., Inc. v. Talbot Partners, 980 P.2d 407, 418 n.9 

(Cal. 1999).  Accordingly, Count 14 should be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

 Not a single count in MSC’s 14-count Amended Complaint states a claim for which relief 

can be granted.  Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request that the Amended Complaint be 

dismissed per Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 
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      HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
      By: s/ John K. Power    
       John K. Power, KS Fed. #70448 

1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 
Kansas City, Missouri 64105 
Telephone:  (816) 421-4800 
Facsimile:   (816) 421-0596 

 
ARNOLD & PORTER 

Jonathan I. Gleklen 
Ryan Z. Watts 
555 12th Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20004 
Telephone:  (202) 942-5000 
Facsimile:   (202) 942-5999 

 
      ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS 
 

Case 2:03-cv-02324-CM-JPO     Document 9-1     Filed 08/21/2003     Page 42 of 43


937



 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 This is to certify that a copy of the foregoing has been served by overnight delivery this 

21st day of August, 2003 on  

 
Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
605 W. Kansas 
Pittsburg, Kansas 66762 
Counsel for Plaintiff  

 
 

s/ John K. Power     
John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

)
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., )

)
Plaintiff, )

) CIVIL ACTION
v. )

) No. 03-2324-CM
) 

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, et al., )
)

Defendants. )
                                                                              )

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Medical Supply Chain (MSC) brings this action against defendants General Electric

Company (GE), General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation (GE Capital), General

Electric Transportation Systems Global Business Signaling (GETS), and Jeffrey R. Immelt, Chief Executive

Officer of GE.  Plaintiff alleges that GE, GE Capital, GETS, and Immelt violated federal antitrust laws and

Missouri common law by refusing to sublease a building or provide financing to plaintiff.  This matter is

before the court on defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint (Doc. 8), plaintiff’s Request for

Extension of Time Under Local Rule 6.1 (Doc. 10), and defendants’ Motion for Rule 11 Sanctions (Doc.

13).

I. Plaintiff’s Request for Extension of Time Under Local Rule 6.1

On August 21, 2003, defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint (Doc. 8).  On

September 9, 2003, plaintiff requested an extension of time in which to answer defendants’ motion.  The

Case 2:03-cv-02324-CM-JPO     Document 23     Filed 01/29/2004     Page 1 of 11 

939 WOME 28



-2-

court hereby grants plaintiff’s request for an extension of time.  Accordingly, the court will consider plaintiff’s

response brief, which was filed on October 1, 2003.

II. Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint

A. Standards

The court will dismiss a cause of action for failure to state a claim only when it appears beyond a

doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of the theory of recovery that would entitle him or

her to relief, Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957); Maher v. Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d

1302, 1304 (10th Cir. 1998), or when an issue of law is dispositive, Neitzke v. Williams, 490 U.S. 319,

326 (1989).  The court accepts as true all well-pleaded facts, as distinguished from conclusory allegations,

Maher, 144 F.3d at 1304, and all reasonable inferences from those facts are viewed in favor of the plaintiff, 

Witt v. Roadway Express, 136 F.3d 1424, 1428 (10th Cir. 1998).  The issue in resolving a motion such as

this is not whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but whether he or she is entitled to offer evidence to

support the claims.  Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974), overruled on other grounds, Davis

v. Scherer, 468 U.S. 183 (1984).

B. Background Facts

1. The Parties

As alleged, plaintiff spent ten years developing technology and has spent the last three years

completing the research and development for commercialization of an Internet-based service to manage

strategic data and provide direct support to buyers and sellers that make up the healthcare supply chain. 

This service is designed to permit plaintiff to provide “hospital supplies through e-commerce.”
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Plaintiff alleges that defendant GE distributes equipment, parts, and credit services to hospitals. 

Plaintiff does not allege that GE provides any service (Internet-based or otherwise) relating to the healthcare

supply chain or that it competes in the business of selling “hospital supplies through e-commerce.”  GE is a

shareholder of Global Healthcare Exchange (GHX), which plaintiff alleges is an “electronic marketplace

promising online distribution at lower prices to hospitals” that competes in the market to provide hospital

supplies through e-commerce.  GE’s share of the ownership of GHX is not alleged, and GHX is not a

named defendant in this action.

Defendant Immelt is currently the Chief Executive Officer of GE.  Previously, as President of GE

Medical Systems, defendant Immelt oversaw GE’s capitalization of GHX in 2000.   Plaintiff alleges that

defendant Immelt allied GHX with the other Internet marketplace, Neoforma, Inc. (also not a party to this

action), to control 80% of the existing hospital supply e-commerce market.

Defendant GE Capital is a GE subsidiary performing GE’s commercial lending operations. GE

Capital is not alleged to provide hospital supply chain services or compete in providing hospital supplies

through e-commerce.

Defendant GETS, a GE subsidiary, is a global supplier of ground transportation products.  GETS

assumed a lease on a building at 1600 N.E. Coronado Drive, Blue Springs, Missouri (the “Blue

Springs Building”) when it bought Harmon Industries, Inc., a railroad signal company.  Like GE and GE

Capital, GETS is not alleged to provide hospital supply chain services or compete in hospital supplies

through e-commerce.

2. The Dispute
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On or about June 1, 2002, Samuel Lipari, Chief Executive Officer of plaintiff MSC, contacted a

leasing agent regarding the Blue Springs Building.  Lipari was interested in sub-leasing a portion of the

building wherein plaintiff could conduct its hospital e-commerce business.  The leasing agent indicated to

Lapari that the building already was leased and that the existing lessee only would sub-lease the entire

building.  GETS was the existing lessee at the time.

Lipari contacted the building owner, who agreed to sell plaintiff the building for the remaining

balance of GETS’s seven-year lease ($5.4 million).  The building owner provided Lipari with a letter of

intent to sell the building to plaintiff.  

As alleged, plaintiff was unable to obtain financing from a national bank to purchase the building.  On

or about May 15, 2003, plaintiff wrote a letter to George Fricke, a property manager at GE, offering to

release GE from its remaining lease obligations on the building provided that GE pay plaintiff at closing for

the remainder of the 2003 lease ($350,000).  Pursuant to the terms of the offer, GE Capital would provide

plaintiff a twenty-year mortgage ($6.4 million), with a moratorium on the first full year of mortgage payments. 

In closing the letter, plaintiff sought the name of a contact person at GE Capital.

On May 15, 2003, Fricke left a voice mail message stating that “we will accept that

transaction,” and on the same day he followed up with an e-mail stating that “GE will accept

your proposal to terminate the existing lease.”  Several days later, GETS representatives provided Lipari a

walk-through of the property.  Lipari also provided GE Capital representative Doug McKay with a loan

package, which included plaintiff’s financial information.
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Ultimately, GE Capital chose not to finance plaintiff’s purchase of the building and, as alleged by

plaintiff, repudiated the parties’ contract.  As a consequence, plaintiff filed this suit for damages under the

federal antitrust laws and state common law.

C. Discussion

1. Federal Antitrust Claims

Counts 1 through 4 of plaintiff’s Amended Complaint are based on Section 1 of the Sherman Act,

15 U.S.C. § 1.  In order to withstand a motion to dismiss a Section 1 claim, a plaintiff must allege an

agreement between two separate entities.  Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S.

752, 767-68 (1984).  Counts 5 through 9 allege violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

A plaintiff is required to establish a relevant market to prevail on a monopolization or

attempted monopolization claim under Section 2 of the Sherman Act.  Lantec, Inc. v. Novell, Inc., 306

F.3d 1003, 1024 (10th Cir. 2002).

Defendants set forth a variety of arguments why this case should be dismissed.  However, the court

need not address each and every argument because, at the most fundamental level, plaintiff’s antitrust claims

fail.

“[A]ntitrust law is concerned with abuses of power by private actors in the marketplace.  Therefore,

before we can reach the larger question of whether [a defendant] violated any of the antitrust laws, we must

confront the threshold problem of defining the relevant market.”  Thompson v. Metro. Multi-List, Inc., 934

F.2d 1566, 1572 (11th Cir. 1991).  “Markets are defined in terms of two separate dimensions: products and

geography.”  Id.  Plaintiff refers to a relevant market of “hospital supplies delivered through e-commerce in

North America.”  (Am. Compl. ¶ 37.).
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Plaintiff never alleges that any of the named defendants either possess or are attempting to possess

market power in the relevant market of “hospital supplies delivered through e-commerce in North America.” 

The fact that defendant GE owns an interest in GHX, the percentage of which plaintiff does not allege, does

not make defendant GE (let alone the other defendants) a competitor in the market in which GHX allegedly

competes.  For example, in Spanish Broadcasting System, Inc. v. Clear Channel Communications, Inc.,

242 F. Supp. 2d 1350 (S.D. Fla. 2003), the defendant did not compete in the alleged relevant market, but

did own 26% of a firm that did compete.  The court dismissed the plaintiff’s antitrust claims, holding that this

ownership interest did not convert the defendant into a competitor in the relevant market.  Id. at 1363. 

Accord Invamed, Inc. v. Barr Labs., Inc., 22 F. Supp. 2d 210, 219 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (“that the

[defendants] possess market power through their alleged ownership interests in [a market participant],

standing alone, does not satisfy the pleading requirements of a monopolization or attempted monopolization

claim.”).

Because plaintiff does not allege that any of the named defendants compete in the market of

“hospital supplies delivered through e-commerce in North America,” the court turns to whether plaintiff has

alleged an agreement with a market participant who does compete in that market.  

In the Amended Complaint, plaintiff alludes to an agreement between defendants and “other

healthcare suppliers” and agreements with “other suppliers and electronic marketplaces.” (Am. Compl. ¶¶

33, 36.)  As such, even if the Amended Complaint adequately alleged an agreement between any defendant

and GHX, or any defendant and Neoforma, Inc., it would be a vertical agreement, because no defendant is

alleged to compete with either of these companies.  See Bus. Elecs. Corp. v. Sharp Elecs. Corp., 485

U.S. 717, 730 (1988) (“Restraints imposed by agreement between competitors have traditionally been
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denominated as horizontal restraints, and those imposed by agreement between firms at different levels of

distribution as vertical restraints.”).

With that in mind, a vertical agreement in which firms agree that they will deal only with each other

(or not deal with each others’ competitors) is considered an “exclusive dealing arrangement.”  Town Sound

& Custom Tops, Inc. v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 959 F.2d 468, 473 n.2 (3rd Cir. 1992).  Exclusive

dealing arrangements, like other non-price vertical restraints, are analyzed under the rule of reason. 

Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 44-45 (1984).

Among other things, this means a plaintiff seeking to challenge an exclusive dealing arrangement must

demonstrate the defendant possesses market power, as this is a prerequisite to being able to restrain trade

unreasonably.  Reazin v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kan., Inc., 663 F. Supp. 1360, 1478 (D. Kan.

1987).  In other words, the exclusive dealing arrangement is unlawful only if the defendants have market

power, which is defined as “the power to control prices or the power to exclude competition.”  Westman

Comm’n Co. v. Hobart Int’l, Inc., 796 F.2d 1216, 1225 n.3 (10th  Cir. 1986).

As previously stated, plaintiff never alleges that any of the named defendants either possess or are

attempting to possess market power in the relevant market of “hospital supplies delivered through e-

commerce in North America.”  Rather, plaintiff’s antitrust claims are based upon defendants’ denial of

corporate financing and its refusal to transfer real property to plaintiff.  As such, the market that the court

must consider in determining whether defendants engaged in anti-competitive conduct is the commercial real

estate market and the related market of potential financiers.  

Defendants are by no means the only holders of commercial real estate in Blue Springs, Missouri,

and in no way control the commercial real-estate financing market.  Even more importantly, plaintiff does not
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allege such facts.  It appears from the Amended Complaint that plaintiff sought and was denied financing

from other financial institutions.  However, plaintiff cannot sustain an antitrust claim against defendants – the

final party to deny financing – absent an allegation that defendants possessed market power such that

defendants’ denial of financing left plaintiff with no alternative and kept plaintiff from entering the e-

commerce hospital supply market.  Plaintiff’s inability to obtain financing could be due to a variety of factors

and does not, in itself, give rise to an antitrust claim against a potential investor who may have decided to

either avoid risk or to expend its resources elsewhere.  Defendant GE Capital’s refusal to extend credit on

terms that plaintiff itself alleges to be “unusual,” which included a below-market interest rate, an unusually

lengthy term, and forbearance on interest payments for one year, does not constitute anti-competitive

conduct.

There simply exists no allegation that defendants had the ability, through their denial of financing or

the lease of office space, to lessen or destroy competition in the market of hospital supplies through e-

commerce.  Coastal Fuels v. Caribbean Petroleum Corp., 79 F.3d 182, 196 (1st Cir. 1996) (“To

determine whether a party has or could acquire monopoly power in a market, ‘courts have found it

necessary to consider the relevant market and the defendant’s ability to lessen or destroy competition in that

market.’”) (quoting Spectrum Sports, Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S. 447, 456 (1993)).  Accordingly, even

assuming as true the facts alleged in the Amended Complaint, the court concludes that defendants’ conduct

was not unlawful under the federal antitrust laws.

3. Robinson-Patman Act Claim

Count 10 of the Amended Complaint alleges that defendants have violated Section 2(e) of the

Robinson-Patman Act.  Section 2(e) makes it unlawful for a seller to:
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Discriminate in favor of one purchaser against another purchaser or purchasers
of a commodity bought for resale . . . by . . . furnishing . . . any services or
facilities connected with the processing, handling, sale, or offering for sale of
such commodity so purchased upon terms not accorded to all purchasers on
proportionally equal terms.

15 U.S.C. § 13(e) (emphasis added).

As a threshold matter, the Robinson-Patman Act only bars price discrimination in the sale

of commodities.  See, e.g., FTC v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 390 U.S. 341, 355-57 (1968).  Plaintiff asserts that

defendants have discriminated in the supply of a real estate lease or financing, but neither is a “commodity”

within the ambit of Section 2(e).  See Bouldis v. U.S. Suzuki Motor Corp., 711 F.2d 1319, 1328 (6th Cir.

1983) (“[D]iscriminatory practices in the extension of credit . . . are beyond the scope of either § 2(d) or §

2(e)); Export Liquor Sales, Inc. v. Ammex Warehouse Co., 426 F.2d 251, 252 (6th Cir. 1970) (lease is

not a commodity); Valerio v. Boise Cascade Corp., 80 F.R.D. 626, 652 (C.D. Cal. 1978) (“It suffices to

say that real estate and intangibles are not commodities within the meaning of the Act.”).  As such, the court

dismisses plaintiff claim under the Robinson-Patman Act

4. State Law Claims

Federal district courts have supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims that are part of the “same

case or controversy” as federal claims.  28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  “[W]hen a district court dismisses the federal

claims, leaving only the supplemental state claims, the most common response has been to dismiss the state

claim or claims without prejudice.”  United States v. Botefuhr, 309 F.3d 1263, 1273 (10th Cir. 2002)

(quotation marks, alterations, and citation omitted).  If the parties have already expended “‘a great deal of

time and energy on the state law claims,’ it is appropriate for the district court to retain supplemented state

claims after dismissing all federal questions.”  Villalpando v. Denver Health & Hosp. Auth., 2003 WL
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1870993, at *5 (10th Cir. 2003) (citing Botefuhr, 309 F.3d at 1273).  This court finds no compelling

reason to retain jurisdiction over the state law claims and dismisses them without prejudice.

III. Motion for Rule 11 Sanctions

Defendants move for sanctions under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, based on their

contentions that plaintiff filed its Amended Complaint for purposes of harassment and that plaintiff’s claims

were frivolous and based on neither law nor fact. 

The court recognizes that in a related case entitled Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp,

NA, this court reminded plaintiff’s counsel, Bret Landrith, of his obligations under Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 and

cautioned him “to take greater care in ensuring that the claims he brings on his clients’ behalf are supported

by the law and the facts.”  No. Civ. A. 02-2539-CM, 2003 WL 21479192, at *6 (D. Kan. June 16,

2003).  Notwithstanding, the court is unwilling at this juncture to conclude that plaintiff’s Amended

Complaint was so meritless or otherwise frivolous that sanctions are warranted.  Christiansburg Garment

Co. v. EEOC, 434 U.S. 412, 421, (1978) (district court must resist the “understandable temptation” of

concluding that the action was unreasonable or without foundation simply because the plaintiff did not

ultimately prevail).  Moreover, the court dismissed plaintiff’s state law claims, thereby leaving open the

question of whether or not those claims have a basis in law or fact.  The court denies defendants’ motion for

sanctions.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that plaintiff’s Request for Extension of Time Under Local Rule

6.1 (Doc. 10) is granted; defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint (Doc. 8) is granted, and

defendants’ Motion for Rule 11 Sanctions (Doc. 13) is denied.  This case is hereby dismissed.

Dated this    29     day of January 2004, at Kansas City, Kansas.
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s/ Carlos Murguia                                           
   CARLOS MURGUIA
   United States District Judge
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Defendant
Carpet n More

Defendant
Stewart Foster

Date Filed # Docket Text

07/17/2006 1 NOTICE OF REMOVAL by General Electric Company, General Electric
Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems
Globaling Signaling, LLC, General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC from Circuit Court of Jackson County, case number 0616-
CV07421. ( Filing fee $ 350 receipt number 1305698) filed by John K. Power
on behalf of General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset
Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC,
General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding
Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC.
(Attachments: # 1 Civil Cover Sheet # 2 Exhibit A# 3 Exhibit B# 4 Exhibit C -
Petition)(Power, John) (Entered: 07/17/2006)

07/18/2006 2 Notice of EAP Neutral (Attachments: # 1 EAP General Order)(Baldwin, Joella)
(Entered: 07/18/2006)

07/19/2006 3 ORDER - joint proposed discovery plan scheduling order due by 8/21/2006.
Counsel for defendants, after consultation with plaintiff, shall take the lead in
preparing a proposed scheduling order for execution and filing with the court.
Signed by Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. on 7/19/06. (Enss, Rhonda) (Entered:
07/19/2006)

07/19/2006 4 MOTION to remand filed by Samuel Lipari Suggestions in opposition/response
due by 8/3/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court (Carr, Lori) (Entered:
07/21/2006)

07/19/2006 5 SUGGESTIONS in support re 4 MOTION to remand on behalf of Plaintiff
Samuel Lipari. (Related document(s)4) (Carr, Lori) (Entered: 07/21/2006)

07/20/2006 6 AMENDED MOTION to remand filed by Samuel Lipari. Suggestions in
opposition/response due by 8/4/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court
(Carr, Lori) (Entered: 07/24/2006)

07/20/2006 7 AMENDED SUGGESTIONS in support re 6 MOTION to remand on behalf of
Plaintiff Samuel Lipari. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit)(Related document(s)6) (Carr,
Lori) (Entered: 07/24/2006)
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07/24/2006 8 MOTION for hearing filed by Samuel Lipari. Suggestions in opposition/response
due by 8/8/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court (Attachments: # 1 Notice
of Exhibit Attachment)(Carr, Lori) (Entered: 07/24/2006)

08/03/2006 9 SUGGESTIONS in opposition re 4 MOTION to remand filed by John K. Power
on behalf of Defendants General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC. Reply suggestions due by 8/18/2006 unless otherwise directed
by the court (Related document(s)4) (Power, John) (Entered: 08/03/2006)

08/03/2006 10 RESPONSE to motion re 8 MOTION for hearing filed by John K. Power on
behalf of Defendants General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC. Reply suggestions due by 8/18/2006 unless otherwise directed
by the court (Related document(s)8) (Power, John) (Entered: 08/03/2006)

08/10/2006 11 REPLY SUGGESTIONS to motion re 4 MOTION to remand, 8 MOTION for
hearing and Plaintiff's Remand Hearing Trial Brief by Samuel Lipari.
(Attachments: # 1 Notice of Exhibit Attachment)(Related document(s)4, 8)
(Carr, Lori) (Entered: 08/11/2006)

08/29/2006 12 MOTION for extension of time to File Proposed Discovery Plan and
Scheduling Order filed by John K. Power on behalf of General Electric
Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE
Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC Suggestions in
opposition/response due by 9/13/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court
(Power, John) (Entered: 08/29/2006)

08/29/2006 13 NOTICE of Submission of Proposed Order of Remand by Samuel Lipari re 6
MOTION to remand. (Jones, Robin) (Entered: 08/29/2006)

09/05/2006 14 MOTION for order to supplement the record filed by Samuel Lipari.
Suggestions in opposition/response due by 9/20/2006 unless otherwise directed
by the court. (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1&2)(Jones, Robin) (Entered:
09/05/2006)

09/05/2006 15 SUGGESTIONS in opposition re 12 MOTION for extension of time to File
Proposed Discovery Plan and Scheduling Order on behalf of Plaintiff Samuel
Lipari. Reply suggestions due by 9/20/2006 unless otherwise directed by the
court (Attachments: # 1 Exhibit 1# 2 Exhibit 2# 3 Exhibit 3# 4 Exhibit 4# 5
Exhibit 5)(Related document(s)12) (Jones, Robin) (Entered: 09/05/2006)

09/08/2006 16 Second MOTION for extension of time to File Proposed Discovery Plan and
Scheduling Order filed by John K. Power on behalf of General Electric
Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE
Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC Suggestions in
opposition/response due by 9/25/2006 unless otherwise directed by the court
(Power, John) (Entered: 09/08/2006)

09/14/2006 17 PROPOSED SCHEDULING ORDER and Discovery Plan by General Electric
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Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE
Transportation Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC. (Power, John) (Entered:
09/14/2006)

09/27/2006 18 ORDER denying as moot 12 defendants' motion for extension of time and
granting 16 defendants' second motion for extension of time. The Court notes
the timely filing of the proposed discovery plan and scheduling order (Doc. #17)
on September 14, 2006. Signed by Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. on 9/27/06.
(Enss, Rhonda) (Entered: 09/27/2006)

09/27/2006 19 SCHEDULING and Trial ORDER: Discovery due by 5/1/2007. Summary
judgment motions due 6/1/07. Pretrial teleconference set for 12/14/2007 at 9:30
AM in before Judge Fernando Gaitan. Jury Trial set for 1/28/2008 at 8:30 AM in
Courtroom 7C, Kansas City (FJG) before Judge Fernando Gaitan. Signed by
Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. on 9/27/06. (Enss, Rhonda) (Entered: 09/27/2006)

09/27/2006 20 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE OF INITIAL RULE 26 DISCLOSURES filed by
John K. Power on behalf of Defendants General Electric Company, General
Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation
Systems Globaling Signaling, LLC.(Power, John) (Entered: 09/27/2006)

09/28/2006 21 NOTICE of filing by General Electric Company, General Electric Capital
Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Globaling
Signaling, LLC Opposition to Plaintiff's "Discovery Dispute" (Power, John)
(Entered: 09/28/2006)
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          July 20, 2006 
Dear Honorable Judge Dean Whipple 
 
I have been attempting to bring a claim for redress against several big corporations 
involved in the hospital supply market. Ex parte conversations between their defense 
counsel and federal judges and law clerks have worked against me and resulted in bizarre 
unpublished rulings contradicting the US Supreme Court and controlling case law. 
 
I sought to bring a later action to your district (the defendants emboldened by being able 
to openly break the law come up with new ways to injure my family and business).1 But, 
the case was moved to Kansas District Court where the fraud on the court is being 
committed unchecked. This was despite the important state interest Missouri has in 
stopping the artificial inflation of hospital supplies. You then decided to reciprocally 
disbar my counsel Bret D. Landrith without a hearing, despite the defendants’ counsels’ 
participation in causing the disbarment, having failed to provide law or fact in defense of 
my claims.  
 
Now I have discovered that my state court action 2 has been interfered with by being 
removed to your district. On its face the motion for removal fraudulently asserts it is 
timely and within 30 days of a motion or other paper giving rise to federal jurisdiction. 
This is refuted by the attached records and the state court appearance docket that the 
defense counsel selectively omitted. However, what also frightens me is that somehow 
my action has been removed, given a case number, ordered to have a discovery plan 
produced by the defense counsel and ordered to mediation all within 24 hours and 
without service. This resembles the Kansas District court back channel communications 
and conduct of the court’s business with large corporate defense firms.  
 
These issues could be resolved in an unbiased forum but your district in transferring my 
earlier action to Kansas where the fraud on the court and sanctions for conforming to US 
Supreme Court decisions clearly threatened justice and in not permitting my counsel a 
hearing gives me cause to fear I will not receive a fair hearing. Just as a disinterested 
observer would. 
 
I hope you might look to your district and ensure it upholds the public trust in impartial 
justice. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this matter. 
      _______________________________ 
      Samuel K. Lipari 
 
cc: Mr. John Power 
     The Honorable Fernando J. Gaitan Jr. 
 

                                                
1 Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma et al, Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 
2 Samuel Lipari v. General Electric et al, Case No. 0616-cv-07421 
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Union warning on health reforms

Industrial action is being threatened by health unions unhappy at job cuts, NHS cutbacks,
and the rapid pace of changes within the service.

Unions representing doctors, nurses, ambulance drivers and other workers are to campaign against
"breakneck" speed of "relentless changes".

And Unison has said the country may be heading for a "summer of discontent".

There will also be rallies across the UK, and at this autumn's TUC Congress and Labour party
conference.

A lobby of Parliament is also being planned for October.

Members balloted

"It looks as though we are heading for a summer of discontent, with sadly more job losses on the way,"
said Unison head of health Karen Jennings.

Unison has been warning throughout the summer that the government intends to increase private
sector input in the operation of the NHS.

The government's relentless changes and preference for
privatisation is causing growing frustration among staff 
TUC general secretary Brendan Barber

In recent weeks the government has accelerated its progress towards a more market-based NHS.

Ministers have placed an advertisement in a leading European journal asking firms to put forward offers
to take on the commissioning responsibility from local health bosses.

The move will mean almost the entire responsibility for buying and distributing everything from medical
equipment to food to hospitals and family doctors will be handed over to the private sector.

Ministers say the move will save the NHS money which can be reinvested into patient care.

Critics believe it will create a potential conflict of interest with private firms in charge of buying care
from private hospitals and GP services.

Unison has said it will ballot its members over the transfer of supply agency, NHS Logistics, and part of
the buying organisation, the NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency to a US- German consortium of
Novation and DHL.

'Big improvements'

TUC general secretary Brendan Barber said the pace and direction of reform in the NHS was not backed
by staff.

He said many current changes appeared to be "driven by an ideological preference for the private sector
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and will not benefit patients".

"There can be no doubt that there have been big improvements in the NHS under this government.

"But the government's relentless changes and preference for privatisation is causing growing frustration
among staff who want the NHS to succeed, but think their views have not been taken into account."

Savings axe

Meanwhile, Unison said it was "shocked" at the scale of recent job cuts.

City Hospitals Sunderland Foundation Trust has recently said it will cut 10% of its 5,000 workforce to
clear a debt of £5m.

And up to 500 job cuts have been proposed at hospitals in Hertfordshire in order to help make £18m of
savings.

They join dozens of other trusts across England which have announced job cuts this year as they
attempt to balance their books.

Story from BBC NEWS:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/go/pr/fr/-/1/hi/uk/5228306.stm

Published: 2006/07/30 09:07:38 GMT

© BBC MMVI
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US firm given £4bn NHS deal by Labour faces 'bribes' probe
By SHARON CHURCHER and GLEN OWEN, Mail on Sunday09:06am 30th July 2006

 Reader comments (10)

An American firm has been given a £4bn NHS contract

Labour has been savaged over its 'creeping privatisation' of the National Health Service after it emerged a firm handed a £4billion deal is at the centre of
a massive fraud probe in America.

Tony Blair's backbench opponents were furious to learn the Texas-based company Novation is in the final stages of negotiating a contract to make it and
its German partner, DHL, responsible for buying everything from bandages to hip implants for the NHS.

Now The Mail on Sunday can also reveal that Novation is being investigated by American prosecutors following accusations that it has accepted huge
'bribes' from medical manufacturers. The payments allegedly give it a financial incentive to buy the most profitable, rather than the most effective,
equipment for hospitals.

The criminal investigation by the US Justice Department follows a number of legal actions against Novation. One led to the firm paying out millions of
dollars in settlement after it was accused of conspiring to stifle sales of a syringe that shields health care workers from the AIDS and hepatitis viruses.

The firm earns its profits in America, as it will in Britain, by acting as a middleman between hospitals and equipment manufacturers. It promises
manufacturers exclusive contracts for their products in return for large payments it terms 'administrative fees' - but which critics describe as blatant
bribes.

The company won the deal to take over the NHS Logistics Authority - which was quietly put out for tender a year ago - by promising to make big
savings for taxpayers.

A spokeswoman for Unison, the public-sector union that is balloting members on strike action over the move, said: "This is a major step towards the
privatisation of the NHS. These companies report to their shareholders, not patients."

Many opponents see the hand of Ken Anderson - the Texan appointed by Mr Blair as the first commercial director of the NHS in 2003 after 16 years'
experience of US healthcare - behind the deal.

But the Department of Health insisted Mr Anderson had not met any representatives of the company before the contract was awarded.

Officials took legal advice over the allegations against Novation before awarding it the contract and say they were satisfied there was 'no reason to
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reconsider their position'.

However, American opponents of the firm lined up to criticise the deal.

"It is outrageous that the NHS would put a company that is under criminal investigation in charge of its purchasing,' said Mark Leahey, executive
director of the Medical Device Manufacturers Association.

"Patients and healthcare workers in our country have gone through hell as a result of Novation's practices."

The most damaging allegations centre on claims that the firm keeps new, life-saving technology off the market to protect its profits.

Texas engineer Thomas Shaw, who invented a retractable syringe to protect health workers from deadly infections, filed a writ in 1998 accusing
Novation of conspiring to prevent hospitals buying his product. His firm, Retractable Technologies, received £80million in a settlement from Novation
and other firms named in the case.

A Retractable Technologies spokesman said: "I can't believe the British Government hasn't heard about our case and the other cases.

"I can tell you now what this contract will mean to the UK. Patients and healthcare workers will be denied life-saving, innovative technologies and costs
will be driven through the roof."

American health workers have also been voluble critics of Novation's practices. They include Julia Hipps, a nurse and mother of four in St Louis,
Missouri, who contracted hepatitis C after she accidentally jabbed herself with an infected needle in 1999.

"At the time, Retractable Technologies had invented its safety needles but I worked for a hospital that issued us with traditional needles under a contract
that it had with Novation,' she said bitterly.

"I had to go through three years of chemotherapy treatment and though I am now in remission, I live in constant fear that the virus will flare up again and
destroy my liver. I am very surprised that your health service is hiring Novation and I really hope they will reconsider.

"I wouldn't want anyone in Britain to go through my suffering.

Novation officials refused to respond to repeated requests for comment.
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Firm handed £4bn NHS contract was
investigated for overcharging
BY NIGEL HAWKES, HEALTH EDITOR 

THE company at the centre of the biggest privatisation yet seen in
the NHS will not save the health service money, according to an
American manufacturer who has just won a settlement from it.
Novation has been under investigation for questionable business
practices.

The Times revealed last week that the Texas-based company is
expected to take responsibility for spending more than £4 billion a
year of NHS money. Novation and its German partner, DHL, will
take charge of purchasing and distributing everything from
bandages to hip implants.

The news has astonished critics of Novation in the US who say that
the US Justice Department launched an investigation into the
company and other group purchasing organisations (GPOs) in 2004
over claims that they had overcharged federal healthcare
programmes for goods.

The Department of Health was aware of the investigation before
awarding Novation and DHL the contract to take over the NHS
Logistics Authority, and says that it sees no reason to reconsider its
position.

Andy Burnham, the Health Minister, told The Times last week that a
final decision on awarding the contract had not been made. But
healthcare companies in the UK say that is not the case. “It has
been railroaded through,” said a director of one leading NHS
supplier, who did not want to be identified.

“The UK suppliers that provide the products and support to the
NHS will be trying to do business where the rules are all made in
favour of an American company, and the NHS is risking much by
putting all the cards in the hands of a monopoly,” he said.

In the US, GPOs are controversial because of legislation that allows
them to accept “kickbacks” from suppliers. The size of these
payments depends on the size of the contract, which means, critics
say, that GPOs inflate costs to increase their fees.
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So complex are the relationships between suppliers, GPOs and
hospitals in the US that understanding who profits most is difficult.

Professor Prakash Sethi, president of the International Centre for
Corporate Accountability at Baruch College in New York, said: “My
most conservative estimates suggest that GPOs extract extra profits
of $5 billion (£2.6 billion) to $6 billion which legitimately belong to
their principal clients, the hospitals.”

Novation was created in 1998 by two networks of non-profit
hospitals, VHA Inc, of Irving, Texas, and University HealthSystem
Consortium of Oak Brook, Illinois. Between them they control more
than 2,000 hospitals and health facilities.

In Britain, Novation will be rewarded on the basis of how much it
saves the NHS, but there will be no safeguard on quality. Suppliers
have been told that Novation expects cuts in prices when it takes
over, but such price-based contracts have a mixed history.

In one recent case a contract for surgical gloves was awarded by
the NHS to a low-cost provider. The NHS boasted that the
reduction in cost meant a saving of several hundred thousands of
pounds. But to get the same protection from tearing or perforation,
health workers had to wear two pairs of the gloves, negating the
savings.

Phillip Zweig, of Retractable Technologies, a US syringe
manufacturer that won a financial settlement from Novation and
other companies over claims that they had conspired to prevent
hospitals buying its products, said that Novation will not save the
NHS money.

“On the contrary, it will increase the cost of healthcare in the UK
just as it has in the US. Your Government is making a very
dangerous mistake,” Mr Zweig said.

Unions representing health workers said that they were committed
to a campaign against the pace of change in the NHS.

Brendan Barber, general secretary of the TUC, said: “Health unions
support reform that delivers better patient care, but too many
changes seem to be driven by an ideological preference for the
private sector and will not benefit patients.

“There can be no doubt that there have been big improvements in
the NHS under this Government.

“But the Government’s relentless changes and preference for
privatisation is causing growing frustration.”

Copyright 2006 Times Newspapers Ltd.
This service is provided on Times Newspapers' standard Terms and Conditions . Please
read our Privacy Policy . To inquire about a licence to reproduce material from The Times,

visit the Syndication website .
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United States Court of Appeals 

FOR THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT 

___________ 
 

No. 06-            . 
___________ 

 
In Re Samuel K. Lipari,     *  

     * On Petition for Writ of Mandamus  
* to the United States District Court 
* for the Western District 

Petitioner,      * of Missouri    
___________ 

 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 1361 

 
 Comes now the plaintiff Samuel Lipari appearing pro se and makes this 

Petition for Writ of Mandamus to the United States District Court for the 

Western District of Missouri requiring the court to remand Lipari v. 

General Electric et al, W.D. of Mo. Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG to 

Missouri State court where the plaintiff’s well pleaded complaint was 

originally filed. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 

The petitioner has been unable to have his timely motion to remand 

and motion for emergency hearing to remand for state law based contract 

claims heard by the Western District of Missouri despite the removal’s facial 

failure to comply with the thirty day time limit of 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b). The 

District court has issued other orders, giving cause, along with other legal 
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actions involving the defendants for the petitioner to fear the District court 

may become vulnerable to a corrupt or malign influence enjoyed by the 

defendants and unchecked in federal courts.     

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 

 Whether a federal court can retain jurisdiction over an action removed 

from state court later than thirty days from service of summons and outside 

of thirty days from any voluntary act, admission, pleading of the plaintiff or 

order of the state court informing the defendants of the existence of federal 

jurisdiction.  

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

A. Court’s Failure Of Duty To Remand 

1. The petitioner Samuel Lipari filed a timely motion for remand within 30 

days after the filing of the notice of removal under section 1446 (a) as 

required under 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c), preparing the motion on the day he 

received notice of removal. 

2. The petitioner Samuel Lipari has filed no motion or voluntarily availed 

himself of the jurisdiction of the Western District of Missouri other than to 

seek remand and has not waived or forfeited his right to remand.  

3. The Western District Court has not remanded the action as required 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c). 
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4. The Western District of Missouri has continued to make rulings and 

issue orders despite the lack of jurisdiction on the face of the removal filing 

and after service of notice and evidence of the lack of jurisdiction by the 

petitioner in violation of the court’s clearly established duty “ If at any time 

before final judgment it appears that the district court lacks subject matter 

jurisdiction, the case shall be remanded” (emphasis added) under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1447(c).  

B. Statutory Absence of Jurisdiction Under 28 U.S.C. § 1441 et seq. 

5. The petitioner Samuel Lipari’s state petition was a well-pleaded 

complaint for claims arising solely under state law. 

6. The petitioner Samuel Lipari’s state petition contained no federal 

question. 

7. The defendants General Electric Company (“GE”), General Electric 

Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation (“GE Capital”), and GE 

Transportation Systems Global Signaling, LLC (“GE Transportation”) 

(collectively the “GE defendants”) allowed the 30 day time limit under 

Section 1446(b) to expire from April 4, 2006 when the defendants were 

served Samuel Lipari’s state petition. 

8. The GE defendants allowed the 30 day time limit under Section 1446(b) 

to expire from the failure to serve a summons on a Missouri domiciled 
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company which expired under Missouri State Rule 54.21 thirty days after 

the issuance of the summons to the Jackson County Sheriffs Deputies for 

service and was not renewed. 

9. The defendants allowed the 30-day time limit under Section 1446(b) to 

expire from the May 31, 2006 state court order dismissing the two served 

local defendants. 

10. The GE defendants appeared and answered the plaintiff’s petition with a 

motion to dismiss.  

11.  The Missouri State Court made findings of law and fact, making a May 

31, 2006 order denying the GE Defendants dismissal motion that would 

have preclusive effect over any federal adjudication of the plaintiff’s claims. 

(See Exb. 1 Denial of GE Dismissal). 

12. The GE Defendants omitted material evidence in order to mislead the 

Western District of Missouri in determining jurisdiction by misrepresenting 

the state court appearance docket and by omitting pages with information 

revealing the date federal jurisdiction could have been discerned.  

13. The full trial appearance docket, not the selectively edited or altered one 

filed by the GE Defendants reveals the GE Defendants failure to appear in a 

scheduled court hearing or to timely reply to motions despite appearing and 

filing motions to dismiss. (See Exb. 2 Docketing Statement) 
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C. Strong Missouri State Interest In Controversy  

14. The GE Defendants availed themselves of state court jurisdiction by 

vigorously defending against the petitioner’s claims filing a combined 

motion to dismiss with evidence outside of the pleadings rendering the 

pleading a summary judgment motion (See Exb. 3 GE Motion to Dismiss) 

which was overruled by the state court and denied. (See Exb. 4 State Court 

Docket Order Entry). 

15. The GE Defendants unsuccessfully argued that Missouri’s complex 

regulation of corporations statutory scheme did not permit a dissolved 

Missouri corporation’s sole assignee in interest a personal property right 

which could be asserted in court despite the clear language of the Missouri 

legislature and Missouri state court rulings affirming that right. (See Exb. 5 

Lipari’s Suggestion in Opposition to GE’s Motion to Dismiss). 

16. Despite the time honored principles of res judicata, comity and the 

Rooker-Feldman Doctrine the GE Defendants’ counsel John Power has 

persuaded the sister federal court sited in Kansas City, Kansas hearing an 

action against the GE defendants’ alleged coconspirators who share in 

privity a common and coordinated defense with the GE defendants, to ignore 

the State of Missouri court ruling on the petitioner’s right to represent the 

assigned interest of his dissolved Missouri corporation as provided for by the 
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Missouri corporation acts and Rule 17 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. (See Exb. 6 Judge Carlos Murguia’s Memorandum & Order 

denying Lipari’s reconsideration). 

17. The petitioner’s complaint alleges that GE broke its contract in Blue 

Springs, Missouri knowing the petitioner relied upon the bargain to 

capitalize its entry into the market for hospital supplies where the 

petitioner’s business was the last independent web based electronic 

marketplace in order for GE and its hospital supply cartel members to 

continue to artificially inflate hospital supplies without competition. (See 

Exb. 7 Lipari Complaint). 

18. A July 2nd, 2005 Los Angeles Times article stated 1/3 of the 

Missourians losing insurance coverage are children: “An estimated 24,000 

children are expected to lose their benefits, dental coverage is being cut for 

adults, and disabled people are losing coverage for crutches and other aids.” 

(See Exb. 8 Missouri's Sharp Cuts to Medicaid) Called Severe-More than 

68,000, a third of them children, may lose benefits in the move to avoid tax 

hikes. LA Times, July 1, 2005. (Attachment 4 to Plaintiff’s Motion 

Opposing GE Extension of Time). 

19. On June 29, 2005, Doctor David Moskowitz, was invited to testify 

before the Missouri Medicaid Reform Commission and in his released pre-
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testimony stated for the 65,000 patients losing coverage; “Since oxygen 

tanks are among the items no longer covered, many patients will soon die” 

[emphasis added]. These patients are the consumers in the market for 

hospital supplies that was the primary relevant market of Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. Doctor Moskowitz also stated;  

"The Missouri Legislature is wrestling with the most critical domestic 
issue of our time. It is literally a life and death issue for tens of millions 
of Americans. It seems to me profoundly un-American, on the eve of 
our nation's birthday, to have people die simply because Medicaid is 
still paying retail for drugs.”  

 
(See Exb. 8 David Moskowitz, MD Testimony Attachment 4 to Plaintiff’s 

Motion Opposing GE Extension of Time). 

20. The current loss of coverage for Missourians is reported to effect 90,000 

Missouri state citizens and has become the central issue in the U.S. Senate 

election campaign for the seat held by Hon. Senator Jim Talent, Missouri’s 

junior senator. (See Exb 9 KC Star Buzz Blog Sept 29, 2006 CAMPAIGN 

AD BUZZ | McCaskill criticizes Talent on Medicaid) 

D. Missouri Popular Backlash Misdirected At Senator Jim Talent 

21. Hon. Senator Jim Talent’s seat is one of four or five identified by the 

New York Times as one where a Republican incumbent is behind or even 

with a Democrat challenger. (See Exb 10 New Hope For Democrats in Bid 

for Senate)  
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22. Hon. Senator Jim Talent is losing his senate re-election campaign 

despite the evidence repeatedly proffered by the petitioner in federal courts 

that the Congress adequately funded Medicare and Medicaid and that the 

administration of President George Bush disbursed the funds but that the 

hospital supply cartel including Novation LLC and participated in by the GE 

defendants have artificially inflated healthcare costs through the exercise of 

illegal monopoly power, leaving Governor Matt Blunt and the State of 

Missouri no choice but to cut benefits to its most needy and vulnerable 

citizens.  

23. The petitioner has been repeatedly barred by federal courts from 

presenting his evidence against the GE defendants and their cartel members 

that have violated the Sherman Antitrust Acts to artificially inflate hospital 

costs, despite stating colorable claims according to the pleading 

requirements of Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

24. Hon. Senator Jim Talent is not a member of the US Senate Judiciary 

Committee and is unable to represent the interests of Missouri citizens in 

protecting their rights to redress in federal courts. 

25. Hon. Senator Jim Talent bears no responsibility for the experiences the 

petitioner and his now dissolved Missouri Corporation Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. suffered in federal courts.  
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26. Hon. Senator Sam Brownback of the neighboring state of Kansas who is 

a member of the US Senate Judiciary Committee supported Novation LLC 

and the cartel’s interest in opposing increased regulation of the extraordinary 

market power hospital supplier controlled Group Purchasing Organizations 

have. (See Exb. 11 MSCI’s Answer Memorandum In Support Of 

Reconsideration Of Transfer, Pg. 2-3) and Jeffrey Hill “Healthcare Providers 

Look To Dodge New Mandates”, The Hill, July 11th, 2005 and with the loss 

of regional Ford and GM plants to artificially inflated healthcare costs has 

had his presidential aspirations significantly weakened. (See Exb. 12 Ford 

will cut 25,000 to 30,000 jobs, close 14 plants.)  

E. Weakness of Federal Government in Enforcing Law In Healthcare 

27. On August 21, 2004 the New York Times reported that the companies to 

be served with subpoenas are the drug makers Merck, Bristol-Myers Squibb 

and Genentech; the G.E. Healthcare medical equipment unit of General 

Electric, and Cardinal Health, a large manufacturer and distributor of drugs 

and medical supplies. [Emphasis added] 

28. The NY Times article stated that “Based on the federal codes cited in a 

copy of one of the subpoenas, investigators are seeking evidence of health 

care fraud, conspiracy to defraud the United States, theft or bribery 

involving programs receiving federal funds, obstruction of investigations 
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and other possible violations. The subpoena was signed by Shannon Ross, 

criminal chief of the United States attorney's office in Dallas.” 

29. Ms. Shannon Ross, originally from Kansas was later found dead in her 

home the day before the third US Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on 

Antitrust hearing on Novation, LLC.  

30. The Dallas Morning News described the US Attorney’s office as already 

reeling from the unexpected death of False Claims Act litigator Thelma 

Louise Quince Colbert who accidentally drowned a month earlier in July. 

(See Exb. 13 U.S. attorneys office loses 3 ‘go-to guy’s.) 

31. The Ft. Worth US Attorney’s office then had three more experienced 

corporate crimes litigators cut from its staff. (See Exb. 13 U.S. attorneys 

office loses 3 ‘go-to guy’s.) 

32. This court overturned The Western District of Missouri Chief Judge 

Whipple’s ruling in Lankford v. Sherman No. 05-4285-CV-C-DW (WD Mo. 

Nov. 22, 2005) Case No. 05-3587 (8th Cir. 2006) finding unreasonable the 

withholding of medical and hospital supplies and overcoming what is 

otherwise a strong tendency in the federal judicial system to not act on 

systemic problems in our nation’s healthcare delivery system. 

33. The Western District of Missouri Chief Judge Dean Whipple presided 

over a panel that reciprocally disbarred the petitioner’s counsel without a 
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required hearing and after ex parte communication with the Kansas Supreme 

Court Clerk’s office, leaving the petitioner without representation despite 

this circuit’s requirement of an evidentiary hearing, enforcing the Kansas 

Court’s disbarment for taking an African American’s Civil Rights case to 

federal court, a case Bolden v. City of Topeka that the petitioner’s former 

attorney won in the Tenth Circuit and has now been cited by the Sixth 

Circuit. (See Exb. 14 Show Cause Answer of Petitioner’s Counsel.) 

34. The federal district and appellate courts for Kansas had however 

previously sanctioned the petitioner’s counsel over $23,000.00 for asserting 

the existence of liability for the threatened bad faith use of USA PATRIOT 

Act suspicious activity reporting as a means to obstruct Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc.’s entry into the hospital supply chain market in Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, NA et al 10th Cir. Case No.: 03-3342. 

35. The Tenth Circuit upheld the trial court’s dismissal without findings of 

law or fact and made a show cause order why Medical Supply and its 

counsel should not be sanctioned for a frivolous appeal. 

36. Medical Supply answered the show cause order asserting the trial court 

had applied the incorrect legal standard and had misstated the USA 

PATRIOT Act. The Tenth Circuit found that Medical Supply had pled a 

conspiracy that included a separate legal entity, contradicting the trial court’s 
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ruling and the Tenth Circuit panel found that Medical Supply was correct in 

the existence of private rights of action under the USA PATRIOT Act. 

However, instead of correcting its ruling and ordering that Medical Supply 

was entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief, the Tenth Circuit panel 

ordered that Medical Supply’s counsel receive its most serious sanction for a 

frivolous appeal. 

37. The federal court law clerks writing the opinion militantly used the 

power of their sitting Tenth Circuit judge employers to retaliate against a 

party for making the same reasoned argument the much more competent, 

experienced Arkansas Supreme Court Justices and actual peers of the Eight 

Circuit court did when they later found liability exists with malicious use of 

USA PATRIOT Act reporting in the decision Bank of Eureka Springs v. 

Evans, 353 Ark. 438, 109 S.W.3d 672 (Ark. 2003).  

38. In Bank of Eureka Springs, the court found the bank had filed a 

suspicious activity report (“S.A.R.”) in an attempt to have its client 

criminally prosecuted without cause so that it might take his property. The 

court found the bad faith conduct deprived the bank of immunity for the 

SAR under the USA PATRIOT Act.  

39. Medical Supply alleged that US Bank sought to file a malicious 

suspicious activity report to restrain competition in the market for hospital 
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supplies where US Bancorp NA and Piper Jaffray were actively participating 

in agreements to exclude internet marketplaces like Medical Supply from 

undercutting Novation, LLC and Neoforma, Inc.’s maintenance of 

artificially inflated hospital supply prices.  

40. The Kansas federal courts then directed that the petitioner or his counsel 

be sanctioned for bringing the action to enforce federal antitrust laws against 

the GE defendants in Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General Electric 

Company, et al., case number 03-2324-CM.  

41. Because the Tenth Circuit law clerks had messed up the first retaliation 

against the petitioner for protected speech, the Tenth Circuit ordered the 

Kansas District Court Judge Carlos Murguia to sanction the petitioner or his 

counsel for surprisingly being correct at law; specifically conforming to the 

Tenth Circuit’s expanded second prong of the Farnell test in Reibert v. 

Atlantic Richfield Co., 471 F.2d 727 (10th Cir.), Cert. denied, 411 U.S. 938, 

93 S.Ct. 1900, 36 L.Ed.2d 399 (1973) and satisfying the Tenth Circuit’s 

requirement that the aggrieved party must satisfy the "by reason of" and/or 

"by" requirements found in (the antitrust statutes). This prerequisite boils 

down to the complainant proving that the antitrust violations are the 

proximate cause of his injury, which the petitioner had cleary offered 

evidence to prove.  
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42. The decision authored by Tenth Circuit Judge Carlos F. Lucero to 

reverse the trial court and remand Medical Supply’s action against the 

General Electric defendants for sanctioning was made because the complaint 

properly alleged that GE’s CEO Jeffrey Immelt committed felonies under 

the Sherman Antitrust Act in personally restraining trade in the market for 

hospital supplies.  

43. The complaint’s averments were based on published articles that Jeffrey 

Immelt conspired to keep Web based hospital supply distributors modeled 

on Medical Supply Chain, Inc. from entering the market and this conduct is 

unlawful and actionable under the Sherman Antitrust Act.   

44. Judge Carlos F. Lucero knew the complaint pled that Jeffrey Immelt was 

the president of GE Medical, then the CEO of the parent company GE and 

the founder of the legally separate entity GHX, LLC that memorialized the 

agreement between competitors including Neoforma, Inc. to restrain trade, 

allocate business, artificially inflate prices and exclude Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. in violation of Article I of the Sherman Antitrust Act. 

45. On Wednesday, August 24th, Jonathan L. Glecken lead counsel for the 

defendants Jeffrey R. Immelt, General Electric Company, General Electric 

Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems 

Global Signaling, L.L.C. , through extortion threatened Medical Supply’s 
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counsel with the loss of his home if he did not withdraw Medical Supply’s 

claims including the petitioner’s valid state law contract claims.  

46. The GE defendants’ counsel Jonathan L. Glecken was unaware that the 

defendants’ cartel had already injured Medical Supply’s counsel by causing 

him to lose his house as part of numerous informal sanctions in retaliation 

for representing Medical Supply in seeking redress from the cartel’s 

repeated refusals to deal and other antitrust prohibited acts in the hospital 

supply market.   

47. The Western District of Missouri Judge Ortrie D. Smith on June 15, 

2005 ordered the petitioner’s action Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma 

et al Case No. 05-0210 transferred to Kansas District court where obvious 

fraud on the court had been repeatedly propagated to injure Medical Supply 

Chain “in the interests of justice” while there was still time to prevent the 

need to make drastic cuts in the State of Missouri’s Medicaid coverage. 

48. The Western District of Missouri Judge Ortrie D. Smith caused Medical 

Supply’s case to be transferred to Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. 

Vratil who made no rulings delaying the opportunity to obtain discovery on 

the defendants’ participation in the wrongful disbarment of Medical 

Supply’s counsel until Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil 

participated in an ex parte discussion with personnel and justices of the 
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Kansas Supreme Court, disparaging Medical Supply’s counsel without his 

knowledge or opportunity to question Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn 

H. Vratil’s testimony in conduct designed to cause Medical Supply’s counsel 

to be disbarred without due process. 

49. Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil then removed herself 

from this case on October 20, 2005 minutes before the Kansas Supreme 

Court justices heard Medical Supply’s counsel’s oral argument. A transcript 

of the hearing which was resultantly delayed gives light to these unusual 

events.  

50. The petitioner’s case was then transferred to Kansas District Court Judge 

Carlos Murguia where he took no action for the many months until 

immediately after Medical Supply’s counsel was reciprocally disbarred by 

the Kansas District Court without disclosing to Medical Supply’s counsel 

that Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil had participated in ex 

parte testimony over Medical Supply’s counsel’s “incompetence”.  

51. The Kansas District Court refused to postpone its decision on 

reciprocally disbarring Medical Supply’s counsel until the Tenth Circuit 

ruled on the appeal of Bolden v. City of Topeka where Medical Supply’s 

counsel representing James Bolden challenged Kathryn H. Vratil’s findings 

of law in that case. 
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52. The Kansas District court also interfered and obstructed providing 

records to the Tenth Circuit court for the appeal in Bolden v. City of Topeka 

during and after the state proceedings to disbar Medical Supply’s attorney 

causing the Tenth Circuit to have to postpone the briefing schedule of James 

Bolden’s appeal. 

53. The Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil was ultimately 

overruled on two issues appealed by the petitioner and James Bolden’s now 

disbarred counsel and the decision has been favorably cited by the Sixth 

Circuit. 

54. No further court action occurred in the Medical Supply action until the 

petitioner’s counsel had been disbarred, then Kansas District Court Judge 

Carlos Murguia began in earnest making rulings with the visible purpose of 

dismissing the action for the lack of counsel and completing the removal of 

representation participated in by the Kansas District court and to further its 

adversarial interest in the petitioner’s proceeding.  

55. The Kansas District Court Judge Carlos Murguia dismissed the federal 

claims in their entirety for failure to state a claim despite the fact that the 

compliant was identical in elements of pleading for its claims to the 

complaint filed in Craftsman Limousine, Inc. vs. Ford Motor Company and 

American Custom Coachworks, et al, 8th Cir. 03-1441and 03-1554 and 
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Judge Murguia expressly declined to exert jurisdiction over the state law 

based claims the petitioner subsequently filed in Missouri State Court and 

are the subject of this petition for mandamus.  

56. The Craftsman Limousine case known as “Limo” concerned the group 

boycott/refusal to deal by dominant motor vehicle manufacturers seeking to 

control a downstream market for limousine conversion by causing the with 

holding of a critical input-trade journal advertising a fact scenario common 

to the Medical Supply cases. 

57. The Western District of Missouri ruled on antitrust and state claims pled 

in exactly the same manner that the Medical Supply complaint pled them 

and stated:  

“Thus, a motion to dismiss is likely to be granted “only in the unusual 
case in which a plaintiff includes allegations that show on the face of 
the complaint that there is some insuperable bar to relief.  ” Fusco v. 

Xerox Corn., 676 F.2d 332, 334 (8th Cir. 1982).”  
 

Craftsman Limousine,  Inc. vs. Ford Motor Company and American Custom 

Coachworks, et al, No. 98-3454 Order on Dismissal (W.D. Mo. July 7, 

1999). Judge Russell G. Clark, Senior Judge United States District Court for 

the Western District of Missouri went on to state:   

“The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require only notice pleading. 
Plaintiff must only set forth a short and plain statement showing that it 
is entitled to relief, not all the facts which establish that it is entitled to 
relief. FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a). Plaintiffs have sustained this low burden 
in the complaint against General Motors, as has Ford Motor Company 
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in its allegations against plaintiff. The Court will, therefore, deny those 
motions to dismiss.” [emphasis added]  
 

Craftsman Limousine, Inc. vs. Ford Motor Company and American Custom 

Coachworks, et al, No. 98-3454 Order on Dismissal (W.D. Mo. July 7, 

1999).  

58. The Tenth Circuit appears to have fired or relieved its Chief Clerk 

Patrick J. Fisher for the overt bias in favor of the hospital supply cartel that 

led to the petitioner’s injuries at the hands of the federal courts responsible 

for Kansas. (See Exb. 15 Letter to Clerk Fisher.) 

59. Tenth Circuit Chief Judge Deanell Reece Tacha did not take action on 

the problems with the appearance of a malign and corrupt influence over 

Kansas District court cases and their review in the Tenth Circuit, including 

the conduct of Magistrate James P. O’Hara influencing a Kansas District 

court case he was not assigned to but where he was a managing partner for 

18 years in the defense firm was defending [and for testifying falsely under 

oath before a Kansas state tribunal about its denial of discovery in litigation 

against the GE defendants. (See Exb. 16 Judicial Complaint of Petitioner.) 

60. Kansas US District Court Magistrate James P. O’Hara altered his 

testimony on the stand on January 21, 2005 revealing for the first time the 

Novation defendants’ (also represented by the GE defense counsel John K. 

Power MO Lic # 70448) continuing pattern and practice of racketeering to 
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Medical Supply’s President and counsel. (See Exb. 17 Novation Complaint, 

See also Exb. 18 Magistrate O’Hara Testimony Sup 1 Atch 9 pg.s 609-669 

(Partial Summary Judgment Exhibits) 

61. Tenth Circuit Chief Judge Deanell Reece Tacha did not act on the 

disparate treatment the appeals court gave Medical Supply Chain, Inc. and 

counsel for the hospital supply cartel or the mere clerk pool outcomes 

contradicting the Tenth Circuit’s own published precedents and Chief Judge 

Deanell Reece Tacha herself declined to vote for en banc reconsideration, 

even of the retaliatory sanctioning in trespass of judicial authority. (See Exb. 

19 Second Motion for En Banc Hearing Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v US 

Bancorp NA et al)  

62. Tenth Circuit Chief Judge Deanell Reece Tacha did not act on the 

hospital supply cartel counsel Susan C. Hascall, also from Magistrate James 

P. O’Hara’s firm added as on the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals brief in 

opposition to Medical Supply, despite having just left employment as a law 

clerk in the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals. (See Exb. 16 Judicial Complaint 

of Petitioner.)  

63. Tenth Circuit Chief Judge Deanell Reece Tacha only acted to clean up 

the appearance of impartiality Chief Clerk Patrick J. Fischer was giving her 

circuit in September of 2005 after the death of Chief Justice William H. 
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Rehnquist on September 4th reopened speculation building upon a July 6, 

2005 Slate Magazine article entitled “A Different Shortlist How about an 

old-style conservative Supreme Court nominee?” By Emily Bazelon and 

David Newman.  

64. The article had suggested Chief Judge Deanell Reece Tacha as an 

appropriate nominee to replace US Supreme Court Justice Sandra Day 

O’Connor.  

F. Fear of GE Corrupt or Malign Influence Over Federal Forum 

65. The Missouri state court on May 31, 2006 issued an order denying the 

GE defendants dismissal motion, foreclosing federal resolution of issues 

already heard and decided, including the standing of the plaintiff to represent 

the interests of the dissolved Missouri corporation Medical Supply Chain, 

Inc. which was assigned to the plaintiff. (See Exb. 1 Denial of GE 

Dismissal).   

66. The full trial court Missouri state appearance docket reveals the GE 

Defendants and their sole counsel John K. Power without excuse failed to 

appear for the Case Management Conference now relied upon by the 

defendants as justification for removal. The order reads: “Defendant fails to 

appear by counsel” (See Exb. 2 pg. 4 Complete State Docket).  
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67. On May 31, the remaining Missouri domiciled defendants were 

dismissed from the case. The other Missouri defendant was unable to be 

served by Jackson County Sheriff’s deputies and the summons expired on 

April 28, 2006 under Missouri State Rule 54.21.  (See Exb. 2 at pg. 2 

Complete State Docket), (Exb. 6 of Plaintiff’s Hearing Motion). 

68. The GE Defendants fraudulently misrepresented to the federal court that 

the plaintiff called for a case management conference that in fact was 

ordered sua sponte by the Missouri state court: “However, plaintiff has set 

(sic) a Case Management Scheduling Order without serving Carpets N’ 

More.” Defendants’ Brief In Opposition To Motion To Remand The Matter 

To State Court Doc 9 pg. 2.  

69. The GE Defendants’ false statement to the federal court is belied by the 

Complete state docket which shows no motion or other entry by the plaintiff 

to schedule or call for a case management conference.  

70. The GE Defendants fraudulently misrepresented that the plaintiff made 

apparent intentions to dismiss or to proceed in the absence of the remaining 

local defendant for the first time with the Judge created Case Management 

Order: “Because plaintiff’s intentions were not apparent until the July 5 Case 

Management Order, defendants’ motion to remove the case on July 17 is 
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timely”. Defendants’ Brief In Opposition To Motion To Remand The Matter 

To State Court Doc 9 pg. 2  

71. In fact the summons was returned unserved to Carpets N’ More on 

5/02/2006. (See Exb. 2 page 2 of Complete State docket).  

72. The GE Defendants fraudulently misrepresented that the July Case 

Management Order is an “other paper” that determined the status of 

jurisdiction over the defendant parties in their answer to the petitioner’s 

Remand Motion. (See Exb. 20 page 3 of GE Defendants’ Brief In 

Opposition To Motion To Remand The Matter To State Court  (WD Mo 

Doc. 9)  

73. Nowhere in the order are the defendants’ assertions about the new status 

of the action’s defendants delineated: 

“CIVIL CASE MANAGEMENT SCHEDULING ORDER Now on 
JULY 5, 2006 this matter coming on for scheduling conference and 
pursuant to Local Rule 35.1, the Court hereby enters the following 
Scheduling Order: Plaintiff appears by counsel, SAMUEL K LIPARI. 
Defendant fails to appear by counsel. 1. This case is set for trial on 
March 5, 2007 at 9:30 A.M. 2. The parties are ordered to participate in 
mediation pursuant to Rule 17. Mediation shall be completed by 
September 1, 2006. Each party shall personally appear at the mediation 
and participate in the process. In the event a party does not have the 

authority to enter into a settlement, then a representative of the entity 
that does have actual authority to enter into a settlement on behalf of 
that party shall also personally attend the mediation with the party. 3. 
Lee Wells is appointed to be the mediator in this case. 4. Each party 
shall pay their respective pro-rata cost of the mediation directly to the 
mediator. 5. Parties shall file any designated portion of depositions to 
be read or shown or played to the jury by videotape ten (10) days 
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before trial. 6. Five (5) days before trial, the parties shall file a list of 
exhibits to be offered or referred to in the evidence. 7. Five (5) days 
before trial, the parties shall file a list of witnesses to be called to testify 
at trial. 8. Five (5) days before trial, the parties shall file any motions in 
limine, proposed jury instructions, counter designations and objections 
to proposed deposition excerpts to be read or played to the jury by 
videotape, and any trial briefs with the Court and the opposite party. 9. 

Dates in this pretrial order shall be changed only by leave of Court. 
Dated: JULY 5, 2006 W STEPHEN NIXON Judge”   

 
(See Exb. 2 page 4 of Complete State docket)  
 
G. Defendants’ Efforts To Corruptly Influence The Present Litigation 

 
74. The defendants removed this action against the GE Defendants including 

GE Capital a defendant in the sealed case in the Western District of Missouri 

court entitled United States ex rel Michael W. Lynch v Seyfarth Shaw et al. 

Case no. 06-0316-CV-W- SOW after the US Attorney for the Western 

Missouri Bradley J. Schlozman declined to intervene and without knowledge 

that the US Attorney Bradley J. Schlozman would be countermanded by the 

US Department of Justice in Washington D.C.  

75. The U.S. Justice Department reestablished its intervention after the GE 

Defendants filed their Notice of Removal.  

76. The Western District order acknowledging the countermanding of 

Bradley J. Schlozman’s improvident withdraw was attached to the plaintiff’s 

motion or hearing on remand and served on the clerk of the court and 

counsel for the defendants but does not appear on the Western District of 
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Missouri Appearance Docket. (See Exb. 21 CM-ECF Western District of 

Missouri - Docket Report). 

77. Alarmingly, the Western District of Missouri Court then later issued an 

unusual “Show Cause Order” directed against the US Department of Justice 

to challenge the agency’s intervention in United States ex rel Michael W. 

Lynch v Seyfarth Shaw et al. Case no. 06-0316-CV-W- SOW, fully giving 

the appearance that the Western District Court is seeking to deprive the 

relator Michael W. Lynch from having the assistance of counsel in enforcing 

Congressional Policy in the form of a civil action based on the laws of the 

United States as the Western District of Missouri deprived the petitioner of 

counsel for doing the same. (See Exb. 22 Lynch Show Cause Order) 

78. The Western District of Missouri Court and the US Attorney for the 

Western District, Bradley J. Schlozman are acting in a way that impedes the 

interests of justice in light of the September 2006 revelations by the Chief 

Bankruptcy Judge for the Northern District of Illinois, Hon. Judge Eugene 

R. Wedoff to the Federal Bureau of Investigation on the widespread use of 

offshore funds in the continuation of a “Greylord” racketeering enterprise 

effecting the outcomes of federal court cases in several states.  

79. The relator Michael W. Lynch provided evidence to Western District US 

Attorney Bradley J. Schlozman discovered in April 2006 that a 
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$39,000,000.00 bribery fund was being used to secure outcomes in court 

cases including the shift of unfunded pension obligations of McCook 

Metals, Inc. to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Board (PBGC) at the expense 

of US taxpayers despite the obligation of Alcoa Aluminum financed by 

General Electric, pursuant to Alcoa’s acquisition of Reynolds Metals, under 

ERISA law. 

80. The relator Michael W. Lynch provided evidence to Western District US 

Attorney Bradley J. Schlozman of a conspiracy by Alcoa and the financing 

entity of General Electric, GE Capital to defraud the US taxpayer by raising 

the prices for the US military's acquisition of aluminum for military jets.  

81. The relator Michael W.  Lynch provided pre-bankruptcy evidence to 

Western District US Attorney Bradley J. Schlozman indicating that Alcoa 

and General Electric conspired with Judge Wedoff to force McCook Metals 

into bankruptcy in August 2001 and wrest control of the company from 

Lynch. 

82. The US Attorney for the Western District, Bradley J. Schlozman was 

served documents by the relator including the admission under oath by 

General Electric’s agents Jenner & Block and General Electric’s law firm 

Seyfarth Shaw in their capacity as legal counsel for General Electric 

Commercial Finance had knowledge of the breaking and entering of the 
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relator’s home to obstruct justice. (See Exb 23 Transcript of Seyfarth Shaw 

Attorney deposition.) 

83. The US Attorney for the Western District, Bradley J. Schlozman was 

served documents by the relator revealing the General Electric Company at 

the direction of its then CEO Jack Welch and later under the direction of its 

CEO Jeffrey Immelt had targeted the relator personally for his testimony 

over Alcoa’s monopolization of aerospace aluminum products with the aid 

of the General Electric Company’s subsidiary GE Capital in the General 

Electric/Honeywell merger litigation. 

84. The US Attorney for the Western District, Bradley J. Schlozman was 

served documentation revealing the relator’s personal assets and those of his 

family members were being taken and seizure of Michael W. Lynch’s house 

was being threatened to accomplish this retaliation through the GE 

defendants’ extra legal influence over the federal courts. (See Exb 24 Order 

to seize Michael W. Lynch’s property.) 

85. The GE defendants’ continuing misconduct against the relator Michael 

W. Lynch, including predicate racketeering acts to injure Michael W. 

Lynch’s business prevented the petitioner Samuel Lipari from completing 

his third attempt to capitalize Medical Supply Chain’s entry into the market 

for hospital supplies. 
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86. The US Attorney for the Western District also failed to act on the 

petitioner’s citizen’s criminal complaint against Kansas US District Court 

Magistrate James P. O’Hara for his obstruction of justice, but did participate 

in warrantless surveillance, home searches and eavesdropping done by 

federal authorities working in Independence, Missouri and Kansas City, 

Missouri with the assistance of local law enforcement personnel and at the 

request of the GE defendants’ hospital supply cartel members including 

Novation, LLC on the pretext of  USA PATRIOT Act Suspicious Activity 

information maliciously created by US Bancorp NA to injure the petitioner 

and prevent him from entering the market for hospital supplies. 

87. The US Attorney for the Western District also failed to act to uphold the 

laws of the United States despite knowledge of the injuries to the petitioner, 

his family, his business and associates at the hands of the defendants’ 

scheme to obstruct justice that included an attempt to cause the petitioner to 

travel to Chicago, Illinois and meet two attorneys from two undisclosed law 

firms. (See Exb. 25 Affidavit of Samuel Lipari Opposing Transfer). 

88. The GE Defendants obtained a dismissal against the plaintiff’s federal 

claims in only one action Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General Electric 

Company, et al., Kansas Dist. Court case number 03-2324-CM but the GE 

Defendants fraudulently stated that they had obtained two dismissals. (See 
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Exb. 26 Response To Plaintiff’s Motion For Emergency Hearing On 

Plaintiff’s Remand Motion (WD Mo Doc. 10) at page 2):  

“The GE defendants do acknowledge, that Medical Supply Chain has 
sued the GE defendants in two separate federal court actions.  Both 
actions have been dismissed. In one of those actions, the court has 

deemed that Medical Supply Chain’s conduct was sanctionable.”    
 

89. There has been no finding by a trier of fact that the petitioner, his former 

counsel or his dissolved company merited sanctioning for its litigation 

against the GE Defendants and no such sanctions exist.  

90. The complete and accurate procedural history is contained in paragraphs 

5-11 on page 2-3 of the petitioner’s complaint.  

91. The GE Defendants disparaged the petitioner’s claims in the Kansas 

District Court for asserting that email established a written contract under 

Missouri law in June 2003 predating the February 9, 2005 decision Western 

District of Missouri Judge Nanette K. Laughrey holding similarly in 

International Casings Group, Inc., v. Premium Standard Farms, Inc., 358 F. 

Supp. 2d 863; 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3145, February 9, 2005.  

92. The GE Defendants in Document 9-1 filed 08/21/2003 of Medical 

Supply v. GE et al. (See Exb. 27 [pg. 37, (pg. as numbered) of the filing 

excerpted] misled the Kansas District Court by refuting the validity of the 

email writings creating a contract between the parties and misstating the 

applicability of the Missouri Statute of Frauds:)   
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“Any contract between MSC and GE Capital, GETS, or Mr. Immelt 
would have to be “in writing and signed by the party to be charged 
therewith” to be enforceable under Missouri’s Statute of Frauds, Mo. 
Rev. Stat. § 432.010, given that MSC offer was for a contract that was 
not capable of performance within a year.  MSC’s allegations as to GE 
Capital, GETS, and Mr. Immelt must fail because there is no allegation 
of any agreement between MSC and these three Defendants, let alone a 

written contract signed by any of these Defendants as required under 
the Statute of Frauds.”   

 
93. The GE Defendants represented the law exactly opposite to Judge 

Laughrey’s finding that under Missouri law separate emails communicating 

an offer and acceptance are a contract International Casings at pg. 15, 17 

Judge Laughrey found the email were writings fulfilling the Missouri Statute 

of Frauds requirement. Id at pg.17.  

94. Judge Laughrey also found as the petitioner’s counsel had argued that 

the electronic signatures satisfied the statutes of frauds under both the UCC 

and Missouri’s adoption of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act 

(“UETA”) Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 432.200-432.295. Id at pg.17-18   

95. Judge Carlos Murguia declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction 

over the contract claims and made no findings of law or fact regarding the 

plaintiff’s contract claim. (See Exb. 28 Memorandum and Order Medical 

Supply Chain, Inc. v. GE et al.) 

H. Western District’s Appearance of Participation In The Fraud 
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96. The Western District court docketed the removal and exerted jurisdiction 

over the plaintiff by ordering mediation and that the defendant prepare a 

case management plan, seemingly accepting the ex parte misrepresentations 

of the defense counsel that this court had jurisdiction from a timely removal. 

(See Exb. 29 CM-ECF Western District of Missouri - Docket Report as of 

July 24, 2006).  

97. The petitioner delivered a letter to Western District Chief Judge Dean 

Whipple and carbon copied it to trial court Judge Fernando J. Gaitan and 

opposing counsel John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 alerting the court to the 

misconduct in the fraudulently filed removal and the injuries the petitioner, 

his family, business and associates have suffered while seeking redress in 

federal court and detailing the petitioner’s fears over the forum’s lack of 

impartiality  (See Exb. 30 Letter to Chief Judge) 

98. No response has been forthcoming and no action has been taken on the 

petitioner’s submitted formal pleadings and evidence in support of remand.  

99. The court has also not acted on the obvious conflicting representation of 

GE Defendants’ counsel John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 who depended on 

multiple misrepresentations to the Kansas District Court on behalf of and 

under the instructions of his clients Novation, LLC, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert 
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J. Baker has likely resulted in Novation losing a $7.62 billion U.S. dollar a 

year contract to exclusively supply Britain’s National Health Service. 

Novation LLC is an entity created by these defendants and operating in 

multiple agreements to restrain trade in hospital supply with the General 

Electric Company, including the agreement to merge Neoforma, Inc. with 

GHX LLC as described in the present Missouri state contract claim. 

100. Instead of honoring his duty to the court, these hospital supply cartel 

members and coconspirators of the GE Defendants were led by GE 

Defendants’ counsel John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 to believe the 

fraudulently obtained rulings in the Kansas District court would make their 

planned monopolization of Britain’s hospital supply purchasing safe.  

101. In fact the U.K. domestic news network Channel 4 after examining 

the case filings ran a nationwide news special report on July 26th 2006, 

interviewing the petitioner’s witness about the artificial inflation of hospital 

supply prices leading to the overcharging of Medicare and Medicaid by $26 

Billion Dollars. (See Exb. 31 Channel 4 Special Report).  

102. This broadcast was followed by the BBC nationwide broadcast 

mentioning Novation’s controversy (See Exb 32).  

103. The televised report led the large nationally circulated paper the Daily 

Mail to send investigative reporters to Washington, D.C. where they 
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researched the Sunday article exposing Novation’s practice of bribing 

officials to monopolize American hospital supply sales entitled “US firm 

given £4bn NHS deal by Labour faces 'bribes' probe” (See Exb. 33).  

104. Then on Monday July 31st 2006, the British paper of record the Times 

of London also reported that Novation was under investigation by the US 

justice Department for its anticompetitive practices (See Exb. 34).  

105. The BBC on August 9, 2006 reported that a nationwide medical 

services strike will now result to prevent the British government from 

corruptly awarding the National Health Services hospital supply monopoly 

contract to Novation.   

106. At all times, GE Defendants’ counsel John K. Power MO Lic # 70448  

misrepresesented to the Missouri state court, the Kansas District Court and 

repeatedly to the Western District of Missouri that the petitioner’s claims are 

frivolous, baseless and to be ignored, despite four US Senate Committee on 

the Judiciary Antitrust hearings held on Novation’s anticompetitive 

practices, GAO Reports, testimony and numerous articles by the New York 

Times on the injury to the nationwide hospital supply markets from the  

monopolized distribution chain controlled by the defendants. (See Exb. 35 

Medical Supply News). 

III. RELIEF SOUGHT 
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98.  The Court of Appeals is respectfully requested to issue a Writ of 

Mandamus directing the US District Court for the Western District of 

Missouri to remand the petitioner’s action captioned Lipari v. General 

Electric et al. W.D. Court Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG to state court and 

to declare the GE defendants’ notice of removal untimely.  

99.  The Court of Appeals is respectfully requested to make findings of fact 

and law that after the May 4, 2006 state court order granting the Heartland 

defendants’ motion for dismissal, the GE Defendants were able to remove 

the action to federal court on the basis of diversity. That the GE defendants 

did not file their Notice of Removal until July 17, 2006, 63 days later and 33 

days beyond the thirty day time limit of 28 U.S.C. §1446(b) and that no 

other paper voluntarily filed by the petitioner or order issued by the state 

court contained in the case record reopened a window for removal in the 

thirty days preceding the GE Defendants’ Notice of Removal.   

100.  The Court of Appeals is respectfully requested to make findings of fact 

and law that the federal jurisdiction of the US District Court for the Western 

District of Missouri over the petitioner’s action depends on compliance with 

the thirty day time limit of 28 U.S.C. §1446(b) and that the failure of the GE 

defendants to comply with the thirty day time limit for the Notice of 

Removal, notwithstanding the defendants counsel’s signed representation 
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that the removal was timely deprived the US District Court for the Western 

District of Missouri of jurisdiction over the petitioner’s matter.  

101.  The Court of Appeals is respectfully requested to make findings of fact 

and law that the petitioner’s Writ of Mandamus furthered the interests of 

justice and that all costs for this collateral and original action be tolled upon 

the GE defendants in Lipari v. General Electric et al. W.D. Court Case No. 

06-0573-CV-W-FJG by the trial court judge.   

102.  The petitioner respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals issue an 

Order of Mandamus requiring the United States District Court for the 

Western District of Missouri remand the petitioner’s action against the GE 

Defendants back to the State of Missouri Jackson County District Court at 

Independence, Missouri. 

IV. REASONS WHY THE WRIT SHOULD ISSUE 

 

103.  The petitioner seeks the issuance of a Writ of Mandamus directing the 

US District Court for the Western District of Missouri to remand his state 

law based contract claims to Missouri state court.  

“The writ of mandamus is an extraordinary remedy that should be 
utilized only in those `exceptional circumstances . . . amounting to a 
judicial usurpation of power.'  A federal court may issue a writ of 
mandamus only when the appellant has established a `clear and 
indisputable right' to the relief sought, the court has a nondiscretionary 
duty to honor that right, and appellant has no other adequate remedy.” 
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Perkins v. General Motors Corp., 965 F.2d 597, 598-99 (8th Cir.) 

(quoting In re Lane, 801 F.2d 1040, 1042 (8th Cir. 1986)) (alteration in 

original) cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 654 (1992). 

104. Mandamus is a "drastic" remedy to be invoked only in "extraordinary 

situations."  In re Life Ins. Co. of North America, 857 F.2d 1190, 1192 (8th 

Cir. 1988).  The facts recited by the petitioner demonstrate the extraordinary 

circumstances that have caused his contract claims to removed to federal 

court. The petitioner has been repeatedly injured by actors who are officials 

in the federal court system who overtly used their power to protect the GE 

defendants’ misconduct and to retaliate against the petitioner for seeking to 

enforce the express public policies of the United States Congress as provided 

for by US Statute and the common law property rights guaranteed by the 

Constitution and statutes of the State of Missouri. 

105.  Accordingly, the continued exercise of federal jurisdiction in the 

absence of compliance with 28 USC § 1446 over the petitioner’s contract 

based claims is a clear abuse of discretion or usurpation of judicial power 

contrary to the express language of 28 USC § 1447(c) and the petitioner has 

no other adequate means to obtain relief when the trial court does not grant a 

hearing on the petitioner’s timely motion to remand and the federal courts 

have repeatedly threatened and sanctioned the petitioner and his associates 
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for correctly stating the law of our nation and fully justifies the issuance of 

the requested Writ. In re Prairie Island Dakota Sioux, 21 F.3d 302, 304 (8th 

Cir. 1994) (per curiam).  

A. The District Court Has Not ruled on An Emergency Hearing 

106.  The District court’s continuing exercise of jurisdiction over the 

petitioner obstructs a just, impartial and swift resolution of the contract 

controversy in state court. Despite the petitioner’s demonstrated haste in 

responding with a timely motion to demand begun on the same day he 

received notice of removal, the prompt replies to all pleadings and a motion 

for an emergency hearing to remand, the District court has not ruled on the 

issue and has made rulings or orders when jurisdiction itself is reasonably 

questioned. The First Circuit determined that a District court can not 

indefinitely postpone ruling on an Emergency Motion to Remand: 

“We note at the outset that we have given the District Court ample 
opportunity to decide whether removal of the Suárez action was proper, 
and despite the time-sensitive nature of this case, and three weeks of 
hearings on the merits of the Rosselló action which has been 
consolidated with this case for appeal, we are now faced with the 
extreme decision of whether we should compel remand through a Writ 
of Mandamus.” 

 
Rosselló-González v. The Puerto Rico Electoral Commission Case No. 

04-2611 (1st Cir. 2005). The First Circuit also observed: “Because the 

District Court plainly erred, and because every additional day spent 
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adjudicating this issue before the District Court or on appeal before this 

court increases the risk of irreparable harm, our intervention by Writ of 

Mandamus would be appropriate.” Id. 

B. An Indisputable And Clear Right To Remand Exists 

107.  This court’s determination of whether an "indisputable and clear right" 

exists must take into consideration the discretion entrusted in the district 

court in deciding issues related to the duty.  In re Drexel Burnham Lambert, 

Inc., 861 F.2d 1307, 1312 (2d Cir. 1988).  

108.  Appeals courts have recognized that discretion is extremely limited in 

exerting removal jurisdiction:  "Removal jurisdiction is therefore completely 

statutory, and we cannot construe jurisdictional statutes any broader than 

their language will bear."  In re County Collector, 96 F.3d 890, 895 (7th Cir. 

1996); accord Williams v. Rogers, 449 F.2d 513, 518 (8th Cir. 1971). "All 

federal courts, other than the Supreme Court, derive their jurisdiction wholly 

from the exercise of the authority to 'ordain and establish' inferior courts, 

conferred on Congress by Article III, § 1 of the Constitution."  Lockerty v. 

Phillips, 319 U.S. 182, 187 (1943). 

1. Thirty Day Time Period Mandatory 

109.  Section 1446(b) requires removal within 30 days of receipt “by service 

or otherwise” of the “initial pleading,” or of “an amended pleading, motion, 
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order or other paper from which it may first be ascertained that the case is 

one which is or has become removable.” 

110.  The statute provides two thirty-day windows during which a case may 

be removed-during the first thirty days after the defendant receives the initial 

pleading or during the first thirty days after the defendant receives a paper 

“from which it may first be ascertained that the case is one which is or has 

become removable” if “the case stated by the initial pleading is not 

removable.” Harris v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 425 F.3d 689, 692 (9th Cir. 

2005). 

111. This 30-day time period is “mandatory” but not “jurisdictional.” Fristoe 

v. Reynolds Metals Co., 615 F.2d 1209, 1212 (9th Cir. 1980); Somlyo v. J. 

Lu-Rob Enterprises, Inc., 932 F.2d 1043, 1046 (2d Cir. 1991). As the 

Second Circuit explained in Somlyo at page 1046: 

“Under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b), the petitioning party must file a notice of 

removal with the district court within thirty days after receipt of the 

initial pleading. See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b) (1988). While the statutory 

time limit is mandatory, it is “merely a formal and modal requirement 

and is not jurisdictional.” Fristoe v. Reynolds Metals Co., 615 F.2d 

1209, 1212 (9th Cir.1980). Nevertheless, absent a finding of waiver or 

estoppel, federal courts rigorously enforce the statute's thirty-day filing 

requirement. See, e.g., Nicola Prods. Corp. v. Showart Kitchens, Inc., 

682 F. Supp. 171, 173 (E.D. N.Y. 1988); Martropico Compania 

Naviera S.A. v. Perusahaan Pertambangan Minyak Dan Gas Bumi 

Negara, 428 F. Supp. 1035, 1037 (S.D. N.Y. 1977).” 
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Somlyo v. J. Lu-Rob Enterprises, Inc., 932 F.2d 1043, 1046 (2d Cir. 

1991). 

2. Remand is Compulsory When Removal Was Untimely 

112.  The court must remand when the procedural requirement of filing for 

removal within thirty days is not met. See Snapper, Inc. v. Redan, 171 F.3d 

1249, 1253 (11th Cir. 1999) ("The failure to comply with these express 

statutory requirements for removal can fairly be said to render the removal 

'defective' and justify a remand pursuant to § 1447(c)."); Schmitt v. Ins. Co. 

of N. Am., 845 F.2d 1546, 1551 (9th Cir. 1988) ("[R]emand of the present 

case became mandatory under section 1447(c) once the district court 

determined that [defendant's] petition for removal was untimely.") 

113.  Presented with an absence of subject matter jurisdiction, the district 

court should have remanded the case to state court.  Such action is directly 

countenanced by the language of § 1447(c), which mandates a remand 

anytime that the district court concludes that subject matter jurisdiction is 

nonexistent.  

114.  This court has recognized that once jurisdiction of the trial court is 

determined to be improper, the trial court has a clearly established duty to 

remand the petitioner’s action to state court: 

“The appropriate course of action, however, was not dismissal, but 
remand to the state court.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(c)(4) ("If it clearly 
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appears . . . that removal should not be permitted, the court shall make 
an order for summary remand."); 28 U.S.C. § 1446(c)(3) ("judgment of 
conviction [in the state criminal proceedings] shall not be entered 
unless the prosecution is first remanded"); Continental Cablevision of 

St. Paul, Inc. v. United States Postal Serv., 945 F.2d 1434, 1441 n.3 
(8th Cir. 1991). We thus vacate the district court's dismissal order and 
remand to the district court for remand to the state court.” 

 
City of Kansas City v. James Frederick Newport, Case No. 95-

3837WM at pg. 1-2 (8th Cir. 1996) (Unpublished). 

C. No Waiver 

  
115.  The petitioner has not waived his right to remand by affirmative 

conduct in the Western District of Missouri federal court.  See Nolan v. 

Prime Tanning Co., 871 F.2d 76, 78 (8th Cir. 1989). Federal courts consider 

a number of factors in determining whether a party has waived its right to 

seek remand.  See Midwestern Distrib., Inc. v. Paris Motor Freight Lines, 

Inc., 563 F. Supp. 489, 493-95 (E.D. Ark. 1983). A party that engages in 

affirmative activity in federal court typically waives the right to seek a 

remand, see Financial Timing Pubs., Inc. v. Compugraphic Corp., 893 F.2d 

936, 940 (8th Cir. 1990). 

116.  The GE Defendants’ counsel has made numerous intentional 

misrepresentations designed to defraud the court. And, while the petitioner 

has been injured in the past in two other actions by the same counsel’s 

1008



 42 

deliberate misconduct, the petitioner has sought no sanction or other relief 

save for remand.  

D. No Valid Challenge to the Duty to Remand Has Been Made 

117.  The standard the GE defendants were required to meet in order to 

oppose remand is very high. Any doubts about federal jurisdiction are going 

to be construed in favor of remanding the action to the state court. City of 

Indianapolis v. Chase National Bank, 314 U.S. 63, 76 (1941). The party that 

sought removal has the burden of proving the grounds necessary to support 

removal, including compliance with procedural requirements. See Christian 

v. College Boulevard Nat. Bank, 795 F.Supp. 370, 371 (D. Kan. 1992); 

Dawson v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc., 736 F.Supp. 1049, 1050 (D.Colo. 

1990); Laughlin v. Prudential Ins. Co., 882 F.2d. 187 (5th Cir. 1989). 

1. The Failure of The GE Defendants “Other Paper” Argument 

118.  The GE defendants caught in fraudulently asserting federal jurisdiction 

through an untimely 28 U.S.C. §1446(b) removal tried to argue that the 

Missouri State court case management order apprised them of the absence of 

the remaining local defendants, reopening the window for removal.  

119.  Unlike this court’s finding in In re Curtis Bruce Willis,  Case No. 00-

3134 (8th cir. 2000), no later paper or document appeared in discovery or as 
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a pleading or order revealing a new window of federal jurisdiction within the 

thirty day limit:  

“(FN)1 Section 1446(b) provides that if the case as stated in the 
initial pleadings is not removable, the notice of removal may be filed 
within thirty days of when the defendant )first discovers the case is 

removable.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).” 
 

In re Curtis Bruce Willis, at fn 1. 

120.  The Missouri state case management order unlike the California 

District case Bertha v. Beach Aircraft Corp., 674 F. Supp. 24 (CD Ca. 1987) 

misleadingly cited by the GE defense counsel did not become a later 

document restarting the clock for removal. There is no paper from the 

plaintiff voluntarily or otherwise changing the status of who is a defendant 

in the action. The GE Defendants’ attempt failed for two reasons: 1) the 

expiration of the two summonses thirty days after its issuance without 

renewal under RSMo 54.1 and 2) the Missouri state court’s order dismissing 

two local defendants occurred outside of the thirty days preceding the Notice 

of Removal. Neither is rescued by the Missouri state court’s later Case 

Management Order. 

a. The Bertha Court Followed The Voluntary Plaintiff Admission Rule 

121.  The GE Defendants failed to understand the careful explanation by the 

California District court that the chief element-conferring jurisdiction is 

incorporated in that court’s pretrial conference-the voluntary submission of a 
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paper by the plaintiff providing evidence that federal jurisdiction has 

opened.  

 Without a clue the GE Defendants argued:  

“After the Complaint was filed and before all the local defendants were 

served, plaintiff filed with the Court an “at-issue memorandum” in 

which plaintiff represented that all essential parties had been 

served and that no other parties would be served.  The Court 
determined that the “at-issue memorandum” constituted the “other 
paper.”  Id. at 27.  In so ruling, the Court also noted that in courts 
which utilized the trial setting conference procedure, the trial setting 
conference order could also serve as a “other paper.”  Id. at 26.” 
[Emphasis Added] 
 

  GE Defendant Brief (W.D. Court Doc. 9) at page 2.  

b. Bertha Was Based On The Plaintiff’s Submission 

122.  Removability must be discovered from a “paper.”  That is, changes in 

the law, See, e.g., Phillips v. Allstate Ins. Co, 702 F. Supp. 1466 (C.D. Ca. 

1989) (new Act of Congress permitting removal not a “paper” triggering 

thirty-day delay).  S.W.S. Erectors, 72 F.3d at 494. See, e.g., Chapman v. 

Powermatic, Inc., 969 F.2d 160 (5th Cir. 1992) (delay runs only from receipt 

of a “paper affirmatively revealing on its face” the presence of a removable 

claim); see also Leffal v. Dallas Indep. School Dist., 28 F.3d 521 (5th Cir. 

1994) (same).  Compare Mielke v. Allstate Ins. Co., 472 F. Supp. 851 (E.D. 

Mich. 1979) (mere knowledge that removable claim exists is sufficient); 

from opposing counsel and the like do not trigger the removal time delay. 
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2. Plaintiff Didn’t Voluntarily Create Federal Jurisdiction With a Paper 

123.  While the Missouri state court’s Case Management Order was 

certainly directed at the GE defendants, it referenced no new “other paper” 

created, submitted or otherwise introduced by the petitioner. As noted by the 

Fifth Circuit in S.W.S. Erectors, Inc., this new window of removability must 

result from a voluntary act of the plaintiff. S.W.S. Erectors, Inc., 72 F.3d at 

494; Self v. General Motors Corp., 588 F.2d 655 (9th Cir. 1978). See also 

DeBry v. Transamerica Corp., 601 F.2d 486-489 489 (10th Cir. 1979). This 

rule reflects the general rule that the plaintiff is the master of his complaint. 

3. The Case Management Hearing Was Ordered Sua Sponte 

124.  As the record shows, not only did the petitioner not file any paper or 

exhibit at the Case Management Conference fraudulently used by the GE 

Defendants to unlawfully remove jurisdiction of the contract claims matter 

from the Missouri state court, the petitioner did not call for or schedule the 

Case Management Conference. In fact the conference was ordered sua 

sponte by the Missouri state court but was then fraudulently misrepresented 

by the GE Defendants as set by the petitioner: “However, plaintiff has set 

(sic) a Case Management Scheduling Order without serving Carpets N’ 

More.” Defendants’ Brief In Opposition To Motion To Remand The Matter 

To State Court W.D. Court Doc 9 pg. 2. This statement is belied by the 
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Complete state docket which shows no motion or other entry by the plaintiff 

to schedule or call for a case management conference. (See Exb. 2 Complete 

State Docket) 

E. Failure of An Unrelated Court Order to Confer Federal Jurisdiction 

 
125.  In a topically similar controversy, pharmaceutical companies charged 

with violating Pennsylvania law by engaging in an unlawful sales and 

marketing scheme to inflate artificially the average wholesale price of 

prescription drugs could not prevent a remand of the case to state court, 

according to a decision by the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of 

Pennsylvania (Pennsylvania v. TAP Pharmaceutical Products, Inc., E.D. 

Pa., No. 2:05-cv-03604, 9/9/05). 

126.  Judge Juan R. Sanchez accepted the defendants' view that its federal 

question jurisdiction to hear the case is governed by the U.S. Supreme 

Court's recent decision in Grable & Sons Metal Products, Inc. v. Darue 

Engineering & Mfg., 125 S.Ct. 2363 (2005). However, the court also ruled 

that the defendants' removal of the case to federal court was untimely under 

Third Circuit precedent construing 28 U.S.C. §1446(b). 

127.  Specifically the defendants argued that the Grabel decision was the 

“order” that revealed the existence of federal jurisdiction, reopening the 

window for removal. Even though this argument is far stronger than the GE 
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defendants’ argument a case management order having no bearing or change 

on diversity jurisdiction, Judge Juan R. Sanchez ruled the Grable decision 

does not constitute an "order" apprising the defendants for the first time that 

the case was removable. Grable was not directed at the defendants, and the 

factual issues in this case are completely unrelated to those in Grable. 

F. Carpets N’ More Summonses Expired More Than 30 Days Before 

Removal 

 

128.  The Missouri state court did not change the status of the unserved 

defendants in the Case Management Order.  

1. Missouri Statute Sets Deadlines For Valid Process 

129.  The Missouri State legislature determined the status of named 

defendants that are the subject of a summons not served within the thirty-day 

limit and not renewed with a request to the court clerk in RMSO 54.21:  

“RULE 54.21 TIME FOR SERVICE AND RETURN 
 
The officer or other person receiving a summons or other process shall 
serve the same and make return of service promptly. If the process 

cannot be served it shall be returned to the court within thirty days 

after the date of issue with a statement of the reason for the failure to 
serve the same; provided, however, that the time for service thereof 

may be extended up to ninety days from the date of issue by order 

of the court. “[Emphasis Added] 
 
130.  Unbelievably the GE defendants state that this is not the law of the 

State of Missouri. The statute is however supported in this express 

requirement in pari materia by RMSO 54.01, which states: 
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“RULE 54.01 CLERK TO ISSUE PROCESS SEPARATE OR 
ADDITIONAL SUMMONS 
 
Upon the filing of a pleading requiring service of process, the clerk 
shall forthwith issue the required summons or other process and, unless 
otherwise provided, deliver it for service to the sheriff or other person 
specially appointed to serve it. If requested in writing by the party 

whose pleading requires service of process, the clerk shall deliver the 
summons or other process to such party who shall then be responsible 
for promptly serving it with a copy of the pleading. Upon written 

request of such party, separate or additional summons and other 

process shall be issued. “[Emphasis Added] 
 

131.  The written request is absent from the Missouri state court appearance 

docket. The necessity for deleting the pages to deceive the Western District 

of Missouri was their revelation that no attempt or filing by the plaintiff to 

extend or reissue the summons was made and that the clerk did not issue any 

separate or additional summons after the Jackson County Sheriff’s Office 

determined them to be unservable.  

132.  Only by service of process authorized by statute or rule (or by 

appearance) can a court obtain jurisdiction to adjudicate the rights of a 

defendant. Roberts v. Johnson, 836 S.W.2d 522, 524 (Mo. App. 1992). 

"When the requirements for manner of service are not met, a court lacks 

power to adjudicate." State ex rel. Plaster v. Pinnell, 831 S.W.2d 949, 951 

(Mo. App. 1992). Actual notice is insufficient. Id. "Satisfying minimum 

standards of due process . . . does not obviate the necessity of serving 

process in the manner prescribed in our statutes and rules." Acapolon Corp. 
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v. Ralston Purina Co., 827 S.W.2d 189, 196 (Mo. banc 1992). 

2. Missouri Requires Strict Compliance For Valid Service of Process 

133.  Despite the misleading brief presented by the GE defendants making 

the unsupported argument that plaintiffs have longer than thirty days to serve 

a defendant and that it is not necessary to comply with these rules including 

making the written requests required under 54.01, the Missouri Supreme 

Court has definitively ruled otherwise. In Worley v. Worley, 2000 Mo. 

LEXIS 41 (Mo. en banc., 5-30-00) the court held that failure to strictly 

follow follow RMSo 54.01 results in quashing of service.  

134.  In Worley, the husband did not make a written request that the 

summons be delivered to him and that he would then be responsible for 

serving it as required by RMSo 54.01. In addition, there was no request to 

appoint a special process server. The Missouri Supreme Court agreed with 

the court of appeals and held that because the husband never made a written 

request as provided by Rule 54.01, the sheriff or other persons specially 

appointed must make service. Since he was not so appointed, the person who 

served the process did not have the authority to serve process on the 

defendant. The case was reversed and remanded with instructions to quash 

the service of process. 

3. Defense Counsel’s Personal Experience Is Not Definitive  
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135.  While it may be true that the GE defendants’ counsel does not attempt 

to follow clear and express rules governing Missouri state court proceedings, 

this does not mean that the rules do not exist or that the defense counsel’s 

experience is actually the frequent desire of parties to waive the 

requirements of the state’s service rules. Something an absent defendant at 

law cannot waive. 

136.  A defendant may waive personal jurisdiction when he or she is before 

the court and fails to properly raise the issue. Shapiro v. Brown, 979 S.W.2d 

526, 529 (Mo.App. E.D. 1998); see also Rule 55.27(g). 

G. Absent Defendants Cannot Waive Sufficiency of Process 

137.  A defending party who wishes to raise defenses of lack of personal 

jurisdiction, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process 

must do so either in a pre-answer motion or in the party's answer. However, 

the waiver provisions of Rule 55.27(g)(1)(B) are not triggered where a 

defendant does not appear. 

“[A] defendant over whom the trial court could not otherwise 
constitutionally acquire jurisdiction does not waive the jurisdictional 
defense merely by . . . nonappearance. Two fundamental precepts must 

be borne in mind. First, a personal judgment rendered by a court 
without personal jurisdiction over the defendant is void and may be 
attacked collaterally. Second, a defendant 'is always free to ignore the 
judicial proceedings, risk a default judgment and then challenge that 
judgment on jurisdictional grounds in a collateral proceeding.' . . . Were 
we to hold that appellant waived the personal jurisdiction defense 
merely by failing to appear, it would produce the anomalous result that 
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a defendant who has the right to ignore a judicial proceeding waives 
that right by asserting it. Nonappearance, therefore, cannot constitute 

waiver.” [Emphasis Added] 
 

 Crouch v. Crouch, 641 S.W.2d 86, 90 (Mo. banc 1982) (emphasis 

added) (citations omitted). 

H. Eighth Circuit Recognizes The Time Marker Is “Official Process” 

 

138.  The Eight Circuit has resolved the issue of whether service of a 

summons initiating an action must be by official process complying with the 

express language of statutes governing valid service. The Eight Circuit has 

definitively ruled that Missouri state law determines the status of parties for 

removal and the service of summons must conform to state law requirements 

for valid service. 

1. State law determines the status of parties for removal  

139.  The Eastern District of Missouri considered a similar issue over 

whether diversity was created by and voluntary stipulated dismissal of a 

party in a slightly different fact scenario in Carney v. BIC Corp., No. 

4:95CV417-DJS (E.D. Mo. July 14, 1993). The Eastern District remanded 

the action to state court. As the petitioner has argued the Western District is 

required to follow Missouri state law on whether the summonses expired, 

the Eastern District court properly determined that Missouri state service 

1018



 52 

statutes defined the status of the parties for diversity purposes. This court 

found it could not review the order remanding the action back to state court:  

“The remand order in the present case does not come within the 
Thermtron exception, because it was based on a ground specified in 28 
U.S.C. § 1447(c)  -- the district court’s determination that it lacked 

subject matter jurisdiction to hear the action.  After noting that the 
stipulated dismissal provided that, in accordance with Mo. Rev. Stat. § 
537.762(6), Massie would remain a party in the action for purposes of 
venue and jurisdiction, the district court concluded that the dismissal of 
Massie did not create removal jurisdiction based upon diversity of 
citizenship and remanded the present case to Missouri state court.  
Thus, the remand order was based solely upon the district court’s 
conclusion that removal jurisdiction did not exist. Although the district 
court applied Mo. Rev. Stat. § 537.762(6) in reaching this conclusion, 
its consideration of § 537.762(6) was in no way separate from the 
jurisdictional determination.  Therefore, the present case is 
distinguishable from Karl Koch, in which the remand order at issue was 
based upon a matter affecting the merits of the case.  By contrast, the 

district court in the present case made no determinations concerning the 
substantive rights of the parties.  Thus, the remand order falls squarely 
within 28 U.S.C. § 1447(d) and is foreclosed from appellate review.” 
 

Carney v. BIC Corporation Case No. 95-3163 (8th Cir. 1996). 

2. Formal Service of Process Rules Define Timeliness 

140.  This court has looked to the US Supreme Court decision Murphy Bros. 

v. Michetti Pipe Stringing, Inc., 526 U.S. 344 (1999) to resolve issues over 

the thirty day rule. This court excerpted the portion of Murphy Bros that 

emphasizes strict adherence to the thirty-day time limit and the use of formal 

service of process rules or “officially summoned” to mark the timeliness: 

“The Court held that formal process is required, noting the difference 
between mere notice to a defendant and official service of process:  
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"An individual or entity named as a defendant is not obliged to engage 
in litigation unless notified of the action, and brought under a court's 
authority, by formal process."  Id.  Thus, a defendant is "required to 

take action" as a defendant—that is, bound by the thirty-day limit 

on removal—"only upon service of a summons or other authority-

asserting measure stating the time within which the party served 

must appear and defend."  Id. at 350.  The Court essentially 

acknowledged the significance of formal service to the judicial process, 
most notably the importance of service in the context of the time 

limits on removal (notwithstanding an earlier admonition by the Court 
in Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v. Sheets, 313 U.S. 100, 108-09 (1941), 
for strict construction of the removal statute). We conclude that, if 

faced with the issue before us today, the Court would allow each 

defendant thirty days after receiving service within which to file a 

notice of removal, regardless of when—or if—previously served 

defendants had filed such notices. See 16 James Wm. Moore et al., 
Moore's Federal Practice § 107.30[3][a][i], at 107-163 (3d ed. 2000)” 
[emphasis added] 

 
Marano Enterprises of Kansas v. Z-Teca Restaurants, L.P, Case No. 

00-3361 at pg. 5-6 (8th Cir. 2001). 

141.  On the basis of Marano Enterprises, the Eight Circuit rule is that 

receiving service is the timeliness marker for the thirty day window to 

remove the case to federal court under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b). When the 

summons was returned unserved on the remaining non diverse defendant 

and expired without renewal, there was no longer an “official summons” to 

reopen the window. The GE defendants’ removal was untimely and the 

Western District of Missouri court lacks jurisdiction and must remand the 

action to state court.  

I. Nominal Party’s Absence Cannot Open Federal Jurisdiction 
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142.  The additional non-diverse party Carpets-N-More had no duty to the 

petitioner under the allegations of the complaint and therefore was a nominal 

party whose presence or absence in the action do to service of process could 

not have opened a window for federal jurisdiction.  

143.  Removal is authorized by 28 U.S.C. § 1441 and governed by § 1446.  

Where there are multiple defendants, all must join in a petition to remove 

within thirty days of service.  See Marano Enters. of Kan. v. Z-Teca Rests., 

L.P., 254 F.3d 753, 754 & n.2 (8th Cir. 2001).  However, nominal 

defendants, those “against whom no real relief is sought,” need not join in 

the petition.  Pecherski v. General Motors Corp., 636 F.2d 1156, 1161 (8th 

Cir. 1981). 

144.  This court in Thorn v Amalgamated Transit Union, Case No. 01-3085 

(8th Cir. 2002) observed a local union was a nominal party because it had no 

contractual duty as Carpets N More would have no duty in the petitioner’s 

contract action against the GE defendants: 

“However, all of the affirmative acts that Thorn alleges were 
discriminatory were committed by Local 1005 and its officers and 
members. ATU is not liable for those acts because Local 1005 was not 

acting as an agent of the international.  See Laughon v. Int’l Alliance of 

Theatrical & Stage Employees, 248 F.3d 931, 935 (9th Cir. 2001).  As 
for ATU’s alleged failure to discipline its local chapter, we have 
already noted that Local 1005 has no affirmative duty to remedy 
discrimination by the employer.  Likewise, an international union has 
no affirmative duty to discipline a local for failing to remedy employer 
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discrimination.  Accordingly, we agree with the district court that ATU 
was a nominal party for purposes of Thorn’s motion to remand.” 

   
Thorn v Amalgamated Transit Union, Case No. 01-3085 at pg. 10. 
 

J. Defendants Were Able To Remove the Case For Diversity on April 

28, 2006 

 

145.  Once the thirty days allowed by RSMo 54.21 had expired on April 28, 

2000 without any filing for extension by the plaintiff, the GE Defendants 

were responsible for knowing the Carpets N’ More no longer defeated 

diversity jurisdiction. See Exb. 2 After the May 4, 2006 order granting the 

Heartland defendants’ motion for dismissal, the GE Defendants were able to 

remove the action to federal court on the basis of diversity. See Exb. 2 

Which they did not do until filing the Notice of Removal on July 17, 2006, 

63 days later and 33 days beyond the thirty day time limit of 28 U.S.C. 

§1446(b). 

1. Named but Unserved Defendants Cannot Defeat Diversity 

 
146.  28 U.S.C. §1441(b) states, “Such action[s] shall be removable only if 

none of the parties in interest properly joined and served as defendants is a 

citizen of the state in which such action is brought.” This statutory language, 

enacted in 1948, abrogated the Supreme Court’s rule in Pullman Co. v. 

Jenkins, 305 U.S. 534, 539-41 (1939) (holding that the presence of a local 

defendant, whether served or not, defeats removal jurisdiction). 
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147.  Now, the presence of an unserved Defendant who is a citizen of the 

forum state does not prevent removal when complete diversity exists McCall 

v. Scott, 239 F.3d 808 n.2 (6thCir. 2001); Wensil v. E.I. Dupont De Nemours 

and Co., 792 F.Supp. 447, 449 (D.S.C. 1992); Maple Leaf Bakery v. 

Raychem Corp.,No. 99 C 6948, 1999 WL 1101326 (N.D.Ill. Nov. 29, 1999). 

Samples v. Conoco, Inc., 165 F. Supp.2d 1303, 1308 (N.D. Fla. 2001) 

(quoting Gilberg v. Stepan Co., 24 F. Supp.2d 325, 330 (D.N.J. 1998): “[A] 

plaintiff cannot defeat removal merely by naming a nondiverse defendant; 

that defendant also has to be ‘properly joined and served’ for removal to be 

barred.”), and Roberts v. Webster, 1995 WL 908688 (N.D. Ala. 1995) 

(because nondiverse resident had not been served, his residency would be 

disregarded), and Mask v. Chrysler Corp., 825 F. Supp. 285 (N.D. Ala. 

1993) (holding, in the alternative, that because nondiverse defendant was not 

served, it could not defeat diversity jurisdiction), aff’d without opinion, 29 

F.3d 641 (11th Cir. 1994), and Republic Western Ins. Co. v. International 

Ins. Co., 765 F. Supp. 628 (N.D. Cal. 1991) (a resident defendant who has 

not been served may be ignored in determining appropriateness of removal), 

and Duff v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Co., 287 F. Supp. 138 (N.D. Okla. 

1968) (same). 

2. Later Service Would Not Give The Plaintiff The Power to Remand 
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148.  The Third Circuit Court of Appeals recognized service of local 

defendants after removal does not defeat diversity in Lewis v. Rego Co., 757 

F.2d 66 (3d Cir. 1985):  

“[T]he removal statute contemplates that once a case has been properly 

removed the subsequent service of additional defendants who do not 
specifically consent to removal does not require or permit remand on a 
plaintiff’s motion.  The statute itself contemplates that after removal 
process or service may be completed on defendants who had not been 
served in the state proceeding.  The right which the statute gives to 
such a defendant to move to remand the case confers no rights upon a 
plaintiff.”   

 
 Id. at 69 (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1448). The United States District Court for 

the Western District of Missouri previously reached the same result:  “Any 

defendant so subsequently served may move to remand the case to the state 

court, but a plaintiff may not do so if jurisdiction of the United States 

District Court is established over the action.”  Hutchins v. Priddy, 103 F. 

Supp. 601, 607 (W.D. Mo. 1952). 

K. Removal Was A Fraud on The Western District of Missouri Court 

149.  When the duty of John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 to the Western 

District of Missouri Court was its highest because of the absence of the 

opposing party and he was therefore required to apprise the court of 

information both helpful to his effort and harmful, Mr. Power misinformed 

the court and withheld information from the court, obtaining two orders in 

the facial absence of any federal jurisdiction. 
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1. The Fraud was Intentional  

150.  The GE Defendants misrepresentation through their counsel John K. 

Power, MO Lic # 70448 that a basis for federal jurisdiction came into 

existence within 30 days of filing their notice of removal meets the Eight 

Circuit requirements for a finding of fraud on this court. The standard for 

proof of fraud upon the court is: (1) an intentional fraud; (2) by an officer of 

the court; (3) which is directed at the court itself; and (4) in fact deceives the 

court. A determination of fraud on the court may be justified only by "the 

most egregious misconduct directed to the court itself," and that it "must be 

supported by clear, unequivocal and convincing evidence." See In re 

Coordinated Pretrial Proceedings in Antibiotic Antitrust Actions, 538 F.2d 

180, 195 (8th Cir.1976) (citations omitted). 

2. The Court Was Deceived 

151.  By obtaining two court orders through ex parte advocacy before the 

plaintiff knew of the defendants’ transfer and before service upon the 

plaintiff of the Notice of Removal, the Western District of Missouri was 

deceived into exercising jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s state action in the 

absence of any clear and convincing evidence federal jurisdiction existed.  

152.  Fraud on the court is a fraud designed not simply to cheat an opposing 

litigant, but to ‘corrupt the judicial process’ or ‘subvert the integrity of the 
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court’” itself. It is fraud, including fraud perpetrated by officers of the court, 

that prevents the court from“perform[ing] in the usual manner its impartial 

task of adjudicating cases.” See 12 Moore’s Federal Practice 3d ¶ 

60.21[4][a] (2003). See also Blacks Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition id. at 457. 

3. The Fraud was Directed At The Western District of Missouri Court  

153.  In fact the appearance docket from Independence, Missouri containing 

entries was edited by the GE Defendants so that pages clearly showing the 

absence of any event-giving rise to federal jurisdiction in the preceding 

thirty days were omitted. See Exb 35. From the plaintiff’s motion to remand. 

154.  Fraud on the court “is limited to that species of fraud which does or 

attempts to subvert the integrity of the court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated 

by officers of the court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in the 

usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases that are presented for 

adjudication." United States v. Zinner, No. 95-0048, 1998 WL 57522, *2-*3 

(E.D. Pa. Feb. 9, 1998) (citation omitted). John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 

in his capacity as an officer of the court committed fraud by omission of the 

relevant pages of the appearance docket to accomplish the GE Defendants 

goal of escaping a just resolution of the plaintiff’s claims in Missouri State 

court and to enter the federal system where the case could ultimately be 

moved to Kansas District court.  
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4. The Fraud Was By An Officer of The Court 

155.  John K. Power’s, MO Lic # 70448 involvement as an officer of the 

court, “to improperly influence” a court so as to give rise to a fraud on the 

court meets this grave standard. A party must engage in “the most 

egregious” of conduct such as “bribery of a judge or members of a jury,” 

Fierro v. Johnson, 197 F.3d 147, 154 (5th Cir. 1999), or other conduct that 

“subvert[s] the [court’s] integrity,” Zinner,1998 WL 57522, *2-*3, and 

“interfere[s] with the judicial system’s ability impartially to adjudicate a 

matter . . ..” Simon v. Navon, 116 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 1997) (emphasis added). 

See Greiner v. City Champlin, 152 F.3d 787, 789 (8th Cir. 1998), lest the 

concept of fraud on the court undermine the "deep-rooted federal policy of 

preserving the finality of judgments.” Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Gore, 761 

F.2d 1549, 1551(11th Cir. 1985). See also Great Coastal Express, Inc. v. 

Int'l B'hood of Teamsters, 675 F.2d 1349, 1356 (4th Cir. 1982). 

5. The Fraud Has Harmed The Court and The State 

156.  In Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford Empire Co. 322 U.S. 238 64 

S.Ct. 997, 1000, 88 L. Ed 1250, the court addresses the issue of injury 

caused by Fraud on the Court by stating: 

   "Furthermore, tampering with the administration of justice in the manner 
indisputably shown here involves far more than injury to a single litigant. It 
is a wrong against the institutions set up to protect and safeguard the public 
institutions in which fraud can not complacently be tolerated consistent with 
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the good order of society. Surely it cannot be that preservation of the 
integrity of the judicial process must always wait upon the diligence of 
litigants. The public welfare demands that the agencies of public justice be 
not so impotent that they must always be mute and helpless victims of 
deception and fraud." 
 

Id. At 1000. The court observed in State of Missouri, v. Robert Joe 

Mason, 394 S.W.2d 343 "The defendant having resorted to unfair means to 

defeat the ends of justice, he must suffer the consequences. In Fulkerson v. 

Murdock, 53 Mo. App.l.c. 154, it is said: 'Evidence of the fact of an 

attempted subornation is admissible as an admission by conduct that the 

party's cause is an unrighteous one.'" 

L. Public Policy is served By Hearing the Controversy In State Court 

Under The Burford Abstention Doctrine  

 

157.  As recounted in the statement of facts, the complex regulatory scheme 

created in the Missouri Corporation code must define the status and standing 

of parties under Rule 17. However, the GE defendants’ counsel has 

succeeded in persuading federal courts to ignore the earlier final decision of 

the Missouri state court in granting the petitioner standing as the assignee of 

rights from the dissolved Missouri Corporation Medical Supply Chain, Inc. 

Despite the strong comity and res judicata principles violated and in 

reversible error violating the Rooker-Feldman doctrine. 

158.  This court recognized in I n re Otter Tail Power Company Case No. 

96-3618 (8thcir. 1997) the Burford doctrine from Burford v. Sun Oil Co., 
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319 U.S. 315 (1943) (federal court may abstain in deference to complex 

state administrative procedure) as a justification for remand to state court: 

“(''Burford abstention applies when a state has established a complex 
regulatory scheme supervised by state courts and serving important 
state interests, and when resolution of the case demands specialized 

knowledge and the application of complicated state laws." (quotations 
and citations omitted)), is also inapplicable.  The premise of Burford 
abstention is that "a federal court should abstain when the action before 
it involves matters of state law best left to the state alone."  Middle 

South Energy, Inc. v. Arkansas Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 772 F.2d 404, 417 
(8th Cir. 1985); see also Quackenbush, 116 S. Ct. at 1726 ("Ultimately, 
what is at stake is a federal court's decision, based on a careful 
consideration of the federal interests in retaining jurisdiction over the 
dispute and the competing concern for the independence of state action, 
that the State's interests are paramount and that a dispute would best be 
adjudicated in a state forum." (quotations and citation omitted)).” 
 

In re Otter Tail Power Company at pg. 30 

M. The GE Defendants Participated in State Court 

159.  A defendant may file an answer and affirmative defenses in state court 

without jeopardizing the right to remove the case, but when it takes 

affirmative actions to submit issues for determination, the defendant thereby 

evidences the intent to proceed in state court and waives its right of removal. 

See Scholz v. RDV Sports, Inc., 821 F. Supp. 1469, 1471 (M.D. Fla. 1993) 

(defendant’s filing of motions to dismiss manifested “an intent to proceed in 

state court”); Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Ferre, 606 F. Supp. 122, 124 

(S.D. Fla. 1984). 
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160.  Filing a motion to dismiss like the GE defendants did, a counterclaim, 

a motion to dissolve a temporary injunction, or even engaging in discovery 

have been held to constitute a waiver. See In re Weaver, 610 F.2d 335 (5th 

Cir. 1980) (motion to dissolve injunction constituted waiver); Kam Hon, Inc. 

v. Cigna Fire Underwriters Ins. Co., 933 F. Supp. 1060, 1061–63 (M.D. Fla. 

1996) (court could sua sponte remand a case where, prior to removal notice, 

insurance company filed a motion to dismiss/motion to strike in state court); 

Paris v. Affleck, 431 F. Supp. 878, 880 (M.D. Fla. 1977) (filing counterclaim 

waived defendant’s right of removal); Briggs v. Miami Window Corp., 158 

F. Supp. 229 (M.D. Ga. 1956) (removal waived by filing non-compulsory 

cross claim in state court).  

161.  As Judge Conway of the Middle District of Florida put it, the 

defendant should not “dilly-dally” in state court while it decides whether it 

wants to proceed in federal court. See Kam Hon, Inc. v. Cigna Fire 

Underwriters Ins. Co., 933 F. Supp. 1060, 1063 (1996). 

 
CONCLUSION 

 

 The delay the petitioner is currently experiencing in obtaining a remand 

of his action to state court from Western District of Missouri Fernando J. 

Gaitan is not unfamiliar. It resembles the inaction of the Kansas District 

court, specifically the delay of Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. 
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Vratil and Kansas District Court Judge Carlos Murguia to cause the 

disbarment of the petitioner’s counsel and then to dismiss the petitioner’s 

claims for lack of representation. The Western District of Missouri 

Fernando J. Gaitan is in danger of appearing under the malign if not corrupt 

influence of the GE defendants when clearly there is no federal jurisdiction 

to be exercised. In the absence of any statutory basis for federal jurisdiction 

Western District of Missouri Fernando J. Gaitan gives the appearance of 

violating the petitioner’s rights to state court redress by delaying a decision 

until the petitioner disadvantaged by lack of counsel mistakenly tries to 

assert a discovery right or some other act in furtherance of his claims that 

would lead him unwittingly into waiver of his right to demand. 

 The petitioner respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals grant his 

petition for a writ of mandamus and provide the much needed relief from 

the irreparable harm of invalid federal jurisdiction in violation of 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 144(b) and1447(c). 

 

Respectfully Submitted 

     ________________________ 
     Samuel K. Lipari Pro se 

297 NE Bayview  
Lee’s Summit, MO 64064  
816-365-1306 
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VERIFICATION 

 
State of Missouri  ) 
    )  SS 
County of Jackson  ) 
 
I Samuel K. Lipari being of lawful age and being first duly sworn upon my 

oath, state that I have read the above and foregoing petition and find the 
statements therein  to be true and correct to the best of my information, 
knowledge and belief. 
 
___________________ 
Samuel K. Lipari 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me on this _____ day of October, 2006 
 
 
______________ 
Notary 
 

Commission expires: 
 

 

Certificate of Service 

 
This is to certify that a copy of the foregoing notice was mailed 

postage pre-paid along with a copy of the Proposed Petition for Writ of 
Mandamus, this 3rd day of October 2006, to the following: 
 
Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan, Jr., Room 7552, United States District Court 
for the Western District of Missouri Charles Evans Whittaker Courthouse 
400 East Ninth Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64106 
 

John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One  
Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas City, MO   
64105-2122 
 
_______________________________________ 
Samuel K. Lipari 
297 NE Bayview  
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Lee’s Summit, MO 64064  
816-365-1306 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI  

 

 

 SAMUEL K. LIPARI     ) 

    Plaintiff,   ) 

v.       ) Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG 

       )  

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY     ) 

GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL BUSINESS  ) 

ASSET FUNDING CORPORATION,   ) 

GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL  ) 

SIGNALLING, LLC.     ) 

Defendants.  ) 

 

MOTION FOR RECUSAL UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 455(a) and (b)(4) 

 

 Comes Now the plaintiff Samuel K. Lipari appearing pro se and respectfully requests recusal of the 

trial judge in this matter. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

1. Hon. Judge Gaitan is a Director of St. Luke’s Health System, Inc. in Shawnee, Kansas 

 

http://www.judicialwatch.org/judges/2005/gaitanfj.pdf at page 1  See Attachment 1 

 

2. St. Lukes Health System is an owner of VHA/Novation and does over $97 million dollars of business 

with them. 
 

“SLHS is a shareholder and owner of VHA/Novation, the largest Group Purchasing Organization 

(GPO) in the nation.  SLHS accessed 885 VHA/Novation contracts with a total spending of $97 

million in 2002.  VHA/Novation validates the quality, market share, and availability of the various 

vendors, and provides SLHS as much as a 6% increase in discounts plus an average 2% rebate for 

every contract dollar spent, thereby supporting the achievement of SLH objectives.  Most key 

suppliers are accessed through VHA/Novation.” 

 

http://baldrige.nist.gov/PDF_files/Saint_Lukes_Application_Summary.pdf  at page 7 See Attachment 2 

 

3. The plaintiff’s complaint at ¶¶ 78-80 identifies Neoforma, Inc. a direct competitor of the plaintiff’s 

owned by VHA and Novation and therefore St. Luke’s Health System, Inc. 

“78. In March, 2006 GE CAPITAL funded the purchase of Neoforma, an electronic marketplace 

competitor of Medical Supply Chain, Inc.   

79. Neoforma has never been profitable: “Neoforma’s balance sheet shows a cumulative loss of 

nearly $739 million dollars as of Sept. 30, 2004.” Healthcare  

Purchasing News March 2005.  

80. “In 2005, in accordance with GAAP, Neoforma's net loss and net loss per share were $35.9 

million dollars and $1.81 per share respectively, an improvement from the $61.2 million dollar net 

loss and $3.17 net loss per share recorded in the prior year.” Neoforma, Inc. press release SAN 

JOSE, CA USA 02/26/2003.” 
 

4. VHA and Novation’s sale of Neoforma was required because Novation was having to support 

1047 Supp. Apdx. 21



 2 

Neoforma losses with $61.0 million dollars a year: 

“Independent Consultants Engaged to Assess Neoforma’s Offering to Novation 

 

San Jose, CA - January 26, 2005 - I n connection with Neoforma, Inc.’s (NASDAQ: NEOF) 

decision to evaluate strategic alternatives, Neoforma, a leading provider of supply chain 
management solutions for the healthcare industry, and Novation, LLC, Neoforma’s principal 

customer, each have engaged independent consultants to assess the technology, information, 

services and pricing provided by Neoforma to Novation and its owners, VHA Inc. and University 

HealthSystem Consortium (UHC), and their member hospitals under an exclusive outsourcing 

agreement. Neoforma announced on January 11, 2005 that it had retained Merrill Lynch & Co. as its 

financial advisor to assist the Company in evaluating strategic alternatives, including a possible sale 

or merger of the Company, to achieve greater stockholder value. VHA and UHC own 42.4% and 

10.5%, respectively, of Neoforma’s outstanding common stock. 

 

The current 10-year exclusive outsourcing agreement, which was originally entered into in March 

2000, was most recently amended in August 2003 as a result of negotiations between the parties to 

the contract. Under the terms of that amendment, the quarterly maximum payment from Novation to 
Neoforma was established at $15.25 million, or $61.0 million per year, beginning in 2004. Since 

that time, Neoforma has documented significant value delivered by its offering to VHA and UHC 

hospitals. In 2004, approximately 280 VHA and UHC hospitals, representing a subset of 

Neoforma’s customer base, documented approximately $100 million in value by using Neoforma’s 

solutions to drive supply chain improvements within their organizations. Based on the value of its 

offering to Novation and to VHA and UHC hospitals, Neoforma believes that it is a valuable 

contributor to Novation, VHA and UHC maintaining their competitive position in the industry and 

to their hospitals’ efforts to improve supply chain efficiency…” 

 

5. The plaintiff is in litigation against VHA and Novation, both owned by Hon. Judge Gaitan’s hospital 

in a related case first filed in Missouri District court , then transferred to Kansas District court and now on 

appeal in the Tenth Circuit. Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Novation, et al, W.D. MO case no. 05-0210 KS 

Dist. Court case no.:05-2299, 10th Cir. case No. 06- 3331. 

6. The plaintiff’s antitrust lawsuit against VHA and Novation alleges that the cartel secures 

anticompetitive long term exclusive contracts with hospitals through kickbacks to hospital boards of 

directors and the award of lucrative personal consulting agreements in a conflict of interest with their 

respective institutions. 

“a. The defendants’ hospital group purchasing enterprise 

134. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA distribute hospital supplies by corrupting 

administrators in health systems (hospitals, hospital groups and independent distribution networks) 

that support the provision of services or provide services to Medicare, Medicaid and Champus 

funded patients. UHC and VHA employ marketing schemes that provide remunerations to 

healthcare systems under contracts in violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

1320a-7b.  

135. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA encourage health systems to violate § 

1320a-7b(b)(1) by receiving unlawful remunerations which are labeled as “rebates” and are paid 
periodically based on the products used by the health system and its loyalty to the terms of the 

anticompetitive exclusive agreement with the group purchasing organization, UHC, VHA or 

Premier which control 70% of the hospital supply market. 
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136. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA encourage their member hospitals to 

believe the group purchasing organizations are saving money by communicating the “value” of the 

rebates they are receiving as contrasted against the constantly increasing prices of hospital supplies 

allowed into UHC, VHA’s distribution system.  

137. The corrupting subtext of Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA’s marketing 

scheme is knowingly encouraging that third party payers, chiefly Medicare, Medicaid and Champus 
are billed for the artificially inflated list price, not the actual cost to the health system once the cash 

and cash substitute remunerations are factored in. 

138. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA violate § 1320a-7b(b)(2) because they 

knowingly and willfully pay and offer to pay the unlawful remunerations. To provide cover for the 

spiraling prices in the product lists of chosen hospital suppliers who are protected from competition 

in UHC and VHA’s captive market, Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA generate 

flawed studies that extol the discount in the form of rebates as a savings over the monopoly “list” 

price for healthcare supplies.  

139. The constant threat to the corrupt marketing scheme employed by UHC and VHA is access to 

real data from which to evaluate the actual costs imposed upon member hospitals by the artificially 

inflated distribution system, which would be destabilized by independent actions of participating 

hospitals and suppliers.  
140. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA have protected against this destabilizing by 

forcing hospitals and suppliers into long-term anticompetitive exclusive dealing contracts that 

harshly penalize every violation. Out of a misguided fear of antitrust liability, the contracts typically 

assign market share limiting each health system to 95% of its purchasing through the dominant 

group purchasing organization and require a token share of products to be purchased through a 

“competing” group purchasing organization. 

141. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque and VHA have also commanded loyalty among 

member health systems by making cash and cash substitute payments to health system board 

members and chief administrators in return for participation in the cost inflation scheme. 

142. Many forms of the Defendants’ cash and cash substitute payments to hospital administrators 

are concealed as “consulting contracts” and are not reported to Medicare, Medicaid or Champus or 
subtracted from the costs of hospital supplies transferred to third party payers.  

143. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque, VHA and Novation LLC have made use of payments 

to a third party in which hospital CEO’s are stakeholders in order to conceal the commercial bribe 

nature of the payments. An organization called the Healthcare Research and Development Institute 

(www.hrdi.com) has existed since the late 1990s. HRDI has approximately 35 members who are 

hospital CEOs (many are heavily involved in supporting GPOs). The Institute's clients are large 

manufacturers, publishers, and large consulting firms. Each client pays the Institute and the 

members of the Institute, who are also its shareholders, are paid out of the profits of the 

organization. For hospital CEOs to personally receive payments from companies that they do 

business with is a serious conflict of interest and a failure to fulfill their fiduciary responsibility.” 

 

 
¶¶ 134-143 of plaintiff’s action Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Novation, et al, W.D. MO case no. 05-0210. 

 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 

The federal recusal statute, 28 U.S.C. § 455(a), requires that “any justice  

shall disqualify himself in any proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be  

questioned.” The appearance of partiality – and not actual bias – is the test for recusal  

under Section 455(a): “In applying § 455(a), the judge’s actual state of mind, purity of  

heart, incorruptibility, or lack of partiality are not the issue.”  United States v. Cooley, 1  
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F.3d 985, 993 (10th Cir. 1993).  

  Congress established the “appearance of impartiality” standard “to promote   

public confidence in the integrity of the judicial process.”  Liljeberg v. Health Services   

Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 860 (1988).  The legislative history of § 455(a) is clear:  

This general standard is designed to promote public confidence in the impartiality  

of the judicial process by saying, in effect, if there is a reasonable factual basis  

for doubting the judge’s impartiality, he should disqualify himself and let another  

judge preside over the case.  

 

H. Rep. No. 93-1453, p. 5 (1974), U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 1974, p. 6355.  In the words 

of the Seventh Circuit, “Once a judge whose impartiality toward a particular case may reasonably be 

questioned presides over that case, the damage to the  

integrity of the system is done.”  Durhan v. Neopolitan, 875 F.2d 91, 97 (1989). 

The facts of Hon. Judge Gaitan’s fiduciary interest in St. Luke’s Health System, Inc.  and its 

ownership interest in VHA/Novation , alleged by the plaintiff’s complaint to be acting in concert with the 

defendants over the sale of the plaintiff’s competitor Neoforma to prevent the plaintiff from entering the 

hospital supply marketplace more than satisfy Section 455(a), which mandates recusal merely when a 

Justice’s impartiality “might reasonably be questioned.” Independently, the plaintiff’s ongoing litigation 

against VHA and Novation also mandates recusal under Section 455(a). 

It is beyond contest that Hon. Judge Gaitan as a fiduciary through being a Director of St. Luke’s 

Health System, Inc. with an ownership interest in VHA/Novation which the plaintiff is suing in a related 

action requires Hon. Judge Gaitan’s recusal under 28 U.S.C. § 455(b)(4). 

Whereas for the above mentioned reasons, the plaintiff who has not forfeited his right to remand 

this action back to state court now respectfully requests that the judge hearing this matter recuse himself. 

Respectfully submitted, 

_______________________________ 

     Samuel K. Lipari Pro se 

 

 

 

 

Certificate of Service 

 
This is to certify that a copy of the foregoing notice was mailed postage pre-paid along with a 

copy of the Proposed Order, this 8th day of November, 2006, to the following: 
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John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One  

Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas City, MO   

64105-2122 

 

_______________________________________ 
Samuel K. Lipari 

297 NE Bayview  

Lee's Summit, 816-365-1306 

saml@medicalsupplychain.com 

Pro se 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 

SAMUEL K. LIPARI    ) 

(Statutory Trustee of Dissolved  ) 

Medical Supply Chain, Inc.)  ) 

       ) 

    Plaintiff,  ) 

       ) 

v.       ) Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG 

       ) 

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, et al., ) 

       ) 

    Defendants.  ) 

 

DEFENDANTS’ OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S 

MOTION FOR RECUSAL 

 

Plaintiff has moved this Court for an Order requesting that Judge Gaitan recuse himself 

from the proceeding.  Defendants oppose Plaintiff’s motion because it is unwarranted in that 

Judge Gaitan’s position with a non-party to this proceeding (or any other proceeding for that 

matter) does not create an appearance of impropriety, nor does he have any interest that could be 

substantially affected by this proceeding.  The basis for Defendants’ opposition is as follows: 

BACKGROUND 

On March 28, 2006, Plaintiff sued the Defendants in Missouri state court.  Plaintiff’s suit 

is a relatively straight-forward breach of contract case between a dissolved entity known as 

Medical Supply Chain (“MSC”) and the Defendants.  More specifically, Plaintiff alleges that 

MSC had a contract with Defendants to buy an office building from which Plaintiff was to 

operate its business.  Plaintiff claims that the Defendants breached the contract by refusing to 

provide funding to MSC so that MSC could purchase the building from the Defendants.  MSC no 

longer exists.  Plaintiff first brought this case in his alleged capacity as statutory trustee.  The 

Defendants moved to dismiss the petition because Plaintiff did not have the legal capacity to 
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bring the suit.  Thereafter, Plaintiff re-framed the suit, but this time he alleged that all of MSC’s 

assets had been assigned to him. 

On July 17, 2006, the Defendants removed the case to federal court.  Now, four months 

later, Plaintiff seeks the recusal of Judge Gaitan. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

The test for disqualification or recusal under 28 U.S.C. § 455(a) is an objective test.  

Fletcher v. Conoco Pipeline Co., 323 F.3d 661, 664 (8
th

 Cir. 2003).  Thus, a judge is disqualified 

or recused only if “the average person on the street, a reasonable man knowing all the 

circumstances ‘would harbor doubts about the judges impartiality.’” Tyler v. Purkett, 413 F.3d 

696, 704 (8
th

 Cir. 2005).  However, in every case the presumption is that the judge is impartial.  

In order to overcome this presumption, the movant “bears the substantial burden of proving 

otherwise.”  Fletcher, 323 F.3d at 664.  The reason the  movant bears the substantial burden is 

because a judge has “as strong a duty to sit when there is no legitimate reason to recuse as he 

does to recuse when the law and facts require.  Nicholls v. Alley, 71 F.3d 347, 351 (10
th

 Cir. 

1995).  Importantly, a judge should not recuse himself when the request to do so is based on 

unsubstantiated suggestions of prejudice.  Bryce v. Episcopal Church in the Diocese of 

Colorado, 289 F.3d 648, 659-660 (10
th

 Cir. 2002). 

THE CASE 

The basis for Plaintiff’s motion is that Judge Gaitan is a member of the Board of 

Directors of St. Luke’s Health System, Inc. (“St. Lukes”).  St. Lukes, in turn, is a shareholder of 

VHA/Novation.  Plaintiff makes the conclusory claim that as a result of Judge Gaitan’s 

membership of the Board of St. Lukes, he is a “fiduciary” and there is an appearance of 

Case 4:06-cv-00573-FJG     Document 27-1     Filed 11/20/2006     Page 2 of 6 

1066



0931059.01 3 

impropriety both of which requires his recusal.  Plaintiff’s unsubstantiated conclusions of 

prejudice do not require a recusal.   

28 U.S.C. 45(b)(4) states that a judge may recuse himself if “[h]e knows that he, 

individually or as a fiduciary . . . has a financial interest in the subject matter in controversy or in 

a party to the proceeding, or any other interests that could be substantially affected by the 

outcome of the proceeding: . . .”  Id.  Here, the subject matter in controversy is a breach of 

contract case pertaining to real property and the funding of the purchase of the real property.  

The case is solely between the various GE Defendants and Plaintiff.  Plaintiff does not allege, 

nor can he, that Judge Gaitan has a financial interest in this subject matter in controversy because 

he has no interest in the property at issue in this case.  Nor can Plaintiff claim that Judge Gaitan 

has a financial interest in a party to the proceeding because neither St. Lukes, nor VHA, nor 

Novation, nor MSC are parties to this litigation.  At best, Plaintiff must be arguing that somehow 

(he does not say how) Judge Gaitan’s “other interest” “could be substantially affected by the 

outcome of the proceeding.”  28 U.S.C. 455(b)(4).  Even if Plaintiff prevails in this case and is 

awarded damages for the alleged breach of contract, that will not affect Judge Gaitan’s interest in 

St. Lukes.   

The Court in In Re Kansas Public Employees Retirement System, 85 F.3d 1353 (8
th

 Cir. 

1996 (“KPERS Litigation”)), reached the same conclusion.  In the KPERS Litigation, Judge 

Bartlett was assigned to handle the underlying litigation.  After the case was removed to Judge 

Bartlett, several parties, including Boatmens First National Bank of Kansas City, Missouri 

(“Boatmens”), moved to intervene in the underlying action.  Judge Bartlett disqualified himself 

from presiding over Boatmens’ application to intervene because he owned stock in Boatmens’ 

parent company.  Id. at 1355.  Thereafter, KPERS moved to recuse Judge Bartlett because of his 
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ownership interest in the parent company of Boatmens.  Thus, the question before the Eighth 

Circuit was whether Judge Bartlett’s ownership of stock in the parent company of Boatmens 

constituted a basis for disqualification in a case where neither Boatmens nor its parent company 

was involved.  Id. at 1361.  The Eighth Circuit held that Bartlett’s alleged financial interest in the 

KPERS case was simply too remote, speculative and contingent to be an interest that could be 

substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding before him.  The Court went on to state 

that they were “reluctant to fashion a rule requiring judges to recuse themselves from all cases 

that might remotely affect non-party companies in which they own stock.  We believe that such a 

rule would paint with too broad a stroke.”  Id. at 362.   

Here, Judge Gaitan’s position as a member of the Board of Directors of St. Lukes is even 

more remote, speculative and contingent than Judge Bartlett’s interest in Boatmens.  Judge 

Gaitan is a director, not a shareholder of St. Lukes.  The likelihood that he will receive monetary 

remuneration is more remote than a shareholder such as Bartlett.  Moreover, in the KPERS 

Litigation, the entity at issue, Boatmens, was a named party in a companion suit.  Here, St. Lukes 

is not a named party in the proceeding currently before the Tenth Circuit.  Rather, it is an entity 

in which St. Lukes owns stock that is a party in the Tenth Circuit proceeding.  Thus, St. Lukes is 

not just once removed from the companion case (as the situation in the KPERS Litigation) but it 

is at least twice removed from the proceeding.  To paraphrase the Court in the KPERS Litigation, 

the question is whether judge Gaitan’s position as director in a company constitutes a basis for 

disqualification in a case where St. Lukes is not involved in either the present case or the other 

proceeding.  Judge Gaitan’s interest, such as it is, will not substantially affect the outcome of this 

proceeding.  Plaintiff has failed to show that Judge Gaitan would be tempted to make adverse 

rulings against the Plaintiff so as to somehow, some way, indirectly assist St. Lukes.   
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Nor does Plaintiff’s unsubstantiated conclusions of impropriety satisfy the obligations 

under 28 U.S.C. § 455.  Here, it is difficult to see how an objective person could determine that 

Judge Gaitan is acting or will act with impartiality because he is sitting on the Board of Directors 

of a non-party in this or the other proceeding and all the participants in the alleged wrongdoing 

are not parties to this litigation.  All the parties are asking Judge Gaitan to do in this case is to 

determine whether there was a breach of contract between the dissolved MSC and GE 

Defendants.  It is undisputed that Judge Gaitan does not have an interest in any of those entities. 

Plaintiff’s motion should be denied for the additional reason that it is untimely brought.  

The Eighth Circuit has ruled that a claim for judicial recusal under Section 455 will not be 

considered unless timely made.  Fletcher, 323 F.3d at 664.  A party is obligated to raise a claim 

for judicial recusal at the earliest possible moment after obtaining knowledge of facts 

demonstrating the basis for such a claim.  Id.  If a party fails to timely raise a recusal claim, that 

failure can result in the waiving or forfeiting of judicial review.  Id.  Here, this case has been 

before Judge Gaitan since July 17, 2006.  Plaintiff had available to it Judge Gaitan’s financial 

disclosure report since the removal of this action.  Plaintiff’s failure to raise this issue over the 

intervening months constitutes a waiver or forfeiture of the judicial review of this claim.  

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiff’s bald assertions of prejudice, without more, do not satisfy the substantial burden 

he has in requesting the recusal of the Judge.  Judge Gaitan’s position as a Board of Director of a 

company that in turn owns interest in another company that in turn is a party in other litigation in 

another, different District Court is far too remote, speculative and contingent to satisfy the 

requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 455.  As a result, Plaintiff’s motion should be denied. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 

 

 

 

 By:/s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 

1200 Main Street, Suite 2300 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 

 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 

 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 

  

 ATTORNEYS FOR GENERAL ELECTRIC 

COMPANY, GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL 

BUSINESS ASSET FUNDING CORPORATION 

AND GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS 

GLOBAL SIGNALING, LLC 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and accurate copy of the foregoing 

instrument was forwarded this 20th day of November, 2006, by first class mail, postage prepaid 

to: 

 

Samuel K. Lipari 

297 NE Bayview 

Lee's Summit, MO 64064 

 

 

        /s/ John K. Power    
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI  

 

 

 SAMUEL K. LIPARI     ) 
    Plaintiff,   ) 
v.       ) Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG 
       )  
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY     ) 
GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL BUSINESS  ) 
ASSET FUNDING CORPORATION,   ) 
GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL  ) 

SIGNALLING, LLC.     ) 
Defendants.  ) 
 

PLAINTIFF’S HEARING BRIEF AND  

REPLY SUGGESTION FOR RECUSAL UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 455(a) and (b)(4) 

 

 Comes Now the plaintiff Samuel K. Lipari appearing pro se and respectfully offers a suggestion 

supporting mandatory recusal of the trial judge in this matter and provides a brief of issues for any hearing.  

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 The plaintiff is surprised and concerned that this issue has been submitted to the parties for briefing. 

28 U.S.C. § 455(b) requires automatic recusal where being on the board of a related party creates fiduciary 

interest. Judicial Canon 5(C)(2)  proscribes the judge’s participation on the board of St. Luke’s. Cannon 

3(C)(1)(c) requires recusal because the court’s fiduciary property interest as a past or present director of  St. 

Luke’s will be substantially effected by the outcome of this case and the discovery of the judge’s role as a 

director of St. Luke’s undisclosed by him in this action is operatively the same factual scenario as Liljeberg 

v. Health Services Acquisition Corp, 486 U.S. 847, 108 S.Ct. 2194, 100 L.Ed.2d 855 (1987) where the 

court found the judge who was a director of a related nonparty entity had a prohibited fiduciary property 

interest in St. Jude Hospital affected by the action and therefore committed four violations of § 455. 

FACTUAL HISTORY 

 The plaintiff just discovered the conflict of interest raised by Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan’s  28 

U.S.C. § 455(b)(4) prohibited fiduciary interest in the present litigation as a member of the board of 

director’s of St. Luke’s hospital, a business which is the entity controlling Volunteer Hospital Association 

of America (VHA) and Novation LLC and participating as a health system  in the Novation monopolization 

of hospital supplies in a cartel with General Electric Company by purchasing almost all of its hospital 

supplies in illegal long term anticompetitive contracts with Novation, totaling more than 97 million dollars 
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a year in Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan’s hospital alone. St. Luke’s hospital also receives substantial 

payments from Novation in the form of rebates that the plaintiff has alleged violate Medicare anti-kickback 

statutes.  

 The complaint in the present breach of contract litigation specifically identifies General Electric 

Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation’s financing the partial purchase of the plaintiff’s direct web 

based competitor electronic marketplace for hospital supplies, Neoforma, Inc. by  GHX, Inc. an electronic 

marketplace created by General Electric and alleges the General Electric defendants breached their contract 

when they realized their performance would permit the plaintiff to enter the market for hospital supplies as 

a competitor to their cartel. 

 The plaintiff is currently litigating antitrust and racketeering claims against VHA and Novation and 

has described in its Kansas District court pleadings later accruing antitrust claims based on the combining 

of Neoforma with GHX, LLC and later racketeering conduct of Novation  and General Electric in 

furtherance of the cartel’s continuing monopolization of the hospital supply business. As a director of a 

VHA member hospital, Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan and St. Luke’s other officers are witnesses to the 

conduct of VHA and Novation including the monopolization of hospital supplies giving rise to the claims 

being brought by the plaintiff.  

 It is problematic for any Judge to be on or have been on the board of a member of VHA and 

therefore a controlling officer over Novation LLC and to also have the conflicting responsibility of 

oversight of St. Luke which has its own institutional interests harmed by Sherman Act prohibited contracts 

with Novation LLC. Novation is the subject of a criminal investigation. See "Wide U.S. Inquiry Into 

Purchasing for Health Care" by Mary Williams Walsh, New York Times, August 21, 2004. The British 

newspaper the Daily Mail exposed Novation LLC’s practice of bribing officials to monopolize American 

hospital supply sales in an article entitled “US firm given £4bn NHS deal by Labour faces 'bribes' probe” 

by Sharon Churcher and Glen Owen, Daily Mail, Sunday 30th July 2006. The paper of record the Times of 

London also reported that Novation LLC was under investigation by the US justice Department for its 

anticompetitive practices; “Firm handed £4bn NHS contract was investigated for overcharging” by Nigel 

Hawkes, Times July31, 2006.  

 The plaintiff cannot demand rulings on the plaintiff’s motion to dismiss defendants’ affirmative 
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defenses, seek to dismiss the additional affirmative defenses untimely raised in the defendants’ answer, 

amend his complaint, enforce discovery or even enforce this court’s mediation order without forfeiting his 

right to remand this action to state court. 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 The plaintiff makes the following detailed explanations of the law applicable to the Judge’s current 

or previous position as a member of the Board of Directors of St. Luke’s Healthcare System, a entity 

related to defendants in ongoing litigation by the plaintiff which are also members of a hospital supply 

cartel openly organized by the current General Electric defendants and openly participating in an agreement 

to restrain trade memorialized as GHX, LLC. 

The Plaintiff’s Motion is Procedurally Correct  

 The plaintiff’s motion identified the basis for Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan’s automatic recusal 

with the judge’s own affidavit of financial interests attached, instead of a utilizing a plaintiff’s affidavit 

under a 28 U.S.C. § 144 motion: 

“The Independent Counsel does not seek review of Judge Woods's failure to disqualify himself 
under 28 U.S.C. § 144 (1994), which requires the party seeking recusal to timely file an affidavit 
alleging facts showing bias with the district judge that he wishes to be disqualified. Unlike § 144, § 
455 sets forth no procedure for seeking recusal in the district court. See Liteky, --- U.S. at ----, 114 
S.Ct. at 1153 (as distinguished from § 144, § 455 "place[s] the obligation to identify the existence of 

those grounds upon the judge himself, rather than requiring recusal only in response to a party 
affidavit").” 

 
Chase Manhattan Bank v. Affiliated Fm Ins. Co., 343 F.3d 128 at 131 (2nd Cir., 2003). The 

plaintiff cannot know all the sources of conflict for Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan in the present case and 

the judge has made no disclosure to the parties. Even if Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan is no longer a 

director of St. Luke’s or a director in some limited or special capacity, he must recuse himself: 

“Even if we accept all of the objective facts set out in the answer, however, we are not constrained 
to accept the legal conclusion that Mr. Harper's status with the Bank is not that of a "director," as 
contemplated by the use of that term in Canon 3 C(1)(d)(i). That he was thought of in the 
community as a "director of the Bank" is evidenced by the judge's reference in his order to "his 
brother's association with said Bank as a Director." 
 

        Moreover, without deciding Mr. Harper's true legal relationship with the Bank, we find that the 
Bank's common, albeit unofficial, description of Mr. Harper as a "director" is sufficient of itself to 
give rise to an appearance of impropriety for Judge Harper to sit as judge in this case.” 
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Ex parte Jackson, 508 So.2d 235 at 235 (Ala., 1987). The appearance of bias objectively exists 

regardless of whether Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan knew of the dimensions of conflict raised by his 

equitable interest in VHA and Novation as St. Luke’s fiduciary and continued to sit on this case:  

“In Liljeberg, the Supreme Court held that a judge's "forgetfulness" was not deemed "the sort of 
objectively ascertainable fact that can avoid the appearance of partiality." 486 U.S. at 860, 108 S.Ct. 
2194 (quoting Health Servs. Acquisition Corp. v. Liljeberg, 796 F.2d 796, 802 (5th Cir. 1986)). We 
hold that under the present facts the district judge's stated ignorance of the merger cannot overcome 
the objective appearance of a conflict of interest requiring disqualification under Section 455(a).” 
 

Chase Manhattan Bank v. Affiliated Fm Ins. Co., 343 F.3d 128 at 131 (2nd Cir., 2003). 

“Prior to its amendment in 1974, 28 U.S.C. § 455 had been construed to leave to the "conscience of 
the particular judge" whether he would try a person accused of robbing a bank in which the judge 
held stock. United States v. Ravich, 421 F.2d 1196, 1205 (2d Cir. 1970). Ravich held the interest of 
the judge in the case was "nonexistent." The 1974 revision was designed to eliminate a subjective 
test, and removed "in his opinion" from the statute. The statute now provides that a judge "shall 
disqualify himself in any proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned." 28 
U.S.C. § 455. This is described as an objective standard in the House Report mentioned just below. 
The legislative history indicates that the new objective test was intended to end the "duty to sit" 

construction the former statute had received. H.R. Rep. No. 93-1453, 93d Cong., 2d Sess., reprinted 
in U.S.Code Cong. & Admin.News, 93d Cong., 2d Session, pp. 6351, 6354-55. Thus, we are now 
required to assess "all the facts and circumstances in order to determine whether the failure to 
disqualify was an abuse of sound judicial discretion." H.R. Rep. No. 93-1453, supra, reprinted at 
6355. Davis v. Board of School Comm'rs., 517 F.2d 1044, 1052 (5th Cir. 1975). 
 

U.S. v. Sellers, 566 F.2d 884 at 887 (C.A.4 (S.C.), 1977). 

Significant Judicial Time Has Not Been Expended on the Case 

 The plaintiff just discovered the conflict and made motion for recusal the following day. The 

plaintifff’s motion is therefore timely: 

“Generally, a motion for recusal should be brought at the first opportunity after discovery of the 
facts requiring disqualification. See 28 U.S.C. Sec. 144; Smith v. Danyo, 585 F.2d 83, 86 (3d 
Cir.1978).” 

 
Lephart v. Franklin County Sheriff's Dept., 14 F.3d 601 (C.A.6 (Ohio), 1993). 

 If the court had devoted substantial judicial time to this matter and the conflict was merely an 

appearance of being on the board of directors of a related nondefendant party covered by § 455(a)  

instead of actually having been on the board mandating automatic recusal under § 455(b)(4), the amount 

of time the trial judge spent on the matter might be a factor. However, in the present case, the 

substantial calendar time is not counted, and the trial court has not ruled on any of the substantive 

motions before it.  

“We turn then to the issue of whether the district court "devoted substantial judicial time." The 
statute does not define "substantial judicial time." The district court discussed § 455(f) in support of 
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its argument that it could prospectively divest of conflicting stocks before substantial judicial time 
was invested. In re Initial Pub. Secs. Offering Litig., 174 F.Supp.2d at 86-87. We think the district 
court failed to appreciate the application of § 455(f) to the recusal motion. We hold measuring 

"substantial judicial time" means examining the time and effort a district court invests in a 

matter, rather than simply counting off days on the calender to see if "substantial" time 

passed. The inquiry is thus properly focused on the amount of work a case requires, not on 

calender time. In some matters, months may pass with little or no involvement by the district 

court, requiring a finding that substantial judicial time has not been devoted. Other cases will, 
in a matter of weeks, demand a great deal of the court's time and attention. For example, little 
judicial time would probably be expended on a typical employment discrimination action within the 
first few months of assignment. In contrast, the Securities Actions required a herculean 
organizational effort upon assignment, with the docket reflecting the entry of more than 2,000 items. 
Organizational work may be the grunt work of the judicial system, but it is as necessary and vital to 

its success as motion and trial practice. We recognize that this case is unusual in requiring the 
devotion of significant judicial resources early on, and suspect that in most cases the passage of 
calender time will closely track the devotion of judicial time. Compare Tramonte v. Chrysler Corp., 
136 F.3d 1025, 1031-32 (5th Cir.1998) (substantial judicial time exception not available where 

the docket reflects little time devoted to the matter), and Gordon v. Reliant Energy Inc., 141 
F.Supp.2d 1041, 1045 (S.D.Cal.2001) (same), with Baldwin Hardware Corp. v. Franksu Enter. 

Corp., 78 F.3d 550, 555-56 (Fed.Cir.1996) (substantial judicial time expended when discovery of 
conflicting interest came during trial), and Kidder, Peabody, 925 F.2d at 561 (substantial judicial 
time expended when discovery of conflicting interest came three years into the litigation).” [ 

mphasis added] 
 

In re Certain Underwriter, 294 F.3d 297 at 304-305 (Fed. 2nd Cir., 2002). However, the trial 

judge’s recusal due to his position as a Director of St. Luke’s during the events and conduct complained 

of by the plaintiff is mandatory under § 455(b): 

“Subsection 455(b) spells out the circumstances in which a judge must disqualify himself because of 

his relation to participants in a case. The specific provisions at issue here are § 455(b)(1), which 
requires a United States judge to disqualify himself from a case if "he has a personal bias or 
prejudice concerning a party," and § 455(b)(5)(iii), which requires recusal if the judge "or a person 
within the third degree of relationship to [him] ... [i]s known by the judge to have an interest that 
could be substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding." The interest described in § 
455(b)(5)(iii) includes noneconomic as well as economic interests. Potashnick v. Port City Const. 

Co., 609 F.2d 1101, 1113 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 820, 101 S.Ct. 78, 66 L.Ed.2d 22 (1980). 
Subsection 455(e) provides that a § 455(b) conflict cannot be waived.” 

 
Kansas Public Employees Retirement System, In re, 85 F.3d 1353 at 1359 (C.A.8 (Mo.), 1996). 

The court in Chase Manhattan Bank described how a fiduciary duty mandates recusal: 

“Section 455(b) provides in relevant part that a judge 
 
        shall also disqualify himself in the following circumstances: 
. . . . . 

        (4) He knows that he, individually or as a fiduciary, or his spouse or minor child residing in his 
household, has a financial interest in the subject matter in controversy or in a party to the 
proceeding, or any other interest that could be substantially affected by the outcome of the 
proceeding. 
 
        28 U.S.C. § 455(b). 
 
        Section 455(c) imposes a duty upon a federal judge to 
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        inform himself about his personal and fiduciary financial interests, and make a reasonable 
effort to inform himself about the personal financial interests of his spouse and minor children 
residing in his household. 
 

        28 U.S.C. § 455(c). For these purposes, Section 455(d)(4) defines "financial interest" to mean 
"ownership of a legal or equitable interest, however small." 28 U.S.C. § 455(d)(4). 
 
        Unlike Section 455(a), therefore, Section 455(b)(4) embodies an actual knowledge test 
regarding disqualifying circumstances and provides a bright line as to disqualification based on a 
known financial interest in a party — i.e., an equity financial interest of any size is disqualifying. 
See Liljeberg, 486 U.S. at 859-60 n. 8, 108 S.Ct. 2194.Moreover, the parties may, if fully informed, 
waive grounds for disqualification under Section 455(a) but not under Section 455(b). See 28 U.S.C. 

§ 455(e).” 
 

Chase Manhattan Bank v. Affiliated Fm Ins. Co., 343 F.3d 120 at 127 (2nd Cir., 2003). 

Judicial Canons Require Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan’s Recusal 

The trial judge has notice of the conflict at a stage of the litigation where the Cannons of Judicial 

Conduct should guide his decision and clearly require his recusal. The canons are a basis on which judges 

can look to disqualify themselves before a trial had begun. Smith v. Sikorski Aircraft, 420 F.Supp. 661 

(C.D.Cal. 1976); Spires v. Hearst Corp., 420 F.Supp. 304 (C.D.Cal.1976). 

Even a charitable nonprofit organization not competing in commerce as a provider of services for 

compensation ( as St. Luke’s does) has been a historical concern to drafter’s of Judicial Ethics Cannons for 

the potential of actual and perceived conflicts of interest: 

“Canon 25 of the Canons of Judicial Ethics, as adopted by the then members of this court on 
January 27, 1954 (160 Ohio St.), differs from Canon 25 as adopted by the American Bar 
Association. Canon 25 provides that: 
        'A judge should avoid giving ground for any reasonable suspicion that he is utilizing the power 
or prestige of his office to persuade or coerce others to patronize or contribute, either to the success 
of private business ventures, or to charitable enterprises. He should, therefore, not enter into such 

private business, or pursue such a course of conduct, as would justify such suspicion, (n)or use the 
power of his office (or the influence of his name) to promote the business interests of others; he 
should not solicit for charities, nor should he enter into any business relation which, in the normal 
course of events reasonably to be expected, might bring his personal interest into conflict with the 
impartial performance of his official duties.' 
        The foregoing quoted language, in brackets, is included in Canon 25 as adopted by the 
American Bar Association but is not included in Canon 25 as adopted by this court in 1954. That 
court, by omitting the language in brackets from American Bar Canon 25, seemingly intended to 
give judges greater latitude in their business relationships than would be permitted by the American 

Bar Canon. In view thereof, it would appear that a judge does not necessarily violate Canon 25, as 
adopted in Ohio, merely by serving as a member of the board of directors of a loan company or a 
savings and loan association, where he in good faith discharges his duties as a director and nothing 
more is involved.  
        If the fact of a judge's membership on the board of directors is used by the corporation to 
persuade others to patronize it or is used by the corporation to promote its business interests, the 
judge, by accepting membership on the board of directors, has given ground for 'reasonable 
suspicion' that the judge is using 'the power or prestige of his office' for that purpose. This is 
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especially true if the judge does not regularly attend meetings of the board of directors, but is a 
member of the board in name only.” 

 
Cincinnati Bar Ass'n v. Heitzler, 291 N.E.2d 477, 32 Ohio St.2d 214 at 224-225 (Ohio, 1972). The 

Ohio court recognized the rule for conduct of judges depends upon its consideration of the new Code of 

Judicial Conduct adopted by the American Bar Association, Canon 4 of which expressly prohibits a judge 

from serving as an officer, director, employee or advisor of any business organization.” Cincinnati Bar 

Ass'n v. Heitzler 291 N.E.2d 477 at fn (Ohio, 1972). 

The State of Louisiana adopted a version of Canon 5(C) expressly barring serving as a directing officer 

of a nonprofit corporation that is “affected with the public interest”: 

“The Code of Judicial Conduct was adopted by the Court pursuant to its constitutional supervisory 
jurisdiction over all other courts, see La.Const. art. V, § 5(A)(1974), and after lengthy deliberation 
on the need for greater specificity in some areas of ethical standards. For detailed historical 
development of the canon, see Babineaux, supra, at 399. This Code, like the Canons of Judicial 
Ethics which it replaced, is binding upon members of the judiciary. In re Haggerty, 257 La. 1, 241 

So.2d 469 (1970). Canon 5(C)(2) of the Code provides in pertinent part that: 
"a judge may hold and manage investments, including real estate, and engage in other remunerative 
activity but should not serve as an officer, director, manager, or employee of any bank, lending 
institution, homestead or savings and loan association, insurance company, public utility, and other 
businesses affected with a public interest." 
 

Babineaux, In re, 346 So.2d 676 at 678-679 (La., 1977). Florida Judicial Ethics Advisory 

Committee OPINION 95-45 ( January 2, 1996 ) stated unanimously that a judge cannot serve on the Board 

of a Credit Union under Canon 5D(3): 

“You ask whether you may continue to serve as a director of the MacDill Federal Credit Union 
(MFCU), a not-for-profit financial institution. The MFCU is clearly a business entity, regardless 

of its not-for-profit nature. It engages in savings, loans, and other financial activities. Canon 

5D(3) specifically prohibits a judge from serving as a director on the board of such an entity. 
Ten of the ten responding committee members believe that you should resign your board position.” [ 

emphasis added] 
 

In re: Committee on Standards of Conduct Governing Judges OPINION 95-45 

St. Luke’s is a very big business and is most certainly affected with the public interest. The 

Louisana court ruled the subject judges were to be suspended without pay: 

“Even without the publicity attendant to this litigation, respondents' service on boards of directors of 

financial institutions (banks, homesteads, etc.) was and is open and cognizable to those members of 
the public, and the bar, with sufficient interest or inclination to want to know. In our view it is also 
prejudicial to the administration of justice bringing the judicial office, and the judiciary in general, 
into disrepute, to have judges who are constitutionally subject to the supervision of this Court 
deliberately, continuously and openly refusing to comply with a valid canon of ethics.” 
 

Babineaux, In re, 346 So.2d 676 at 681 (La., 1977).  

1077



 8 

The State of Massachusetts has also issued opinions on the Canon’s application to a judge on 

the board of directors of a corporation and has specifically addressed the definition of business as it 

applies to nonprofit institutions: 

“Canon 5(B) of the Code of Judicial Conduct permits, with qualifications not here relevant, judges 
to serve as an officer or director of an "educational, religious, charitable, fraternal, or civic 
organization not conducted for the economic . . . advantage of its members." Making explicit Canon 
5(B)'s implicit prohibition, Canon 5(C)(2) prohibits judges from serving "as an officer, director, 
manager, advisor, or employee of any business." 
          The question thus becomes whether the Bank is a "business." The description of the Bank's 
affairs set out at the beginning of this letter leaves little doubt that it is. Moreover, the Committee, 

like similar Committees elsewhere, has construed the word "business" as appearing in Canon 
5(C)(2) quite broadly. In CJE Opinion 98-7, for example, the Committee stated that the Canon did 
not permit a judge to serve as an officer and director of a 600 member golf club because, although 
the golf club was a non-profit corporation, it had many of the indicia of a "business." In reaching 
that result, the Committee placed substantial weight on the fact that, in addition to its 600 members, 
the golf club had 18 to 20 employees, a budget in excess of $1 million and was in the midst of a 
major capital improvement project. See also CJE Opinions 93-1 (dealing with participation in a 
family business), 95-2 (dealing with participation in an investment club), 2001-5 (discussing various 
issues likely to arise out of service on a hospital's board of directors, including whether the hospital 

might be a "business" for purposes of the Canons), 2001-6 (dealing with service on the board of a 
condominium association) and 2001-11 (stating that Canon 5[C][2] prohibits service on the Board 
of Directors of a non-profit weekly town newspaper). 
          In the Committee's view, Canon 5(C)(2) prohibits your service on the Bank's Board of 
Trustees now that you have been sworn in as a Justice of the District Court.” 

 
Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts CJE Opinion No. 2001-14 (October 24, 2001). In  

CJE Opinion No. 2001-5 The Massachusetts committee cautioned that the health system described (which 

is equal to the Judge’s St. Luke’ Health System ) could be a business a "business" from which judicial 

service as an officer or director is barred by Canon 5(C)(2).  The committee suggested the criteria over 

whether the unidentified health system would escape being a business under the Canons depended on its 

revenue from providing services being less than its teaching revenue, a criteria St. Luke’s could not 

possibly meet. The committee also found that when the judge is on the board of directors of a health system 

related to a party in the litigation, recusal is required under Canon 3(C)(1)(c) :  

“When the organization is not a party but is closely involved in the proceeding or  
stands to benefit financially or otherwise from the proceeding’s outcome, slightly different  
considerations arise. The Committee is of the opinion that in such situations, your status as  
a director means that you "as a fiduciary . . . [have] a . . . property interest . . . in the  

subject matter in controversy" within the meaning of Canon 3(C)(1)(c). If that "property  
interest" "could be substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding," then Canon  
3(C)(1)(c) requires your recusal.” 
 

CJE Opinion No. 2001-5 

Recusal Mandated by Cannon 3 C is Nearly Identical to That Required By § 455  
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Canon 3 C of the American Bar Association's Code of Judicial Conduct as adopted and amended 

by the United States Judicial Conference is almost identical to section 455 except that, since 1975, the 

canon has eliminated the provision for waiving disqualification, so that even if the judge's impartiality is 

merely questionable, as contemplated by section 455(a), he is to step down in all cases. See Code of 

Judicial Conduct, Canon 3 C(1), 69 F.R.D. 273, 277 (1975). In addition, the canons state that they prevail 

over any less restrictive statutes. Id. at 273. 

“We note also that the American Bar Association Code of Judicial Conduct, consistent with Sec. 

455, prescribes that a judge "should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality 
might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where ... (c) he knows that 
he, individually or as a fiduciary, or his spouse or minor child residing in his household, has a 
financial interest." A.B.A. Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 3C(1)(c) (1986) (emphasis added).” 
 

Moody v. Simmons, 858 F.2d 137 at fn 6 (C.A.3, 1988). Cannon 3 (C) is consistent with and 

defined by federal court decisions over 28 U.S.C. § 455: 

“To obtain the public trust in the judiciary Judges are required to adhere to high standards of 
conduct. See generally CODE OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT. According to the chairman of the ABA 
committee which drafted the Code of Judicial Conduct, the Code was designed to protect public 
confidence in the integrity of Judges since "an independent and honorable judiciary is an 
indispensable condition of Justice in our society." Judicial Disqualification: Hearings on S. 1064 
Before the Subcomm. on Improvements in Judicial Machinery of the Senate Comm. on the 
Judiciary, 93d Cong., 1st Sess. 80 (1973). 

Canon 3 (C) (1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct provides in relevant part: "A Judge should 
disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned . . . ." 

CODE OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT Canon 3 (C) (1) (emphasis added). *fn6 The necessity for 
recusal in a case is premised on an objective standard. *fn7 Because Canon 3 (C) is incorporated 
into the federal judicial qualification statute, 28 U.S.C. § 455, see Appendix II, federal decisions 
interpreting the statute are instructive. *fn8 Thus, even before the recent decision of the Supreme 
Court in Liljeberg, supra, 100 L. Ed. 2d 855, it was clear from the federal circuit court opinions that 
a Judge must recuse from any case in which there is "an appearance of bias or prejudice sufficient to 
permit the average citizen reasonably to question Judge's impartiality." United States v. Heldt, 215 
U.S. App. D.C. 206, 239, 668 F.2d 1238, 1271 (1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 926, 102 S. Ct. 1971, 

72 L. Ed. 2d 440 (1982) (footnote and citations omitted). The objective standard is required in the 
interests of ensuring Justice in the individual case and maintaining public confidence in the integrity 
of the judicial process which "depends on a belief in the impersonality of judicial decision making." 
United States v. Nobel, 696 F.2d 231, 235 (3d Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 462 U.S. 1118, 77 L. Ed. 2d 
1348, 103 S. Ct. 3086 (1983). See generally, Note, Disqualification of Judges and Justices in the 
Federal Courts, 86 HARV. L. REV. 736, 746 (1973). Neither bias in fact nor actual impropriety is 
required to violate the Canon. Hall v. Small Business Admin., 695 F.2d 175, 178-79 (5th Cir. 1983) 
(federal disqualification statute "focuses on what is revealed to the parties and the public, as 
opposed to the existence in fact of any bias or prejudice cannot . . . extend to . . . the Judge's actual 

virtue").” 
 

Monroe W. Scott, Jr., Appellant v. United States, Appellee, 1989 DC 1, 559 A.2d 745 at ¶¶ 21-22 

(DC, 1989). 

Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Has Repeated The Liljeberg Violations 
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The factual scenario in Liljeberg, excepting its scale seems to duplicate the present conflict of interest. 

In Liljeberg the judge was a director of the university which was not a party: 

“Judge Collins found for Liljeberg and, over a strong dissent, the Court of Appeals affirmed. 

Approximately 10 months later, respondent learned that Judge Collins had been a member of the 
Board of Trustees of Loyola University while Liljeberg was negotiating with Loyola to purchase a 
parcel of land on which to construct a hospital. The success and benefit to Loyola of these 
negotiations turned, in large part, on Liljeberg prevailing in the litigation before Judge Collins.” 

 
Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp, 486 U.S. 847 at 850, 108 S.Ct. 2194, 100 L.Ed.2d 

855 (1987). The US Supreme Court did not find lack of the judge’s knowledge of the conflict to prevent the 

recusal requirement: 

“On remand, the District Court found that based on his attendance at Board meetings Judge Collins 
had actual knowledge of Loyola's interest in St. Jude in 1980 and 1981. The court further concluded, 
however, that Judge Collins had forgotten about Loyola's interest by the time the declaratory 
judgment suit came to trial in January 1982. On March 24, 1982, Judge Collins reviewed materials 
sent to him by the Board to prepare for an upcoming meeting. At that time—just a few days after he 
had filed his opinion finding for Liljeberg and still within the 10-day period allowed for filing a 

motion for a new trial—Judge Collins once again obtained actual knowledge of Loyola's interest in 
St. Jude.” 
 

Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp, 486 U.S. 847 at 851, 108 S.Ct. 2194, 100 

L.Ed.2d 855 (1987) The impermissible interest of the judge in Liljeberg is actually far smaller than 

that held by Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan as a fiduciary of St. Luke’s: 

“The importance of the project to the University is indicated by the fact that the 80-acre parcel, 
which represented only about 40% of the entire tract owned by the University, was sold for 
$6,694,000 and that the rezoning would substantially increase the value of the remaining 60%. The 
"negotiations with the developers of the St. Jude Hospital" were the subject of discussion and formal 
action by the trustees at a meeting attended by Judge Collins only a few days before the lawsuit was 
filed. App. 35. 
          Second, it is an unfortunate coincidence that although the judge regularly attended the 
meetings of the Board of Trustees, he was not present at the January 28, 1982, meeting, a week after 

the 2-day trial and while the case was still under advisement. The minutes of that meeting record 
that representatives of the University monitored the progress of the trial, but did not see fit to call to 
the judge's attention the obvious conflict of interest that resulted from having a University trustee 
preside over that trial. These minutes were mailed to Judge Collins on March 12, 1982. If the judge 
had opened that envelope when he received it on March 14 or 15, he would have been under a duty 
to recuse himself before he entered judgment on March 16. 

Third, it is remarkable—and quite inexcusable—that Judge Collins failed to recuse himself on 
March 24, 1982. A full disclosure at that time would have completely removed any basis for 
questioning the judge's impartiality and would have made it possible for a different judge to decide 

whether the interests—and appearance—of justice would have been served by a retrial. Another 2-
day evidentiary hearing would surely have been less burdensome and less embarrassing than the 
protracted proceedings that resulted from Judge Collins' nonrecusal and nondisclosure. Moreover, as 
the Court of Appeals correctly noted, Judge Collins' failure to disqualify himself on March 24, 1982, 
also constituted a violation of § 455(b)(4), which disqualifies a judge if he "knows that he, 
individually or as a fiduciary, . . . has a financial interest in the subject matter in controversy or in a 
party to the proceeding, or any other interest that could be substantially affected by the outcome of 
the proceeding." This separate violation of § 455 further compels the conclusion that vacatur was an 
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appropriate remedy; by his silence, Judge Collins deprived respondent of a basis for making a 
timely motion for a new trial and also deprived it of an issue on direct appeal. 

Fourth, when respondent filed its motion to vacate, Judge Collins gave three reasons for 
denying the motion,15 but still did not acknowledge that he had known about the University's 
interest both shortly before and shortly after the trial. Nor did he indicate any awareness of a duty to 

recuse himself in March 1982. 
          These facts create precisely the kind of appearance of impropriety that § 455(a) was intended 
to prevent. The violation is neither insubstantial nor excusable. Although Judge Collins did not 
know of his fiduciary interest in the litigation, he certainly should have known. In fact, his failure to 
stay informed of this fiduciary interest may well constitute a separate violation of § 455. See § 
455(c).” 

 
Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition Corp, 486 U.S. 847 at 865-868, 108 S.Ct. 2194, 100 

L.Ed.2d 855 (1987). 

Kansas Public Employees Retirement System, In re, 85 F.3d 1353 (C.A.8 (Mo.), 1996) 

distinguishes a judge’s ownership of stock and the employment of his daughter from the directorship in 

Liljeberg effectively ruling these two interests are less than the position on the board described in 

Liljeberg. Also the plaintiff has never delayed or used the conflict for strategic advantage. John K. 

Power MO Lic # 70448 fraudulently removed this action into this court and has not complied with 

discovery or the mediation order, exhibiting only a motive to delay. Kansas Public Employees 

Retirement System, In re, 85 F.3d 1353 (C.A.8 (Mo.), 1996) is inapplicable to this action. 

Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan Risks Aiding the Novation’s Enterprise  

Defendants’ counsel John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 fraudulently induced the Kansas District 

court to dismiss the plaintiff’s complaint in Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Novation LLC et al KS Dist. 

Court Case No.: 05-2299 and rule contradicting Lawlor v. National Screen Service Corp., 349 U.S. 322, 75 

S.Ct. 865, 99 L.Ed. 1122 (1955) on identical operative facts and even to sanction the plaintiff’s now 

dissolved company, Medical Supply Chain, Inc. John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 accomplished this by 

never addressing the controlling US Supreme Court case law the plaintiff’s antitrust complaint was based 

on and cited to in the plaintiff’s pleadings, knowing the trial court was relying on his firm Husch & 

Eppenberger, LLC’s prestigious reputation.  

The plaintiff was materially injured by the conflict of interest exploited by the defendants in 

Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General Electric Company, et al., Kansas Dist. Court case number 03-2324-

CM where US District Court Magistrate James P. O’Hara had a fiduciary interest in Shughart Thomson & 

Kilroy, the firm defending the then hospital supply cartel member US Bancorp Piper Jaffray which had an 
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officer on the Board of Directors of Novation LLC and had 70% of its venture capital funds invested in 

healthcare technology companies. Magistrate James P. O’Hara was an employee of the Kansas Attorney 

Discipline Office, then an eighteen year employee of Shughart Thomson & Kilroy (SKT) where he became 

a managing partner, hiring US Bancorp’s counsel Andrew DeMarea and becoming a shareholder of the 

SKT. The US Bancorp defendants relied on a common coordinated defense with the present General 

Electric defendants and are in privity.1 The two groups of defendants have coordinated their defenses of 

separate Tenth Circuit appeals.2 

The only defense of the defendants who have publicly admitted most of the conduct charged by 

the plaintiff in corporate press releases connected with the sale of securities and in Securities and Exchange 

Commission required disclosures was to have the plaintiff’s counsel repeatedly sanctioned and disbarred.3 

                                                
1 “404. The defendants US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper Jaffray 
Companies and Andrew S. Duff coordinated their defense of Medical Supply’s action for 

injunctive and declaratory relief with the coconspirators Jeffrey R. Immelt, GE, GHX, GE 

Healthcare, GE Capital and GE Transportation who inconceivably attached the Medical Supply 
complaint and order to their 12(b)6 motion to dismiss in Medical Supply’s separate action against 
Jeffrey R. Immelt, GE, GHX, GE Capital and GE Transportation. The former eighteen year 
Shughart Thomson & Kilroy shareholder acting as magistrate on the GE case denied Medical 
Supply discovery and the court did not even permit discovery when the dismissal attachments 
necessitated conversion of the GE motion to one for summary judgment.”  

 
Plaintiff’s Novation Complaint pg. 80 ¶ 404 (emphasis added) 

 
2 “405. On January 29, 2004, March 4, 2004, April 2, 2004 US Bancorp’s counsel, Nicholas A.J. 

Vlietstra and Piper Jaffray’s counsel Reed coordinated their appeal (10th C.C.A. 03-3342) 

with the GE defense. The GE defendants included the action against the US Bancorp defendants 
and Unknown Healthcare Provider as a related appellate case in (10th C.C.A. 04-3075) and used the 
US Bancorp order as a basis for a cross appeal (10th C.C.A. 04-3102) challenging the failure of the 

trial court to grant sanctions against Medical Supply.”  
 
Plaintiff’s Novation Complaint pg. 80-81 ¶ 405 (emphasis added) 

 
3 “406. The coconspirators UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque, Novation LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars did however renew their conscious commitment to a 

common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objective of keeping Medical Supply out of 

the market for hospital supplies by reviewing the case against US Bancorp and consulting with 

representatives for US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper 

Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. The cartel decided to rely on the continuing efforts to 
illegally influence the Kansas District Court and Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals to uphold the trial 

court’s erroneous ruling. The cartel also renewed their efforts to have Medical Supply’s sole counsel 
disbarred, knowing that an extensive search for counsel by Medical Supply had resulted in 100% of 
the contacted firms being conflicted out of opposing US Bancorp and actually effected a frenzy of 
disbarment attempts against Medical Supply’s counsel in the period from December 14, 2004 to 
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Conflicted court officials have been essential to accomplishing the defendants’ unlawful litigation 

strategy. The week after the plaintiff  filed Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Novation LLC et al W.D. Mo 

Case No. 05-0210, the defendants counsel called the court to inquire ex parte how the case could be filed in 

the Western District of Missouri by the plaintiff’s counsel Landrith. Shughart’s managing partner, Kansas 

Magistrate James P. O’Hara made the pretextual report used by the City of Topeka to file a second ethics 

complaint against Landrith in the representation of the African American James Bolden for arguing an 

unqualified entry of appearance by city officials through their counsel completed the Rule 4 process 

requirements under alternative Kansas state process requirements, an article by KS District Court law 

clerks asserting the same later appeared as a Kansas Bar Association Magazine cover story. Never the less, 

Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil, while sitting on the plaintiff’s action Medical Supply Chain, 

Inc. v. Novation LLC et al now Kansas Dist. Court case number 03-2324-KV transferred to her and Kansas 

Magistrate James P. O’Hara from Missouri even though she had recused herself from Landrith’s action to 

enjoin his state ethics prosecution, participated in an ex parte discussion with personnel and justices of the 

Kansas Supreme Court, disparaging Medical Supply’s counsel without his knowledge or opportunity to 

respond. Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil’s testimony was designed to cause Medical 

Supply’s counsel to be disbarred without due process. 

Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil then removed herself from Medical Supply Chain, 

Inc. v. General Electric Company, et al., Ks Dist case # 03-2324 on October 20, 2005 minutes before the 

Kansas Supreme Court justices heard Medical Supply’s counsel’s oral argument. A transcript of the hearing 

which was resultantly delayed gives light to these unusual events.  

 The petitioner’s case was then transferred to Kansas District Court Judge Carlos Murguia where he 

took no action for the many months until immediately after Medical Supply’s counsel was reciprocally 

disbarred by the Kansas District Court in In the Matter of the Disciplinary Proceedings Of Bret Landrith 

KS Dist. Court Case No. 05-1201-A without disclosing to Medical Supply’s counsel that Kansas District 

                                                                                                                                            
February 3rd, 2005, all originating from the cartel’s agents Shughart Thomson and Kilroy’s past and 
current share holders.”  

 
Plaintiff’s Complaint Novation pg. 81 ¶ 406 (emphasis added) 
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Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil had participated in ex parte testimony over Medical Supply’s counsel’s 

“incompetence”. The Kansas District Court, receiving the harsh dismissal and sanction order against both 

the plaintiff and his disbarred counsel secured by John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 in from Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. v. General Electric Company, et al., Ks Dist case # 03-2324 also refused to extend their 

decision until the Tenth Circuit had ruled on James Bolden’s appeal where the federal issues ruled 

erroneously on by the Kansas Supreme Court were being heard. The Tenth Circuit, a month after Landrith 

was disbarred, overturned Kansas District Court Judge Kathryn H. Vratil in Bolden v. City of Topeka, 441 

F.3d 1129. (10thCir.2006) which has now been favorably cited by the Sixth Circuit in Coles v. Granville 

Case No. 05-3342 (6th Cir. May 22, 2006). 

The complaints on which the plaintiff witnessed Landrith being disbarred were open conflicts of 

interest. The charged conduct was retribution for Landrith accurately describing the injuries to the his 

clients and his witnesses in pleadings on behalf of James Bolden and Bolden’s witness David Price. The 

naked purpose of the retribution was to discourage the plaintiff’s counsel from assisting in James Bolden 

obtaining relief for property taken from by the City of Topeka for a public purpose without compensation 

and from interfering in the retaliation against David Price through the sale of Price’s son in a fraudulent 

adoption as punishment for his protected speech against the City of Topeka. The complaint was made 

against Landrith by Judge G. Joseph Pierron who like Hon. Judge Gaitan, sat on the board of a non profit 

civic organiziation that in actuality was a business under Judicial Cannon 5. Judge G. Joseph Pierron was a 

director of Kansas’ largest commercial adoption agency, the Kansas Children Service League (KCSL). At 

the time of Price’s adoption appeal, the Kansas Supreme Court web site stated a Judge G. Joseph Pierron is 

a director of KCSL. Until Landrith’s disciplinary panel hearing in January of 2005, KCSL had a $33.6 

million adoption contract with the state. See “Foster care agency loses contract” Lawrence journal World, 

January 28, 2005. 

The Kansas Supreme Court opinion in In The Matter Of Bret D. Landrith Ks Sup Ct Case No. 05-

94333 on its face denies Landrith Due Process by rebuking the concept a judge sitting on a board of 

directors has a “fiduciary interest” an issue resolved by the US Supreme Court in Liljeberg v. Health 

Services Acquisition Corp, 486 U.S. 847, 108 S.Ct. 2194, 100 L.Ed.2d 855 (1987).  
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The Kansas Supreme Court has a strong current interest contrary to David’s Price’s advocacy for 

the election of judges. Hon. Justice Donald L. Allegrucci headed the court’s participation in a Judicial 

Council with Kansas State Senator John L. Vratil preparing a substitute reform of performance reporting in 

retention elections announced on December 26, 2005 to counter legislative efforts to change the selection 

process for judges resulting from“…Kansas Supreme Court orders overturning the death penalty and 

ordering the Legislature to increase school funding. Those rulings prompted some lawmakers to propose 

measures that would limit the court and require legislative input in the selection of justices.” The head of 

the Kansas Supreme Court panel hearing the respondent’s case, Hon. Justice Donald L. Allegrucci chaired 

the Judicial Council, but did not disclose his participation in it. See “Judicial panel suggests reviews”, 

Topeka Capital Journal December 26, 2005.  

The face of the disbarment of the plaintiff’s attorney expressly finds Landrith should be disbarred 

for his association with David Price and David price’s protected speech unrelated to Landrith’s 

representation of Price in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment’s protection of the rights to Free Speech, 

Association and Redress. Additionally the disbarment of Landrith is expressly for taking James Bolden’s 

action to federal court where the Tenth Circuit overturned the dismissal.  

However Hon. Judge Feranado J. Gaitan refused to grant the plaintiff’s counsel an evidentiary 

hearing, required under the Western Missouri District Court local rules in In the Matter of the Disciplinary 

Proceedings Of Bret Landrith. This reciprocal disbarment was necessary due to the defendants’ knowledge 

that John K. Power MO Lic # 70448 had fraudulently obtained the transfer Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. 

Novation LLC et al W.D. Mo Case No. 05-0210 to Kansas District court. 

The General Electric defendants in evidence contained in records submitted under seal in the 

Western District of Missouri case United States ex rel Michael W. Lynch v Seyfarth Shaw et al. W.D. Mo 

Case no. 06-0316-CV-W- SOW make use of a property interest held by a trial court judge to control the 

outcomes of cases in which they are a party. Hon. Judge Eugene R. Wedoff, the Chief Bankruptcy Judge of 

the Northern District of Illinois has revealed to the Federal Bureau of Investigation the defendants’ 

widespread use of offshore funds in the continuation of a “Greylord” racketeering enterprise effecting the 

outcomes of federal court cases in several states where the General Electric company’s interest in a cartel 

member’s monopoly interest is at stake. The evidence shows GE Capital, a defendant in this case and Alcoa 
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further General Electric’s interests by positioning trial judges to have a property interest in the outcome of 

any action threatening General Electric’s monopolies or actions to retaliate against witnesses who 

threatened General Electric’s monopolies.  

The relator Michael W. Lynch provided evidence to Western District US Attorney Bradley J. 

Schlozman discovered in April 2006 that a $39,000,000.00 bribery fund was being used to secure outcomes 

in court cases including the shift of unfunded pension obligations of McCook Metals, Inc. to the Pension 

Benefit Guaranty Board (PBGC) at the expense of US taxpayers despite the obligation of Alcoa Aluminum 

financed by General Electric, pursuant to Alcoa’s acquisition of Reynolds Metals, under ERISA law. 

The Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan is a Witness 

 

 Discovery has not yet started for the plaintiff’s action against Novation LLC, a corporation 

headquartered in Texas and with no office in Missouri or Kansas. St. Luke’s as a VHA member hospital 

and owner of Novation which has also signed term long term anticompetitive monopolizing St. Luke’ off 

line hospital supply purchasing through Novation and St. Luke’ web based purchasing through Neoforma, 

Inc. (now owned by the GE defendants’ GHX, LLC with money from the defendant GE Capital ) identified 

in the present lawsuit complaint, will be an important source of witnesses and discoverable documents for 

the plaintiff.  Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan’s position on the board of directors of St. Luke’s controlling 

the VHA and Novation defendants in the related action by the plaintiff where the facts of the complaint 

aver the present GE Defendants broke this action’s subject contract to further an agreement to restrain trade 

by the monopolization of hospital supplies as members of a cartel places the judge in the position of being a 

likely witness in the Novation case and in having personal knowledge over facts related to the present 

contract action. 

Price Bros. Co. v. Philadelphia Gear Corp., 629 F.2d 444 (6th Cir.1980), the court applied 

Fed.R.Evid. 605 in considering the conduct of a judge in a bench trial. Price Bros. was an action for breach 

of contract and warranties concerning a pipe-wrapping machine manufactured by Price Brothers Company. 

The judge's law clerk visited Price Brothers' plant, observed Price Brothers' malfunctioning pipe-wrapping 

machine, and, apparently, reported to the judge concerning the clerk's observations at the plant. The appeals 

court recognized the judicial duty to avoid off-the-record contacts that might be influential in the outcome 

of a bench trial and concluded: 
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      “In a case analogous to the one before us, the Fifth Circuit reversed a jury verdict for the 
plaintiff where the trial court permitted its law clerk to testify to what he saw at a curiosity-inspired 
private view of the scene of a slip-and-fall injury. Kennedy v. Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Co., 551 
F.2d 593 (5th Cir.1977).... The trial judge repeatedly cautioned the jury not to attach any special 
significance to his law clerk's testimony. The Court of Appeals, nevertheless, held that it was 

required to vacate the judgment in the exercise of its supervisory power.... Reasoning that the finder 
of fact must be " 'free from external causes tending to disturb the exercise of deliberate and unbiased 
judgment,' " and that the courts must not tolerate " 'any ground of suspicion that the administration 
of justice has been interfered with,' " quoting Mattox v. United States, 146 U.S. 140, 149, 13 S.Ct. 
50, 53, 36 L.Ed. 917 (1892), the appeals court concluded that the potential for prejudice resulting 
from the identification of the witness with the trial court was so great that the verdict could not be 
permitted to stand.... 
        .... 

        ... The problem attendant to a judge having personal knowledge of the facts is that he may 
thereby be transformed into a witness for one party. Where the trial is to a jury, explicit rules 
provide some protection. If a judge is to preside, he may not testify. Rule 605, Fed.R.Evid. ... A rule 
that merely prohibits a presiding judge from testifying in open court, however, does not insure that 
the fact finder will be "free from external causes tending to disturb the exercise of deliberate and 
unbiased judgment," [citation omitted], where the trial is to the bench. Whether, in a bench trial, a 
judge can avoid an involvement destructive of impartiality where he has personal knowledge of 
material facts in dispute is a question that cannot be answered satisfactorily, see Advisory 
Committee's Notes, Rule 605, Fed.R.Evid., and, therefore, a judge should recuse himself in such 

circumstances.” [Citation omitted.] [ emphasis added] 
 
        629 F.2d at 446-47. 

 Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan’s position as a W.D. of Missouri judge on the board of directors of 

St. Luke’s also places him in the overlapping witness zones of the related claims of the State of Missouri 

for Medicaid fraud. The unusual maneuvering of this case through the fraudulent removal on facially 

altered and insufficient documentation of federal jurisdiction  and subsequent ex parte orders before the 

plaintiff had even been served is the conduct of obstruction of justice in the State of Missouri’s claims by 

the defendants’ attorney John K. Power in his role as an agent an attorney of VHA and Novation LLC, the 

actors causing the described Medicaid fraud in Missouri.  

CONCLUSION 

The ex parte communications poisoning the plaintiff’s action in Kansas and Missouri federal 

district courts, causing a pre existing bias in Patrick Fisher the former Clerk of the Tenth Circuit and 

leading to the shocking sanctioning of the plaintiff by the Tenth Circuit in decisions controverting express 

language of Congress in the USA PATRIOT Act and controlling Tenth Circuit case law, and directly 

causing the disbarment of the plaintiff’s counsel on the pre text of harming the African American James 

Bolden in a civil rights action where the Kansas District Judge Kathryn H. Vratil was overturned after her 

undisclosed ex parte communications depriving the plaintiff’s counsel of Due Process in defending his 
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license to practice law,  has all allowed the Sherman Act prohibited monopolization of hospital supplies in 

the American market to go unchecked. In fact, this open prejudice denying the plaintiff a fair trial has 

allowed the cartel to further consolidate the American market and to monopolize the hospital supply market 

of the United Kingdom.  

The danger that Hon. Judge Fernado J. Gaitan as a director of the hospital member of the related 

action’s defendant VHA and controlling the related action’s defendant Novation, LLC is himself prejudiced 

by his first hand knowledge of the financial condition of a Novation contract hospital or by his fiduciary 

interest as a controlling officer over Novation LLC is far too great and in excess of US Supreme Court’s 

Liljeberg prohibitions on what are operatively the same facts.  

The plaintiff’s responsibilities are far too great where thousands of Americans are dying each year 

as a result of Novation LLC’s Sherman Act prohibited artificial inflation of healthcare costs4, jobs are being 

lost and even the nation’s auto plants are being shut down over healthcare cost increases.5  As the sole 

efficient enforcer6 party outside of the coercive anticompetitive Novation contracts and Novation LLC’s 

retaliatory enforcement documented against hospitals and suppliers, the plaintiff is saddled with a 

superhuman duty even without having to confront prohibited bias. However, the plaintiff deprived of 

counsel through Hon. Judge Fernado J. Gaitan’s own reciprocal disbarment of Bret D. Landrith and now 

                                                
4
 Medical Supply Chain, Inc. (now Samuel Lipari) v. Novation, et al, :  

“86. The rise in healthcare costs of which hospital supply inflation is a significant contributing factor  
led to a reported 18,000 deaths a year in the USA resulting from 40 million Americans being uninsured in  
2001. See “Study Blames 18,000 deaths in USA on Lack of Insurance”, USA Today, May 23, 2002.  
87. In 2002, the number of uninsured increased to 43.6 million Americans and without decreases in  
the mortality rates of untreated illnesses or observed improvements in public health systems, the number of  

deaths resulting from the lack of affordable health insurance was 19,962.  
88. The following year, 2003, the number of uninsured Americans increased to 45 million, resulting in  
an expected 20,603 deaths resulting from the lack of affordable health insurance.  
89. During the period of time in which Medical Supply has been foreclosed from competing in the  
market for healthcare supplies as a result of the actions of the defendants, at least 41, 206 Americans have  
died as a result of the increasing cost of hospitalization and medical care of which artificially inflated  
hospital supply costs are a significant contributing factor. “ Id, Complaint ¶¶ 86-89 
 
5 Bush, Automakers Talk Health Care, Trade by Ken Thomas, AP Nov 15, 2006  

6 “…the court should determine whether the plaintiff is an efficient enforcer of the antitrust laws, which 

requires some analysis of the directness or remoteness of the plaintiff's injury. This two-pronged approach 

was endorsed by the Supreme Court when it stated that "[a] showing of antitrust injury is necessary, but not 

always sufficient, to establish standing under Sec. 4, because a party may have suffered antitrust injury but 

may not be a proper plaintiff under Sec. 4 for other reasons." Cargill, 479 U.S. at 110 n. 5, 107 S.Ct. at 489 

n. 5. “Todorov v. DCH Healthcare Auth., 921 F.2d 1438 at 1449 (11th Cir. 1991), 
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the plaintiff is a private attorney general having to act pro se to prosecute Novation, LLC. Even where the 

two senior Assistant US Attorney’s connected to the US Justice Department’s investigation7 of Novation 

LLC for bribery and kickbacks, Thelma Quince Colbert of Texas and Shannon Ross of Kansas were found 

dead shortly after subpoenas were issued for Novation, LLC. 

As the plaintiff forewarned the court, the Missouri state interest and public concern over forced 

cuts in state Medicaid spending was so great that this Medical Supply Chain litigation and its important 

policy issues ( rarely covered in any media due to the repeated prejudiced federal rulings ) is the result of 

the plaintiff’s effort to protect Missouri and the federal government from the uncompetitive electronic 

marketplace monopolized by VHA’s Novation LLC in combination with the GE defendants’ GHX, LLC. 

The voters, being deprived of information about the evidence and deprived of having the Congress’s 

antitrust policy vindicated in federal courts, threw out Missouri Republican Senator Jim Talent and 

replaced him with Democrat Claire McCaskill, thinking more taxes are needed to meet the state’s 

responsibility of caring for its disadvantaged citizens. See  St. Louis Post-Dispatch: Senate race tied to state 

issues by Jo Mannies, St. Louis Post-Dispatch “Missouri voters say they're willing to spend more tax 

dollars to restore Medicaid coverage to 90,000 residents…” The head of the US Senate Antitrust 

Subcommittee Senator DeWine has himself been removed from office over the general outrage against 

government corruption. 

Given his precarious circumstances and the gigantic public interest at stake, the plaintiff could not 

ignore the fraudulent removal of his state contract based claims to federal court, Hon. Judge Fernado J. 

Gaitan’s selective enforcement of professional ethics against his counsel where the plaintiff witnessed first 

hand the State of Kansas breaking every ethical rule and several criminal laws in its prosecution of and 

adjudication of his counsel’s disbarment for protected speech while the record in this action clearly 

documents the defendants’ attorney has repeatedly committed fraud on this court without even sanction or 

censure. Neither can the plaintiff ignore the failure of this court to hold a hearing or rule on the plaintiff’s 

emergency remand motion filed DATE Finally, the plaintiff cannot ignore that this same counsel for the 

defendants has been discovered to be Hon. Judge Fernado J. Gaitan’s fiduciary’s law firm counsel and law 

                                                
7
 “Wide U.S. Inquiry Into Purchasing for Health Care,” by Mary Williams Walsh NY Times, August 21, 

2004. 
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firm Husch & Eppenberger, LLC in the plaintiff’s related action against Novation LLC and the members of 

VHA. 

Whereas for the above mentioned reasons, the plaintiff who has not forfeited his right to remand 

this action back to state court now respectfully requests that the judge hearing this matter recuse himself. 

Respectfully submitted, 

_______________________________ 
     Samuel K. Lipari Pro se 

 

 

Certificate of Service 

 
This is to certify that a copy of the foregoing notice was mailed postage pre-paid along with a 

copy of the Proposed Order, this 20
th

 day of November, 2006, to the following: 

 

John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One  

Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas City, MO   

64105-2122 

 

_______________________________________ 

Samuel K. Lipari 

297 NE Bayview  

Lee's Summit, 816-365-1306 

saml@medicalsupplychain.com 

Pro se 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

WESTERN DIVISION

SAMUEL K. LIPARI, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. )  No. 06-0573-CV-W-FJG
)

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, et al., )
)

Defendants. )

ORDER

Currently pending before the Court are plaintiff’s Motions to Remand (Docs. # 4,

6) and plaintiff’s Motion for a Hearing (Doc. # 8), plaintiff’s Motion to Supplement the

Record (Doc. # 14) and plaintiff’s Motion for Recusal (Doc. # 24).

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff filed his petition in state court on March 22, 2006.  Plaintiff named five

defendants in his petition: General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business

Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Global Signaling, L.L.C.,

Heartland Financial and Carpets ‘n More.  The GE defendants are all out of state

residents.  Both Heartland Financial and Carpets ‘n More are Missouri residents. 

Plaintiff is also a citizen of the state of Missouri.  On April 4, 2006, plaintiff served GE,

GE Capital and Heartland Financial.  On April 5, 2006, plaintiff served GE

Transportation.  On April 27, 2006, plaintiff attempted to serve Carpets ‘n More, but the

summons was returned, non est, apparently because there was no answer.  

On May 4, 2006, both the GE defendants and Heartland Financial filed motions

to dismiss.  On May 25, 2006, the state court granted Heartland Financial’s motion to

dismiss and denied the GE defendants’ motions to dismiss.  The GE defendants state

Case 4:06-cv-00573-FJG     Document 29     Filed 11/29/2006     Page 1 of 5 

1091 Supp. Apdx. 24



2

that plaintiff on July 5, 2006 set a Case Scheduling Order without serving Carpets ‘n

More, and it became apparent to defendants on that date that plaintiff did not intend to

pursue his claims against Carpets ‘n More. The GE defendants removed the action to

federal court on July 17, 2006.  On July 19, 2006, plaintiff filed a motion to remand.  

In their Suggestions in Opposition to the Motion to Remand, the GE defendants

state that “[a]lthough there is no case directly on point, the Case Management

Scheduling Order should constitute ‘other paper’ because it constitutes an act by

plaintiff which gives the defendants notice of changed circumstances which now support

federal jurisdiction.”  (Suggestions in Opposition to Motion to Remand, p. 3). The

defendants state that Case Management Order sets forth a trial date, mediation date,

deadlines for witness and exhibit lists, etc.  They argue that all of these dates were set

without the resident defendant Carpet ‘n More’s ability to participate.  Thus, given the

plaintiff’s desire to go forward without Carpets ‘n More, it is now clear that the plaintiff no

longer intends to include Carpets ‘n More in this proceeding.

Plaintiff argues the case should be remanded because the removal was untimely. 

Plaintiff states that the removal is untimely because the summons issued to Carpets ‘n

More expired thirty days after it was issued and plaintiff did not seek to renew the

summons against this party.  The plaintiff also argues that the defendants have waived

their right to remove by actively participating in the state court action. 

II. STANDARD

It is the defendant’s burden to prove that removal is proper and that all
prerequisites are satisfied.  See generally, Hatridge v. Aetna Cas. & Sur.
Co., 415 F.2d 809, 814 (8th  Cir. 1969).  The removal statute is to be
narrowly construed, and any doubt about the propriety of removal is
resolved in favor of state court jurisdiction.  Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v.
Sheets, 313 U.S. 100, 108-09 (1941);  In re Business Men’s Assur. Co. of
America, 992 F.2d 181, 183 (8th Cir. 1993).  Any technical defect in the
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removal procedure requires a remand unless the plaintiff fails to move for
a remand within thirty days of removal.  In re Amoco Petroleum Additives,
Co., 964 F.2d 706, 708 (7th Cir. 1992); Carroll v. Gold Medal of
Tennessee, Inc., 869 F.Supp. 745, 746 (E.D.Mo. 1994).

Williams v. Safeco Insur. Co. of America, 74 F.Supp.2d 925, 928 (W.D.Mo. 1999). 

“Since removal to federal court is a statutory right, and not one granted under the

Constitution, removal jurisdiction must be narrowly construed in favor of the non-

removing party.”  Jeffrey Lake Development Inc. v. Central Nebraska Public Power &

Irrigation Dist., No. 7:05CV5013, 2005 WL 2563043, *2 (D.Neb. Oct. 11, 2005), citing

Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v. Sheets, 313 U.S. 100,107-09 (1941).

III. DISCUSSION

The defendants argue that although this case was not initially removable, it

became so when the plaintiff set a Case Management Order on July 5, 2006.  28 U.S.C.

§ 1446 (b) states in part:

     If the case stated by the initial pleading is not removable, a notice of
removal may be filed within thirty days after receipt by the defendant,
through service or otherwise, of a copy of an amended pleading, motion,
order or other paper from which it may first be ascertained that the case is
one which is or has become removable, except that a case may not be
removed on the basis of jurisdiction conferred by section 1332 of this title
more than 1 year after commencement of the action.  

Defendants state that it was from this Case Management Order that they first

realized that the plaintiff did not intend to pursue his claims against Carpets ‘n More.

In Power v. Norfolk & Western Railway Co., 778 F.Supp. 468 (E.D.Mo. 1991), the Court

stated:

     The Supreme Court developed the standard “voluntary-involuntary”
rule for evaluating removability in Powers v. Chesapeake & Ohio Ry., 169
U.S. 92, 99-101, 18 S.Ct. 264, 266-67, 42 L.Ed. 673 (1898).  The rule
requires that a case remain in state court unless a “voluntary” act by the
plaintiff brings about such a change in circumstances that makes the suit
removable.  
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Id. at 469.  The Court also observed that others courts have drawn distinctions between

voluntary and involuntary acts.

Removal has been permitted if the plaintiff amends the complaint to allege
the federal jurisdiction amount in controversy . . . or plaintiff dismisses
claims against a non-diverse defendant . . . A mutual settlement between
the plaintiff and the non-diverse defendant can make a case ripe for
removal. . . . However, dismissal of a non-diverse defendant after granting
a directed verdict (in his/her favor) or granting a summary judgment
motion in favor of the non-diverse defendant (thereby dismissing claims
against him/her) is not considered voluntary as to the plaintiff and
therefore, does not make the cause removable.

Id. at 469-70 (internal citations omitted).

In Stamm v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 129 F.Supp. 719 (W.D.Mo.

1955), the Court considered a case with very similar facts to the instant case. In that

case, the summons issued for defendant Tatum, a Missouri resident, was returned

unserved and no alias summons was issued for him and he was never served with

process.  The defendants in that case removed the case arguing that the plaintiff had

abandoned his action against Tatum.  The Court in that case stated:

     It is quite well-settled that if the plaintiff voluntarily dismisses,
discontinues, or in any way abandons, the action as to the resident joint
defendant, the cause then becomes removable, and may, upon prompt
action, be removed by the nonresident defendants who have been served.
. . . But what has this plaintiff done that can be said to amount to a
voluntary dismissal, abandonment, or discontinuance, of the action as to
the defendant, Tatum?  All that petitioning defendants point to is that,
since the non est return, made January 28, 1953, on the summons issued
for defendant Tatum, plaintiff had not, prior to the removal on March 3,
1955, sued out an alias summons for him.  I have not been able to find a
case holding that this shows, and I do not believe it shows, a voluntary
dismissal, abandonment, or other discontinuance, of the action by the
plaintiff as to the defendant, Tatum, and, hence, it cannot be said that
plaintiff, up to the time of this removal, had voluntarily dismissed,
abandoned, or discontinued, the action as to the defendant Tatum. 

Id. at 721 (internal citations omitted).  

Plaintiff in his Motion for Remand states that he did not file any motion or take
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any affirmative action to request that the state court issue a Case Management Order. 

Rather, plaintiff states that this Order was entered by the state court sua sponte.  The

Court agrees that the issuance of the Case Management Order was not a voluntary

action on plaintiff’s part, but rather an action taken independently by the Court.  The

Court in Aydell v. Sterns, 677 F.Supp. 877 (M.D.La. 1988) stated, “[t]he ‘voluntary-

involuntary rule’ is an outgrowth of the generally accepted proposition that plaintiff

controls the choice of forum throughout the proceedings. . . . Where plaintiff by his

voluntary act has definitely indicated his intention to discontinue the action as to all non-

diverse defendants, the case then becomes removable.” Id. at 880 (internal citation

omitted).  The Court does not find that plaintiff took any action which indicated his

intention to discontinue the action against the nondiverse defendants.  Therefore, the

Court finds that this case is not removable. The Court hereby REMANDS this case to

the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Missouri.  The Clerk of the Court is directed to mail

a certified copy of this Order to the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Jackson County,

Missouri as required by 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c).   

IV. CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, the Court hereby GRANTS plaintiff’s Motion to Remand (Docs. No.

4,6); GRANTS plaintiff’s Motion to Supplement the Record (Doc. # 14); DENIES

plaintiff’s Motion for a Hearing (Doc. # 8) and DENIES as MOOT plaintiff’s Motion for

Recusal (Doc. # 24).  

   

Date: November 29, 2006      S/ FERNANDO J. GAITAN, JR. 
Kansas City, Missouri Fernando J. Gaitan, Jr.

United States District Judge
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